

BRCA2 related cancer, haploinsufficiency and telomere dysfunction

Birna Þorvaldsdóttir

Thesis for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Supervisor:

Jórunn Erla Eyfjörð

Doctoral committee:

Stefán Þórarinn Sigurðsson Sigríður Klara Böðvarsdóttir Jón Jóhannes Jónsson Elizabeth Blackburn

November 2019



UNIVERSITY OF ICELAND SCHOOL OF HEALTH SCIENCES

FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Stakstæð áhrif og telomere-gallar í BRCA2tengdum krabbameinum

Birna Þorvaldsdóttir

Ritgerð til doktorsgráðu

Umsjónarkennari: Jórunn Erla Eyfjörð

Meðleiðbeinandi:

Stefán Þórarinn Sigurðsson

Doktorsnefnd: Sigríður Klara Böðvarsdóttir Jón Jóhannes Jónsson Elizabeth Blackburn

Nóvember 2019



UNIVERSITY OF ICELAND SCHOOL OF HEALTH SCIENCES

FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Thesis for a doctoral degree at the University of Iceland. All right reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form without the prior permission of the copyright holder.

© Birna Þorvaldsdóttir 2019

ISBN 978-9935-9476-8-0

Printing by Háskólaprent.

Reykjavik, Iceland 2019

Ágrip

Kímlínustökkbreytingar í *BRCA1* og *BRCA2* genum auka verulega líkurnar á brjósta- og eggjastokkakrabbameini. Landnemastökkbreytingin *BRCA2*^{999del5} (*BRCA2*^{c.767_771delCAAAT}) er algengust á Íslandi og skýrir nánast öll tilfelli brjósta- og eggjastokkakrabbameina sem tengjast *BRCA2* stökkbreytingum. Stökkbreytingin veldur óvirkri próteinafurð. BRCA2 próteinið gegnir lykilhlutverki við endurröðunarviðgerð á tvíþátta brotum í DNA og ver einnig eftirmyndunarkvíslar sem hafa stöðvast fyrir niðurbroti af núkleösum. Tap á BRCA2 leiðir til mikilla litningagalla sem einkennir krabbamein tengd *BRCA* stökkbreytingum. BRCA2 er því mikilvægt fyrir viðhald á stöðugleika erfðamengisins.

BRCA genin eru flokkuð sem æxlisbæligen og almennt er gert ráð fyrir því að tap á villigerðarsamsætunni eigi sér stað í æxlum. Hins vegar hefur verið sýnt fram á að í hluta krabbameina í BRCA arfberum verður ekki tap á villigerðarsamsætunni. Þetta er sérstaklega áberandi í brjóstakrabbameini í konum þar sem villigerðarsamsætan er varðveitt í um 50% tilfella í BRCA2 arfberum, sem gefur til kynna að um stakstæð áhrif BRCA2 sé að ræða.

Gallar á telomerum finnast í æxlum og frumulínum úr *BRCA2* arfberum. Telomerar, sem vernda litningaenda, gætu verið viðkvæmari fyrir BRCA2 vöntun en aðrir hlutar erfðamengisins vegna erfiðleika við eftirmyndun á endurteknum röðum sem einkenna þá. Markmið fyrsta hluta verkefnisins var að mæla telomera-lengd og meta telomera-galla hjá arfberum *BRCA2*^{999del5} stökkbreytingarinnar til að kanna hvort hægt væri að nota mælingar á telomerum til að spá fyrir um brjóstakrabbameinsáhættu.

Telomera-lengd var mæld með multiplex monochrome qPCR aðferð í blóðsýnum úr vel skilgreindum rannsóknarhópi sem samanstóð af *BRCA2* arfberum, brjóstakrabbameinstilfellum og viðmiðunarhópi. Enginn munur var á telomera-lengd milli *BRCA2* arfbera og þeirra sem ekki eru arfberar en styttri telomera-lengd var tengd við aukna brjóstakrabbameinsáhættu innan arfberahópsins. Þessi niðurstaða var fengin með því að skoða aðeins þær konur sem gefið höfðu blóðsýni fyrir brjóstakrabbameinsgreiningu og undirstrikar mikilvægi forspárrannsókna í þessu samhengi.

Telomera-lengd var einnig mæld í paraffin-steyptum sýnum úr eðlilegum brjóstavef með Q-FISH aðferð. Merki um telomere-galla voru fengin með því

að samlita fyrir telomerum og próteininu 53BP1 sem merkir tvíþátta DNA brot. Kirtilþekjufrumur hafa stystu telomere-lengd og mestu DNA skemmdir af frumugerðum í eðlilegum brjóstavef. Líkt og í blóðsýnum mældist enginn marktækur munur á lengd telomera í eðlilegum brjóstavef milli *BRCA2* arfbera og þeirra sem ekki eru arfberar. Hins vegar var fylgni á milli styttri telomera-lengdar og lægri greiningaraldurs brjóstakrabbameins innan arfberahópsins. Niðurstöður úr blóði og brjóstavef benda því til þess að styttri telomera-lengd auki brjóstakrabbameinsáhættu hjá *BRCA2* arfberum en stuttir telomerar geta bent til galla í viðhaldi telomera.

Til að rannsaka frekar stakstæð áhrif BRCA2 hefur verið búið til frumulínumódel með CRISPR/Cas9 erfðatækni sem líkir eftir *BRCA2*^{999del5} stökkbreytingunni. Markmiðið er að skilgreina betur áhrif arfblendinnar stökkbreytingar og arfhreinnar stökkbreytingar á hæfni frumna í viðgerð tvíþátta brota, stöðgun stöðvaðra eftirmyndunarkvísla og viðhald telomera.

Í síðasta hluta verkefnisins voru sýni úr brjóstakrabbameinum í körlum og eggjastokkakrabbameinum skimuð með Sanger raðgreiningu fyrir þremur algengustu stökkbreytingunum sem tengiast brióstaoq BRCA2999del5 BRCA1^{G5193A} eggjastokkakrabbameini í íslenska þýðinu; BRIP1^{2040_2041insTT} Af beim karlmönnum hafa sem greinst með BRCA2999del5 brjóstakrabbamein á Íslandi frá 1955-2018 bera 32% stökkbreytinguna. Tap á arfblendni hafði átt sér stað í 88% æxla. Af þeim konum sem greindust með eggjastokka-, eggjaleiðaraeða lífhimnukrabbamein á árunum 1999-2013 á Íslandi voru 7.3% BRCA2999del5 arfberar, 1.8% BRCA1^{G5193A} arfberar og 4.5% báru BRIP1^{2040_2041insTT} stökkbreytinguna. Tap á arfblendni þessara gena hafði átt sér stað í miklum meirihluta tilfella eða 90.5% af BRCA2, 100% af BRCA1 og 84.6% af BRIP1 æxlum. Greining á brjóstakrabbameinum í konum með sömu aðferð sýndi tap á arfblendni í 56.7% æxla frá BRCA2999del5 arfberum og 100% æxla frá BRCA1^{G5193A} arfberum.

Lykilorð:

BRCA2, Stakstæð áhrif, Telomerar, DNA viðgerð, Brjóstakrabbamein

Abstract

Germline mutations in the breast cancer susceptibility genes *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* confer high risk of developing breast and ovarian cancer. The *BRCA2*^{999del5} (*BRCA2*^{c.767_771delCAAAT}) founder mutation is responsible for almost all BRCA2-related breast and ovarian cancers in the Icelandic population. It leads to a prematurely truncated and non-functional protein product. The BRCA2 protein has a role in homologous recombination repair of DNA double strand breaks and protection of stalled replication forks from nuclease degradation. Loss of BRCA2 function leads to gross chromosomal abnormalities, characteristic of many BRCA-related tumors. BRCA2 is therefore important for maintaining genomic stability.

The *BRCA* genes are considered classical tumor suppressor genes and in mutation carriers, loss of the wild-type allele in tumors is generally assumed. However, a subset of tumors from *BRCA* mutation carriers exhibit retention of the wild-type allele. This is especially evident in the case of female breast cancer where loss of heterozygosity (LOH) is only observed ~50% of tumors from *BRCA2* mutation carriers, suggesting BRCA2 haploinsufficiency.

Tumors and cell lines from *BRCA2* mutation carriers have been shown to have telomere abnormalities. Telomeres, the nucleoprotein structures at the end of linear chromosomes, may be more sensitive to BRCA2 deficiencies than the rest of the genome due to replication problems at highly repetitive telomere sequences. In the first part of this project, the aim was to study telomere length and telomere dysfunction in mutation carriers of the Icelandic *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation as a possible indicator of BRCA2 haploinsufficiency and/or predictor of breast cancer risk.

Telomere length was measured using a multiplex monochrome qPCR method on blood samples from a well-defined cohort of female *BRCA2* mutation carriers, sporadic breast cancer cases and controls. Telomere length did not differ between *BRCA2* mutation carriers and non-carriers, however shorter telomere length was associated with increased risk of developing breast cancer in the mutation carrier group. This observation was made by exclusively evaluating samples acquired before breast cancer diagnosis and underscores the importance of study design, specifically the availability of samples prior to diagnosis.

Additionally, telomere length was measured in normal FFPE female breast tissue samples using Q-FISH and telomere dysfunction induced foci identified with immunofluorescent co-staining of 53BP1, a marker of DNA double strand breaks. The luminal epithelial cell layer of the breast was shown to have the shortest telomere length and highest levels of DNA double strand breaks. Similar to results from blood samples, the average telomere length in normal breast tissue did not differ between *BRCA2* mutation carriers and non-carriers. Within the *BRCA2* mutation carrier group, short telomere length however correlated with earlier age at breast cancer diagnosis. Collectively, these results indicate that short telomere length is a modifier of breast cancer risk in *BRCA2* mutation carriers which may be indicative of dysfunctional telomere maintenance and BRCA2 haploinsufficiency.

To further elucidate BRCA2 haploinsufficiency at a functional level, an isogenic cell line model mimicking the *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation was established using the CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing technology. The aim is to functionally characterize the effect of the mutation in a heterozygous and homozygous state on DNA double strand break efficiency, problems at stalled replication forks and dysfunctional telomere maintenance.

In the final part of this project, male breast tumors and ovarian tumors were screened for the three most prevalent mutations linked to breast and ovarian cancer in the Icelandic population; $BRCA2^{999del/5}$, $BRCA1^{G5193A}$, $BRIP1^{2040_2041insTT}$, using targeted Sanger sequencing. The $BRCA2^{999del/5}$ mutation is found in 32% of male breast cancer patients in Iceland diagnosed from 1955-2018. Locus specific loss of heterozygosity of the wild type BRCA2 allele was present in 88% of tumors. In a collective cohort of ovarian, fallopian tube and peritoneal tumors diagnosed from 1999-2013 in Iceland, the $BRCA2^{999del/5}$ mutation was detected in 7.3% of cases, the $BRCA1^{G5193A}$ mutation in 1.8% of cases and the $BRIP1^{2040_2041insTT}$ mutation in 4.5% of cases. Locus specific LOH was present in majority of cases or 90.5% for BRCA2, 100% of BRCA1 and 84.6% of BRIP1 tumors. Re-analysis using the same method on female breast cancer samples showed locus specific LOH in 56.7% of tumors from $BRCA2^{999del/5}$ mutation carriers.

Keywords:

BRCA2, Haploinsufficiency, Telomeres, DNA repair, Breast Cancer

Acknowledgements

There are many talented people you get to meet while working on a graduate project.

First, I would like to thank my supervisor, professor Jórunn E. Eyfjörð for the great guidance and encouragement throughout this whole process. Your experience, perspective and assertiveness have been invaluable. I cherish both our professional and personal relationship.

Dr. Stefán Þ. Sigurðsson for the support and for entrusting me with exciting projects, providing me with opportunities to develop as an independent scientist. I've thoroughly enjoyed our many interesting conversations throughout the years and look forward to go into depth on the research we've laid the foundations for.

I had the great opportunity to visit and work in Elizabeth H. Blackburn's laboratory at UCSF. I would like to thank Dr. Morgan E. Diolaiti and especially Dr. Beth Cimini-Falliano for the teaching, the help and our friendship and Dr. Blackburn for the warm welcome.

Sigríður Klara Böðvarsdóttir for always being interested, open to discuss science and for the valuable input on the manuscript and this thesis. Ólafur A. Stefánsson for his help with database work and statistics early on in the project.

To Jón G. Jónasson, Anna M. Jónsdóttir and many others at the department of Pathology at Landspítali University Hospital. Guðríður H. Ólafsdóttir and others at the Icelandic Cancer Registry. I would also like to thank the staff at the Cytogenetics Department at Landspítali for being welcoming and the assistance, even though the work didn't end up in this thesis. Ásgeir Sigurðsson and the staff at DeCODE Genetics for invaluable help with Sanger sequencing.

I would like to thank all past and current fellow students and co-workers at the Cancer Research Laboratory and the Biomedical Center for assistance and scientific input through the years and the many friendships. Especially I would like to acknowledge Margrét Aradóttir and Dr. Þorkell Guðjónsson with whom I collaborated on parts of this PhD project, as well as Dr. Kritika Kirty and Dr. Sara Sigurbjörnsdóttir for being so helpful and open to discuss experiments. Moreover, I have also had the fortune to work with many fellow students and accomplished scientists on boards and committees as well as in teaching, which have been experiences just as valuable as the research itself.

My family deserves my deepest gratitude. My parents, Þorvaldur and Guðrún, who have been so supportive and shown interest in my research; for always being there to listen, talk to and helping me focus on what is really important. My brother Bragi, for always being on a contagious cloud of happiness. To other friends and family who have supported me, and tolerated me, throughout this entire process.

But most of all my partner Gunnar. I'm so incredibly thankful for your patience, unwavering support and unconditional belief in me. Thank you for encouraging me to seize the day and make the most of opportunities, even if it means time apart. Thank you for the scientific input, the reading and editing. I could not have done this without you.

This project received grant support from the University of Iceland, RANNIS, The Icelandic Cancer Society, The Leifur Eiriksson Foundation and Göngum saman. I would especially like to thank Göngum saman for their touching contribution, bringing together breast cancer patients, the public and researchers, reminding us what it's all about.

Contents

Contents	
Ágrip	iii
Abstract	v
Acknowledgements	.vii
Contents	ix
List of abbreviations	xiii
List of figures	.xv
List of tables	vii
List of original papers	xix
Declaration of contribution	.xx
1 Introduction	1
1 1 Breast Gland Morphology	1
1.2 Female Breast Cancer	2
1.3 Male breast cancer	4
1.4 A brief overview of ovarian cancer	4
1.5 Tumor molecular evolution	5
1.6 The BRCA genes and familial cancer	7
1.6.1 The BRCA2 protein	8
1.6.2 BRCA founder mutations in the Icelandic population	9
1.6.3 Genetic predisposition to male breast cancer	.11
1.6.4 Genetic predisposition to ovarian cancer	.12
1.7 DNA damage and repair of DNA double strand breaks	.13
1.7.1 DNA double strand breaks	.13
1.7.2 Detection of double strand breaks and repair pathway	
choice	.14
1.7.3 Homologous Recombination repair	.15
1.7.4 Single-strand annealing	.16
1.7.5 Canonical Non-Homologous End-Joining	.16
1.7.6 Alternative Non-Homologous End-Joining	.17
1.8 Replication fork stalling and collapse – focus on BRCA2	.17
1.9 Fanconi Anemia and repair of inter-strand cross-links	.10 10
1 11 Targeting BRCAness in cancer treatment	.⊤9 20
1 12 Telomeres, telomere dysfunction and cancer	.20
4.40.4 Telemente structure and function	
1.12.1 Leiomere structure and junction	

	1.12.3	BRCA2 and telomeres	
	1.13 BRCA	loss of heterozygosity and haploinsufficiency	25
	1.13.1	LOH in tumors from BRCA mutation carriers	25
	1.13.2	Possible BRCA2 haploinsufficiency	27
	1.14 Recen	t advancements in genome editing	
	1.14.1	Principles of CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing	29
2	Aims		31
3	Materials an	nd methods	33
Ŭ	3.1 Study of	aroups and sample acquisition	33
	311	Archived DNA isolated from blood samples breast	
	0.111	tumors and tumor adjacent normal tissue	33
	3.1.2	Newly acquired blood samples	
	3.1.3	Female breast cancer and normal breast tissue	
		samples	
	3.1.4	Male breast cancer samples	
	3.1.5	Ovarian cancer samples	
	3.2 MMqP	CR telomere length measurements	
	3.3 IF and	Q-FISH staining of paraffin embedded tissue	
	3.3.1	Deparaffinization	
	3.3.2	Immunofluorescent staining (IF)	36
	3.3.3	Q-FISH	36
	3.3.4	Microscopy and image analysis	37
	3.4 Tissue	culture	37
	3.5 CRISP	R genome editing	38
	3.5.1	gRNA and plasmid constructs	38
	3.5.2	ssDNA oligo design	39
	3.5.3	Transfection and selection	39
	3.5.4	DNA extraction	40
	3.5.5	Pre-analysis of clones	40
	3.5.6	Sanger sequencing and analysis	
	3.6 Wester	n blot	
	3.7 Mutatic	analysis with targeted Sanger sequencing	
	3.8 Statistic	cal analysis	45
4	Results		47
	4.1 Telome	ere length measurements in blood	47
	4.1.1	Characteristics of the study group (Paper I)	47
	4.1.2	BRCA2 mutation status in association with blood	
		telomere length (Paper I)	48

4.1.3	Telomere length in blood is a modifier of breast	
	cancer risk in BRCA2 mutation carriers (Paper I)	50
4.1.4	Blood telomere length shows no association with	
	breast cancer prognosis (Paper I)	51
4.1.5	Discrepancies in blood telomere length over time	
	periods	51
4.2 Studyir	ng telomere length and dysfunction in normal breast	
tissue.		53
4.2.1	Telomere length and levels of DNA damage differ	
	between cell types in normal breast tissue	54
4.2.2	Shorter TL in normal breast tissue is correlated with	
	younger age at breast cancer diagnosis in BRCA2	
	mutation carriers	57
4.2.3	High levels of DNA damage in non-malignant breast	
	tissue cells	59
4.2.4	TL in normal tissue shows no association BRCA2 wt	
	LOH in the tumor	60
4.3 Genera	ation of <i>BRCA2^{999del5}</i> cell line model using CRISPR/Cas9	
genom	ne editing technology	61
4.3.1	CRISPR/Cas9 genomic editing in breast epithelial cell	
	lines	62
	4.3.1.1 Generation of HeLa BRCA2 KO model	65
	4.3.1.2 Validation of loss of BRCA2 expression	68
4.4 Loss of	f heterozygosity in tumors from BRCA1/2 and BRIP1	
germlii	ne mutation carriers in the Icelandic population	69
4.4.1	Re-analysis of BRCA1/2 LOH in female breast cancer	
	patients	69
4.4.2	Screening for the BRCA2 ^{9990ers} mutation in male	
	breast cancer patients	72
	4.4.2.1 Other germline mutations detected in the	
	male breast cancer cohort	72
	4.4.2.2 Clinical implications – male breast cancer	
	cohort	73
4.4.3	Ovarian cancer cohort	75
	4.4.3.1 Clinical relevance – ovarian cancer cohort	77
Discussion.		81
5.1 Telome	ere length measurements in blood samples (paper I)	81
5.2 Telome	ere length and DNA DSB damage in normal breast tissue	82
5.2.1	Limitations of telomere length measurement methods	83
5.2.2	BRCA2 haploinsufficiency and tissue specificity	84

5

5.3 Es	tablisl	hing CRISPR cell lines and future functional studies on	
BF	RCA2	haploinsufficiency	85
5.	.3.1	HDR-mediated CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing –	
	:	struggles and considerations	86
5.	.3.2	Choosing a fitting research model	88
5.	.3.3	Future directions - comparing BRCA2 ^{999del5} and	
	l	BRCA2 ^{K3326*}	89
5.4 Mu	utation	nal analyses of BRCA1, BRCA2 and BRIP1 and LOH in	
br	east a	and ovarian tumors	91
5.	.4.1	Previous research on BRCA2 LOH in female breast	
		cancer in Iceland	91
5.	.4.2	General discussion on locus specific LOH analyses –	
	I	methodology and limitations	92
5.	.4.3	The BRCA2999del5 mutation is present in 32% of	
	I	male breast cancer patients in Iceland	93
5.	.4.4	BRCA2 tumor LOH in MBC and comparisons with	
		FBC	94
5.	.4.5	Mutations in BRCA1 and BRIP1 do not contribute to	
_		MBC in Iceland	96
5.	.4.6	Future perspectives of the male breast cancer project	96
5.	.4.7	Prevalence of BRCA1, BRCA2 and BRIP1 mutation	
	0	carriers in ovarian, fallopian tube and peritoneal	~~
-	4.0	cancer in Iceland	98
5.	.4.8	High wt LOH frequency in BRCA1/BRCA2/BRIP1	
	l	mutation carriers reflects the HR deficient nature of	~~
-	40	many ovarian tumors	99
э.	.4.9	The effects of germine mutations in	
			00
F	4 10	Future directions of the overion concer preject	00
5.	.4.10 / 11	Public mutation carriers of <i>PPCA2</i> and <i>PPIP1</i>	01
5.	.4.11	Double mutation camers of BRCAZ and BRIFT	02
6 Conclus	sions	1	05
References	S	1	07
Original pu	Iblica	tions1	51
Paper I			53

6

List of abbreviations

53BP1	p53 Binding Protein 1
Alt-NHEJ	Alternative Non-Homologous End-ioining
ALT	Alternative lengthening of telomeres
AR	Androgen Receptor
АТМ	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated protein
ATR	ATM-and-RAD3-related protein
BFR	Base excision renair
BEB	Breakage-fusion-bridge
BRCA1 / BRCA2	Breast Cancer Suscentibility Gene type 1/2
BRCA1/BRCA2	Breast Cancer Susceptibility Protein type 1/2
BPID1	BPCA1-interacting protein C-terminal
DIGIF I	bolicase 1
	Canonical Non Homologous End Joining
C-INITED	Canonical Non-Homologous End-Joining
	Cupy Number Abertations
CRISPR	Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short
DOIO	Palindromic Repeats
	Ductal Carcinoma in Situ
DDR	DINA Damage Response
DNA	Deoxyribonucieic acid
DSB	Double Strand Break
ER	Estrogen Receptor
FA	Fanconi Anemia
FANCD1	Fanconi anemia, complementation group D1
FB	Fibroblast
FBC	Female Breast Cancer
FFPE	Formalin-Fixed Paraffin-Embedded
FISH	Fluorescence in situ Hybridization
FTC	Fallopian Tube Cancer
HBOC	Hereditary Breast and Ovarian Cancer
HDR	Homology-Directed Repair
HER-2	Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2
HR	Homologous Recombination
ICL	Inter-strand Cross-Links
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IF	Immunofluorescence
LEC	Luminal epithelial cell
LOH	Loss of Heterozygosity
MBC	Male Breast Cancer
MEC	Myoepithelial cell
MMEJ	Microhomology Mediated End-Joining
MMqPCR	Multiplex monochrome quantitative PCR
MMR	Mismatch Repair
MRN	MRE1111-RAD50-NSB1

NHEJ NLS OC PAM PARP PCR PNA PR PTC qPCR RNA RNAi RNAi RPA	Non-Homologous End-joining Nuclear localization signal Ovarian Cancer Protospacer Adjacent Motif Poly ADP-Ribose Polymerase Polymerase Chain Reaction Peptide Nucleic Acid Progesterone Receptor Peritoneal Cancer Quantitative PCR Ribonucleic Acid Interference Replication Protein A
SEOC	Synchronous Endometrial and Ovarian
	Cancer
sgRNA	single guided RNA
siRNA	short interference RNA
ssDNA	single-strand DNA
SSA	Single-Strand Annealing
SSB	Single-Strand Break
TCGA	The Cancer Genome Atlas
TDLU	Terminal Duct Lobular Unit
TERC	Telomerase RNA component
TERT	Telomerase reverse transcriptase
TIF	Telomere Dysfunction Induced Foci
ТМА	Tissue Microarray
TNBC	Triple Negative Breast Cancer
TSG	Tumor Suppressor Gene
wt	wild-type
γ-Η2ΑΧ	γ-Histone H2AX Phosphorylated on serine- 139

List of figures

Figure 1. Breast gland morphology.	1
Figure 2. The BRCA2 protein	9
Figure 3. Overview of DNA double strand break repair pathways, main players and genetic consequences	15
Figure 4. Telomere dysfunction and cancer	24
Figure 5. Overview of the CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing process	30
Figure 6. ssDNA oligo design for introducing the <i>BRCA2 999del5</i> mutation into the genome via HDR mediated CRISPR genome editing	39
Figure 7. BstNI restriction sites in BRCA2 PCR amplicon.	41
Figure 8. Age-related telomere shortening	48
Figure 9. Comparison of blood TL between breast cancer affected and nonaffected women	49
Figure 10. Comparison of TL between <i>BRCA2</i> mutation carriers and non-carriers, stratified by time of blood sampling with regards to breast cancer diagnosis	50
Figure 11. Breast cancer-specific cumulative incidence according to analysis of TL.	51
Figure 12. Telomere length in blood samples by year of sample acquisition.	52
Figure 13. Telomere length in different cell types in blood	53
Figure 14. Q-FISH TL measurements of different cell types in normal breast tissue	55
Figure 15. 53BP1 foci and TIFs in different cell types in normal breast tissue	56
Figure 16. Luminal epithelial cell TL measurements	57
Figure 17. Correlation between normal breast luminal epithelial cell TL and age at breast cancer diagnosis	58
Figure 18. 53BP1 staining patterns in paraffin embedded normal breast tissue sections	59
Figure 19. Levels of DNA damage in normal breast LECs	60

Figure 20.	Association between normal tissue TL and <i>BRCA2</i> LOH in adjacent breast tumor	61
Figure 21.	CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing of <i>BRCA2</i> in MCF10A cells.	63
Figure 22.	BRCA2 protein product after genome editing	64
Figure 23.	Morphological signs of senescence in MCF10A heterozygous BRCA2 CRISPR cell lines	64
Figure 24.	Insertion of <i>BRCA2^{999del5}</i> via CRSIPR/Cas9 editing with ssDNA oligo	66
Figure 25.	CRISPR/Cas9 editing of BRCA2 in HeLa Kyoto	67
Figure 26.	BRCA2 protein expression in HeLa BRCA2 KO and heterozygous CRISPR cell lines.	68
Figure 27.	Targeted Sanger sequencing over the <i>BRCA2</i> ^{999del5} locus	70
Figure 28.	Correlation between LOH estimates in female breast	
-	tumor samples	71
Figure 29.	Targeted Sanger sequencing over the BRCA1 ^{G5193A} locus	71
Figure 30.	Overview of the male breast cancer cohort	72
Figure 31.	Targeted Sanger sequencing over the <i>BRIP1</i> ^{2040_2041insTT} locus.	73
Figure 32.	10-year overall- and breast cancer specific survival in male breast cancer	75
Figure 33.	Overview of invasive ovarian, peritoneal and fallopian	
	tube cancers diagnosed 1999-2013 in Iceland	76
Figure 34.	10-year overall survival in the ovarian cancer cohort	79
Figure 35.	10-year overall survival in the ovarian cancer cohort	
	based on mutation carrier status	80

List of tables

Table 1. Growth factors for MCF10A growth media	37
Table 2. H14 growth media formulation	38
Table 3. PCR primers for analysis of CRISPR clones	41
Table 4. Expected product sizes after BstNI enzymatic digestion	42
Table 5. Recipes for western blot gels	43
Table 6. Antibodies used for western blot	44
Table 7. PCR primers for amplification and Sanger sequencing	44
Table 8. Summary statistics for the study group for blood TL measurements	47
Table 9. Breast cancer-specific survival analysis according to blood TL in BRCA2 mutatin carriers and non-carriers	51
Table 10. Clinical characteristics of available male breast cancer cases.	74
Table 11. Overview of tumor LOH in BRCA1/BRCA2/BRIP1 mutation carriers in both ovarian cancer cohorts	77
Table 12. Overview of the 1999-2013 ovarian cancer cohort	78

List of original papers

This thesis is based on the following original publications, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

 Telomere Length Is Predictive of Breast Cancer Risk in BRCA2 Mutation Carriers. Thorvaldsdottir B, Aradottir M, Stefansson OA, Bodvarsdottir SK, Eyfjörd JE. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention. 2017; 26:1248–54.

In addition, some unpublished data is presented.

The paper is reprinted by kind permission of the publisher.

Declaration of contribution

Paper I: I participated in project planning and in choosing the study group along with P.I. Jórunn E. Eyfjörð, Sigríður K. Böðvarsdóttir and Margrét Aradóttir. I set up and validated the MMqPCR telomere length measurement method in the laboratory and performed the measurements with the help of Margrét Aradóttir. I performed data and statistical analysis for the paper under advice from Ólafur A. Stefánsson. I wrote the manuscript together with my supervisor Jórunn E. Eyfjörð.

Q-FISH and IF on tissue specimens: Jórunn E. Eyfjörð and Elizabeth H. Blackburn planned the project. I defined the study group with guidance from Jórunn E. Eyfjörð and Ólafur A. Stefánsson. Normal breast tissue slices were selected and prepared by Katrín Ólafsdóttir, Jón G. Jónasson and Kristrún Ólafsdóttir at the department of Pathology, Landspitali. I performed all staining of tissue slices, microscopy and image analyses with guidance from Beth A. Cimini and Morgan E. Diolaiti. I performed statistical analysis and data interpretation.

CRISPR: I planned the project with Þorkell Guðjónsson, Stefán Þ. Sigurðsson and Jórunn E. Eyfjörð. Original design of materials for CRISPR experiments were performed by Tobias R. Richter, some of which I redesigned and modified. Stefán. Þ. Sigurðsson cloned and prepared the gRNA plasmid. I was responsible for all mammalian cell work and established the CRISPR cell lines as well as validating them at a genetic level. Þorkell Guðjónsson validated the cell lines at protein level.

Mutational and LOH analyses: I planned the male breast cancer project and ovarian cancer project with Stefán Þ. Sigurðsson. The study groups were determined and extracted from the Icelandic Cancer Registry by Guðríður H. Ólafsdóttir and Laufey Tryggvadóttir. Tumor samples were selected and prepared by Jón G. Jónasson, Anna M. Jónsdóttir and Helga S.Gunnarsdóttir at the Department of Pathology, Landspitali. I isolated the DNA, performed Sanger sequencing, LOH analysis, all statistical analysis and data interpretation for the thesis. These projects are ongoing with my continued involvement in the capacity of study supervision, statistical analysis and drafting of manuscripts along with P.I. Stefán Þ. Sigurðsson.

1 Introduction

1.1 Breast Gland Morphology

The female breast gland is composed of branching epithelial ductal systems, reaching from the nipple to the terminal duct lobular units, TDLUs. These are the milk producing functional units and consist of acini which empty into ductules and a larger collecting duct. The epithelial ducto-lobular system is composed of two cell layers, the secretory inner luminal epithelial cell (LEC) layer and an outer layer of contractile myoepithelial cells (MECs), separated from the enveloping stroma by a basement membrane (**Figure 1**). A number of cell populations are found in the stroma, including adipose cells, fibroblasts (FBs), endothelial cells and lymphocytes (Sun et al., 2018). The breast gland is highly dynamic, undergoing drastic morphological changes through the reproductive life cycle from puberty to menopause, with each menstrual cycle, pregnancy and lactation. A population of breast epithelial stem cells give rise to both epithelial cell lineages (LECs and MECs) through cycles of proliferation and differentiation (Petersen & Polyak, 2010; Visvader, 2009).



Figure 1. Breast gland morphology. A system of lactiferous ducts branches from the nipple to the terminal duct lobular units (left). A cross-sectional view (right) of a duct showing the dual epithelial layer of luminal epithelial cells (LECs) and myoepithelial cells (MECs) separated by a basement membrane from the surrounding stroma (not depicted). Reproduced with permission from Springer Nature License #4676541127057 (Harbeck et al., 2019)

1.2 Female Breast Cancer

Cancer is one of the major causes of death world-wide. Breast cancer is the most common cancer in women, affecting over 2 million women each year, and among the main causes of cancer-related deaths with over 600.000 estimated deaths in 2018 (Bray et al., 2018). Over 200 women are diagnosed with breast cancer in Iceland each year, accounting for 25-30% of cancer diagnoses in women (Icelandic Cancer Registry, 2019). The single largest risk factor for developing breast cancer is age, with the average age at diagnosis being 62 years (Iceland, 2013-2017). Family history is also an important risk factor. Additionally, high breast density, prolonged exposure to estrogen and reproductive factors such as early menarche, late menopause and late first pregnancy have been linked to increased breast cancer risk (Rojas & Stuckey, 2016). Breast cancer incidence has consistently increased over the last decades while mortality has decreased. In Iceland, the 5-year survival increased from 69% during 1964-1973 to 94% in 2004-2013, presumably owing to improved diagnostic and treatment options (Icelandic Cancer Registry, 2019).

Breast cancer, like all cancers, is a heterogeneous disease reflecting the variable pathways driving tumor formation. Breast tumors are classified based on histological and molecular characteristics that both affect prognosis.

There are two main histological groups of breast cancer, carcinomas of epithelial origin (>95%) and sarcomas arising from stromal cells. Most epithelial carcinomas arise from the luminal epithelial cells of the TDLUs and are further subclassified into invasive ductal carcinomas (80%) and invasive lobular carcinomas (10-15%) (Lakhani, 2012). Tumors arising from myoepithelial cells are extremely rare (Papazian et al., 2016). Conventionally, breast cancer tumorigenesis is considered to go through stages of epithelial cell hyperproliferation, from atypical hyperplasia to ductal or lobular carcinomas and eventually distal metastatic disease (Lakhani, 2012). *In situ* carcinomas are however considered a non-obligate precursor as many remain noninvasive and never progress to an infiltrating disease (Gorringe & Fox, 2017).

Breast cancer prognosis and treatment is dependent upon a variety of factors including Tumor-Node-Metastasis (TNM) staging, histological grade and the expression of clinically relevant markers (Harbeck et al., 2019). Breast tumors have been categorized into molecular subtypes based on expression profiles identified by genome wide expression analysis (Perou et

al., 2000; Sorlie et al., 2001). Clinical subgroups based on these molecular subtypes are indexed through immunohistochemical staining (IHC) of representative markers. The subgroups are largely based on expression patterns of estrogen receptors (ER), progesterone receptors (PR), human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2, also known as ERBB2 or NEU), the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and cytokeratins 5/6 with the addition of proliferation markers such as Ki-67. The subtypes are luminal-A (ER⁺/ PR⁺, HER2⁻, Ki-67 low), luminal-B (ER⁺/ PR⁺, Ki-67 high, some HER2⁺), HER2 (ER⁻ and PR⁻, HER2⁺), basal-like (ER⁻/PR⁻/HER2⁻, CK5/6⁺ or EGFR⁺) and normal-like (Cheang et al., 2008; Sorlie et al., 2003). Identifying the different subtypes is important for determining treatment options. Tumors of the luminal subtypes are the most abundant (~75% of all cases), respond to hormonal drugs such as tamoxifen and aromatase inhibitors and have generally good prognosis, luminal-A better than luminal-B. Tumors overexpressing the HER2 receptor (15-20% of cases) can specifically be targeted with trastuzumab (Herceptin) but still have worse prognosis than luminal tumors due to fast growth rate and higher relapse risk (Prat et al., 2015). Tumors expressing none of the aforementioned targetable factors (ER'/PR'/HER2') are clinically termed triple-negative (TNBC, 10-15% of cases). The TNBC and basal-like terms are not entirely synonymous, with the latter used in the research setting to refer to the expressional profile rather than IHC staining. Triple negative tumors are generally treated with conventional cytotoxic chemo- or radiotherapy after surgical removal of the tumor or mastectomy and have the worst prognosis of the breast cancer subtypes. Extensive efforts focused on finding treatments for specific molecular targets in triple-negative breast cancer have been largely unsuccessful (Garrido-Castro et al., 2019; Prat et al., 2015). Exceptions to this are new exciting treatment options which apply to a subset of breast cancers, including triple negative, as well as other cancer types; most notably PARP inhibitors and PD-1/PD-L1 immunotherapy. PARP inhibitors target tumors with underlying defects in homologous recombination (HR) DNA repair (Lord & Ashworth, 2017) while PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors target tumors with high levels of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes or high expression of the PD-1/PD-L1 immuno-checkpoints. TNBCs are often characterized by genomic instability which has been associated with higher production of neoantigens and increased immune infiltration (Kwa & Adams, 2018).

1.3 Male breast cancer

Male breast cancer (MBC) is rare, accounting for less than 1% of total breast cancer diagnoses (Weiss JR et al., 2005). In Iceland, MBC incidence has steadily increased over time, averaging in 4 new cases annually in recent years (Icelandic Cancer Registry, 2019). The ratio between female and male diagnoses is similar to that found in other Western countries (Jonasson et al., 1996). MBC resembles postmenopausal female breast cancer (FBC) in many ways but differs in important aspects. MBC is typically diagnosed at an older age and at a more advanced stage than FBC, possibly due to lack of awareness and screening, which is reflected in worse overall survival outcomes (Fentiman et al., 2006; Greif et al., 2012). The average age at diagnosis in Iceland is 69 years for MBC compared to 62 years for FBC and the 5-year survival is 85% and 94%, respectively (The Icelandic Cancer Registry, 2019).

The vast majority of male breast tumors are invasive ductal carcinomas (80-90%), followed by papillary carcinomas. Lobular carcinomas are rare (Fentiman et al., 2006; Jonasson et al., 1996). Male breast tumors are subjected to the same subtype classification system as described for FBC above. However, male breast carcinomas are almost exclusively hormone receptor positive, expressing ER, PR and the androgen receptor (AR) but HER-2, basal-like or other triple-negative subtypes are rare (Kornegoor et al., 2012; Murphy et al., 2006). Furthermore, male breast tumors have been demonstrated to be somewhat molecularly distinct from female breast tumors (Johansson et al., 2013; Piscuoglio et al., 2016). Due to the rarity of MBC, specialized treatment options have not been developed and rather adjusted from FBC regimens. Evidence suggest that MBC patients could additionally benefit from receiving treatment with AR inhibitors (Severson & Zwart, 2017). The strongest risk factor for developing MBC is family history of the disease (discussed in 1.6.3). Epidemiological risk factors mainly include hormonal imbalances associated with obesity, gynecomastia, testicular disorders, endocrine cancer therapy, liver cirrhosis and Klinefelter's syndrome (47, XXY karyotype) (Weiss JR et al., 2005).

1.4 A brief overview of ovarian cancer

With the main focus of the thesis being on breast cancer, only a brief overview of ovarian cancer will be presented here.

Ovarian cancer is the eighth most common cancer in women worldwide with approximately 300.000 new cases diagnosed annually (Bray et al.,

2018). An average of 18 women are diagnosed with ovarian and fallopian tube cancer in Iceland each year, accounting for 2% of all cancer diagnoses in women. It primarily affects women after menopause with an average age at diagnosis of 66 years. (Icelandic Cancer Registry, 2019). Ovarian cancer carries the worst prognosis and highest mortality rate of all gynecological cancers (Coburn et al., 2017). The disease is typically diagnosed at a late stage due to being largely asymptomatic, reflecting in poor survival rate. The recent 5-year survival of ovarian cancer in Iceland is 52% (Icelandic Cancer Registry, 2019).

Over 90% of ovarian tumors are epithelial in origin but still comprise a heterogenous group of tumors classified into subgroups based on cellular origin, histology and molecular characteristics which vary greatly in clinical presentation and outcome (reviewed in (McCluggage, 2011)). Tumorigenesis and cellular origins of ovarian cancer are not completely understood. Majority of tumors are thought to originate in other gynecological tissues such as fallopian tubes or the endometrium with only secondary involvement of the ovaries (Kurman & Shih, 2010). For this reason, ovarian, fallopian tube and peritoneal tumors are grouped together and treated similarly clinically. First line of treatment for most cases is surgical removal or tumor debulking followed by a combination of taxane- and platinum-based chemotherapy for high-stage/grade tumors. Recurrence risk is high. Promising targeted treatments have been implemented in recent years with many more in development, giving hope of better outcomes for this lethal disease (Ledermann, 2017).

1.5 Tumor molecular evolution

The driving forces behind tumor formation at a cellular level remain a constant research topic. Essentially, for a cell to become cancerous it has to successively accumulate key changes in the function of tumor suppressor genes (TSG) or oncogenes, thereby acquiring hallmark tumor capabilities (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). The original 6 hallmarks of carcinogenesis described by Hanahan and Weinberg (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000) include self-sustaining proliferative signaling, evading growth suppression, evading apoptosis, enabling limitless replicative potential, inducing angiogenesis, and activating invasion and metastasis (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000). Later, two hallmarks were added; changes in energy metabolism and evading immune destruction (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).

Genomic instability is a major driving force in cancers, which are all thought to acquire most if not all of these traits through the accumulation of mutations over time (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). Cancer predisposing mutations can be inherited in the germline but most are acquired somatically via multiple mutational processes, both internal to cells and external factors. The types of somatic mutations found in cancer cells range from small scale changes such as base substitutions, small insertions or deletions of DNA (indels), to larger genomic rearrangements like copy number aberrations (CNA) or chromosomal translocations. Additionally, epigenetic changes can affect gene expression by altering chromatin organization and structure. Tumorigenesis can be considered as an evolutionary process where cells acquiring advantageous mutations, so-called driver mutations, are subject to clonal selection over neighboring cells. An abundance of mutations with no obvious advantages to the cancer cell accumulate in parallel, often termed passenger mutations (Stratton et al., 2009). The number of driver mutations needed for tumor formation has been a matter of debate for decades. In a recent study of 7664 tumors across 29 cancer types, numbers ranged from 1-10 driver mutations depending on cancer type and underlying mutational burden (Martincorena et al., 2017).

With the explosion of data available on cancer genomes in the new age of massive parallel sequencing, an ever-longer list of driver mutations has emerged. As an example of the daunting diversity, of over 2000 breast tumors sequenced at the Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute, no two tumors shared the same set of drivers (Nik-Zainal & Morganella, 2017). Identifying actionable drivers in individual tumors for targeted therapy remains a difficult task for many tumor types. Recent endeavors using next generation sequencing methods have identified passenger mutational signatures, providing insight into tumor molecular evolution and revealing the underlying dysfunctional cellular processes (Alexandrov et al., 2013). These signatures can guide treatment by exploiting tumor weaknesses. As an example, breast tumors with defective HR DNA repair are characterized by specific indel mutational patterns (Davies et al., 2017; Nik-Zainal et al., 2016) and can be specifically targeted with platinum-based chemotherapy or PARP inhibitors (discussed in chapter 1.11). Incorporation of molecular characteristics with current treatment practices is key for the advancement of precision oncology and personalized treatment.

Breast cancer is a heterogenous disease, as previously mentioned, exhibiting great variability between individual tumors. This inter-tumoral heterogeneity is then complicated further with the intra-tumoral heterogeneity, both morphological and genetic (Turashvili & Brogi, 2017). A wide-range of tumor cells can exist within a single tumor, reflecting clonal expansion of cells with proliferative advantages over neighboring tumor cells (Nik-Zainal et al., 2012). This complicates clinical treatment as targetable traits may not be present in all tumor cells. Multi-regional sequencing of breast tumors has demonstrated treatment resistance and metastatic potential arising within tumor subclones, highlighting the importance of analyzing tumor heterogeneity for improved treatment (Yates et al., 2015).

1.6 The BRCA genes and familial cancer

Most cancers are considered sporadic, occurring in individuals with little or no family history of the disease. For female breast cancer, it is estimated that underlying germline mutations account for up to 10% of cases (Daly et al., 2010). The definition of familial breast cancer is vague, but criteria for Hereditary Breast and Ovarian Cancer (HBOC) syndrome include multiple breast and/or ovarian cancers in the same family with a tendency for younger age at diagnosis (<50 years), breast and ovarian cancer in the same patient or male breast cancer. An underlying predisposing genetic mutation is however not always identified (Daly et al., 2010). The most commonly mutated genes in familial breast cancer are ones involved in maintaining genomic stability. Risk contribution varies, with rare mutations in high penetrance genes including BRCA1, BRCA2, TP53, PTEN, CDH1 and STK11 accounting for majority of identified cases while mutations in PALB2, CHEK2, BRIP1 and ATM are considered of moderate penetrance. Additionally, low penetrance genetic variants have been identified that may contribute to breast cancer risk, alone or in polygenic fashion (Shiovitz & Korde, 2015).

Of these, mutations in *Breast Cancer Susceptibility gene type 1* and *type 2* (*BRCA1* and *BRCA2*) are by far the most abundant (Daly et al., 2010). They confer highly increased life-time risk of breast and ovarian cancer as well as prostate and pancreatic cancer to a lesser extent (Levy-Lahad & Friedman, 2007). The cumulative breast cancer risk to the age of 80 has been estimated to be 72% for *BRCA1* and 69% for *BRCA2* mutation carriers and 44% and 17%, respectively, for ovarian cancer (Kuchenbaecker et al., 2017). Over a thousand germline mutations are known in each of the *BRCA* genes (Rebbeck et al., 2018), with variable impact on cancer risk (Rebbeck et al., 2015). The world-wide prevalence of *BRCA* mutations is low (ranging from 0.1-0.7%) but numbers vary significantly as founder mutations have been identified in some populations, most notably in individuals of Ashkenazi

Jewish descent and some European populations, including Icelanders (Rebbeck et al., 2018).

The BRCA genes were identified in the 1990s through linkage-studies (Hall et al., 1990: Miki et al., 1994: Tavtigian et al., 1996: Wooster et al., 1994) and encode large proteins that bear few structural similarities despite being involved in many of the same cellular processes. Both proteins have multiple roles in maintaining genomic stability, most notably in the DNA damage response and HR repair of DNA double strand breaks (DSBs) (Chen et al., 2018: Roy et al., 2012). BRCA1 is a versatile protein involved in HR repair as well as DNA damage signalling and cell-cycle checkpoint regulation after DNA damage (Rosen, 2013). The original described role of BRCA2 was in HR repair where it facilitates RAD51 recombinase-mediated strand invasion, a crucial step in this repair pathway (Yuan et al., 1999). BRCA2 also stabilizes stalled replication forks by preventing degradation of nascent DNA strands (Schlacher et al., 2011) and has been shown to be involved in R-loop processing (Bhatia et al., 2014). Additionally, BRCA2 has been implicated in cytokinesis (Daniels et al., 2004; Jonsdottir et al., 2009; Mondal et al., 2012), the spindle assembly checkpoint (Choi et al., 2012) and G2/M checkpoint maintenance (Menzel et al., 2011). The BRCA proteins have both been linked to the Fanconi anemia (FA) pathway which functions in removing inter-strand cross-links in DNA (Howlett et al., 2002; Sawyer et al., 2015). Finally, both BRCA1 and BRCA2 have been shown to be important for maintaining telomere homeostasis (Badie et al., 2010; Ballal et al., 2009; Min et al., 2012). These topics will be discussed further later along with the consequences of their dysfunction on genomic stability and cancer.

1.6.1 The BRCA2 protein

Of relevance for the subject of this thesis the focus will now shift to BRCA2. The *BRCA2* gene, located on chromosome 13q12.3, comprises 27 exons encoding for a large protein of 3418 amino acids. The BRCA2 protein contains several important structural elements, binding sites for interaction partners and post-translational modification sites (**Figure 2A**). RAD51 binding is of integral importance for the function of BRCA2 and is achieved via two domains. The BRC repeats are eight conserved motifs located in exon 11 towards the middle of the protein (Bignell et al., 1997). They bind to monomeric RAD51 which is then loaded onto ssDNA at break sites thereby initiating homology search, a key event in HR repair of DNA DSBs (Jensen et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2010; Thorslund et al., 2010). A distinct RAD51 binding domain, TR2, is located at the C-terminus of BRCA2 (Sharan et al., 1997).

This domain is involved in stabilization of RAD51 filaments (Davies & Pellegrini, 2007) which is important for stalled replication fork protection but dismissible for HR repair of DSB (Schlacher et al., 2011). The C-terminal region additionally contains a serine phosphorylation site, which has been shown to regulate RAD51 binding post-translationally (Esashi et al., 2007), as well as nuclear localization signals (NLS) (Yano et al., 2000). A DNA-binding domain (DBD) is located towards the C-terminus (Yang et al., 2002). BRCA2 binds several other proteins reflecting its various functions including PALB2, EMSY, FANCD2, DSS1 and DMC1 (Fradet-Turcotte et al., 2016).



Figure 2. The BRCA2 protein A) BRCA2 functional domains and interaction partners. A N-terminal domain interacts with PALB2 and EMSY. Centrally located BRC repeats bind monomeric RAD51. The DBD domain binds ssDNA, DSS1 and poly(ADP-Ribose). A motif involved in FANCD2 and DMC1 binding is located adjacent to the DNA binding domain (DBD). The C-terminus contains a distinct RAD51 binding domain (TRF2) and two nuclear localization signals (NLS). Image based on and adapted from (Fradet-Turcotte et al., 2016). B) BRCA2^{999del5} protein product. C) BRCA2^{K3326*} protein product.

1.6.2 BRCA founder mutations in the Icelandic population

The Icelandic population is unique with regards to mutations in the *BRCA* genes since almost all mutation carriers carry the same few founder mutations. This makes the population feasible for studying the influence of single mutations at a population level.

A single mutation, commonly referred to as *BRCA2*^{999del5} (rs80359671, NM_000059.3:c.767_771delCAAAT, NP_000050.2:p.Asn257Lysfs) (Thorlacius et al., 1996), is responsible for a majority of HBOC cases in the Icelandic population. It has a population carrier frequency of 0.8%

(Gudbjartsson et al., 2015; Thorlacius et al., 1997) and can be found in 6-7% of female breast cancer patients and 40% of male breast cancer patients in Iceland (Thorlacius et al., 1997). Interestingly, the BRCA2999del5 mutation was originally found in a male breast cancer family after its location had been identified through linkage analysis (Thorlacius et al., 1995). Penetrance varies and mutation carriers differ with respect to age of onset and severity of disease. In breast cancer patients diagnosed before the age of 40, approximately 25% carry the 999del5 mutation. (Thorlacius et al., 1997). The cumulative risk of developing breast cancer before the age of 70 has been estimated over 70% for mutation carriers and has increased over time (Tryggvadottir et al., 2006). Additionally, the 999del5 mutation confers increased risk of developing ovarian and prostate cancer (Johannesdottir et al., 1996: Rafnar et al., 2004: Thorlacius et al., 1997: Tulinius et al., 2002). The mutation is associated with poor prognosis, both in breast and prostate cancer (Sigurdsson et al., 1997; Thorlacius et al., 1996; Tryggvadóttir et al., 2007). The poor breast cancer outcome has been linked to tumor diploidy (Tryggvadottir et al., 2013), having a luminal subtype (Jonasson et al., 2016; Stefansson et al., 2011a) and overexpression of the Aurora A kinase (Aradottir et al., 2015).

The *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation is a 5 base pair deletion in exon 9 of the *BRCA2* gene (Thorlacius et al., 1996). It causes a frameshift resulting in a prematurely truncated protein product of 272 amino acids, with the last 16 amino acids out of frame (Mikaelsdottir et al., 2004). Of functional relevance, both RAD51 binding domains are missing from the truncating protein product, as are the C-terminal nuclear localization signals (NLS) (**Figure 2B**). However, even though a mutant mRNA transcript is produced, the protein stub is not detected in the cytoplasm and the mRNA is most likely subject to nonsense mediated decay (Mikaelsdottir et al., 2004).

Another mutation in *BRCA2* is also present in the Icelandic population, the *BRCA2^{K3326*}* (rs11571833, NM_000059.3:c.9976A>T, NP_000050.2: p.Lys3326Ter), found at a allelic frequency of 1.1%. Interestingly, this mutation does not confer risk to breast and ovarian cancer in the population but rather a risk for small cell lung cancer and squamous cell carcinoma of the skin (Rafnar et al., 2018). The *BRCA2^{K3326*}* is a nonsense mutation in the last exon of the *BRCA2* gene, leading to loss of the last 93 amino acids of the protein (**Figure 2C**). The K3326* protein product contains the BRC repeats (RAD51 binding domain) and has been shown to be localized in the nucleus and proficient in DNA DSB repair (Kuznetsov et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2005). The truncation is however in proximity to the C-terminal RAD51 binding

domain of BRCA2 (Davies & Pellegrini, 2007) which may impair its protecting function at stalled replication forks, though this remains to be validated. It has been hypothesized that the tissue specificity in tumorigenesis between *999del5* and *K3326** mutation carriers highlights dependency on separate functions of BRCA2 (Rafnar et al., 2018). While breast tissue might be more dependent on the DSB function of BRCA2, other tissues under stronger environmental genotoxic stress might be more sensitive to replication fork stalling problems. In the case of lung and skin cancer, tobacco smoke and UV radiation are both known to cause bulky DNA adducts resulting in replication fork stalling (Hecht, 2011; Sinha & Häder, 2002).

As an example of the less severe phenotype of *K3326** compared to *999del5*, homozygotes are found in the expected Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium and do not show signs of Fanconi Anemia. This is not the case for *999del5* mutation where cases of homozygosity have never been seen and are considered embryonically lethal (Rafnar et al., 2018).

A founder mutation has also been identified in the *BRCA1* gene in the Icelandic population, the rare *BRCA1*^{G5193A} (rs80187739, also referred to as NM_007294.3:c.5074G>A, NP_009225.1:p.Asp1692Asn) (Bergthorsson et al., 1998). It is a single base substitution disrupting a splice site in exon 17, leading to lack of functional protein (Bergthorsson et al., 1998). Due to the low population frequency of *BRCA1*^{G5193A} it does not contribute substantially to either breast or ovarian cancer risk in Iceland (Arason et al., 1998; Bergthorsson et al., 1998; Rafnar et al., 2004). Other mutations are found in the *BRCA* genes in the Icelandic population but are thought to be rarer still (unpublished data from the Landspitali Genetic Counseling Unit (Stefansdottir et al., 2013)).

1.6.3 Genetic predisposition to male breast cancer

Family history is a strong risk factor for male breast cancer. While 5-10% of FBC are linked to underlying germline mutations, the corresponding ratio for MBC ranges from 4-40%, depending on the population (Fentiman et al., 2006). Results from multi-gene panel testing of MBC show that pathogenic germline mutations in *BRCA2* and *CHEK2* are the most abundant and mutations in *PALB2, ATM* and *BRCA1* are less common (Pritzlaff et al., 2017). Contribution of other DNA repair genes associated with HBOC syndrome, such as *BRIP1, PTEN* and *RAD51C*, to male breast cancer risk is less well established (Deb et al., 2016).

Thorough analysis of germline mutations in male breast cancer has not been conducted for the Icelandic population. A previous study (Thorlacius et al., 1997) found the *BRCA2*^{999del/5} founder mutation present in 40% of cases diagnosed between 1955-1995, which is much higher than reported for other populations (Rizzolo et al., 2013).

1.6.4 Genetic predisposition to ovarian cancer

One of the strongest risk factors for developing ovarian cancer is family history of the disease. Two familial cancer syndromes are primarily involved: the HBOC and the Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer Syndrome (HNPCC or Lynch syndrome). The largest portion of genetic predisposition to ovarian cancer is attributable to mutations in the BRCA genes. or 5-20% of all cases (Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network, 2011; Dalv et al., 2010; Ramus & Gayther, 2009). In a population-based study of ovarian cancers in Iceland diagnosed over the period 1990-2000, the BRCA1^{G5193A} mutation was present 1.2% while the BRCA2999del5 mutation was present in 6% of the patients (Rafnar et al., 2004). Germline mutations in other genes involved in HR DNA-repair, such as BRIP1, PALB2, RAD51C and RAD51D to name a few, have also been shown to contribute to ovarian cancer risk (Kanchi et al., 2014; Ramus et al., 2015; Song et al., 2015). A truncating frameshift mutation in *BRIP1* is found in the Icelandic population (*BRIP^{2040_2041insTT*, rs587778134.} NM 032043.3: c.2040 2041insTT, NP 114432.2:p.Leu680fs) at 0.41% allelic frequency (Rafnar et al., 2011). The BRIP^{2040_2041insTT} mutation significantly increases the risk for ovarian cancer in particular and pancreatic and rectal cancer to a lesser extent. Interestingly, the increased risk is not observed for breast cancer (Rafnar et al., 2011). Germline mutations in Lynch Syndrome genes involved in DNA mismatch repair (MMR); PMS2, MLH1, MLH2 and MSH6, have been shown to increase the risk of developing both ovarian and endometrial cancer (Bonadona et al., 2011; Ten Broeke et al., 2015). In a recent study on the prevalence of Lynch Syndrome in the Icelandic population, deleterious founder mutations were identified in PMS2 (c.736_741del6ins11, population carrier frequency 0.234% and c.2T4A, population carrier frequency 0.092%) and MSH6 (c.1754T4C, population carrier frequency 0.080%) which all dramatically increase the risk of endometrial cancer. Both PMS2 mutations are additionally associated with a significantly increased risk for ovarian cancer. Mutations in MLH1 and MSH2 are more common world-wide but are interestingly almost non-existent in the Icelandic population, suggesting a negative founder effect (Haraldsdottir et al., 2017).

1.7 DNA damage and repair of DNA double strand breaks

Cells are constantly exposed to internal and external factors that may cause DNA damage. It is estimated that each human cell is subject to 70.000 DNA lesions per day (Lindahl & Barnes, 2000). Exogenous sources include UV light, cigarette smoke and ionizing radiation but even more common are DNA lesions arising from endogenous sources in cells such as free-oxygen radicals from cell-metabolism and DNA replication errors (Tubbs & Nussenzweig, 2017). Persistent DNA damage interferes with normal cell function such as replication and can cause accumulation of mutations. chromosome abnormalities and genome instability, eventually leading to tumor formation (Kass et al., 2016). Accurate DNA repair is therefore of pivotal importance for proper cell function and maintenance of genome stability. Types of DNA damage include single strand and double strand breaks (SSBs and DSBs) in DNA, mismatched bases, depurination and deamination of bases, and inter-strand cross-links (ICLs). Various pathways have evolved in response to these different types of DNA damage, involving detection, signal transduction and repair, collectively termed the DNA Damage Response (DDR)(Jackson & Bartek, 2009), Defective DDR is found in most tumors and unsurprisingly, inherited or acquired mutations in many DDR genes result in increased cancer risk.

1.7.1 DNA double strand breaks

A DSB is a cleavage of both strands of DNA resulting in loss of continuation of the genome. DSBs can be generated by the many exogenous and endogenous sources described above, often as a result of nucleolytic cleavage of structures in DNA such as stalled or collapsed replication forks, DNA ICLs or R-loops (Berti & Vindigni, 2016; Hanada et al., 2006; Sollier et al., 2014). DSBs are the most cytotoxic of the different types of DNA damage. Failure to repair even a single DSB can cause chromosome translocations or gross genomic rearrangements, eventually leading to senescence, cell death or even tumor initiation (Kass et al., 2016). Due to its importance for genomic stability and tumor suppression, repair of DNA DSBs is employed by a few different pathways. The two main high-fidelity pathways involved are Canonical Non-Homologous-End-Joining (C-NHEJ), which directly ligates DNA ends, and Homologous Recombination (HR) repair, which uses a sisterchromatid as a template for accurate repair. Additionally, two more errorprone pathways, alternative end joining (alt-EJ) and single-strand annealing (SSA) are involved in DSB repair.

1.7.2 Detection of double strand breaks and repair pathway choice

Initial recognition of DNA DSBs is through the MRE11-RAD50-NBS1 (MRN) complex (Petrini & Stracker, 2003) which recruits the Ataxia Telangiectasia Mutated (ATM) kinase, initiating a cascade of signal transduction by phosphorylation and ubiquitination of many proteins involved in DNA repair and cell-cycle checkpoint control (Dantuma & van Attikum, 2016). One of the main targets is histone H2AX which is phosphorylated at serine residue 139 (γ H2AX) at the break site with the signal rapidly spreading across the flanking chromatin (Rogakou et al., 1998). γ H2AX then recruits various DNA repair factors to the site of damage, culminating in the recruitment of tumor suppressors p53-binding protein 1 (53BP1) and BRCA1 (Dantuma & van Attikum, 2016).

Pathway choice at DSBs is dependent on the phase of the cell cycle and level of DNA end-resection at the break, largely determined by the antagonistic relationship between BRCA1 and 53BP1 (Panier & Boulton, 2013; Zimmermann & de Lange, 2014). Of the repair pathways previously mentioned, only C-NHEJ is independent of end-resection and is available throughout the cell cycle, being favored in G0/G1 when end-resection is blocked. However, end-resection at DSBs in S/G2 commits cells to repair via the other pathways, preferring the accurate HR repair pathway over the intrinsically mutagenic SSA and alt-EJ pathways (Ceccaldi et al., 2016a; Karanam et al., 2012). See overview of DNA DSB break repair pathways in **Figure 3**.

End-resection, the processing of DNA ends to produce 3' single strand DNA (ssDNA) ends, occurs in the S/G2 phases of the cell cycle and is mediated by cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs) through phosphorylation of multiple substrates (Ceccaldi et al., 2016a). An initial resection step involves CtBP-interacting protein (CtIP) and the MRN complex (Lamarche et al., 2010). This initial end-processing results in short 3' ssDNA-overhangs that can act as intermediates for alt-EJ (Truong et al., 2013). A second phase of extensive end resection then follows, carried out by a number of helicases and exonucleases (including DNA2, EXO1, BLM and WRN) committing cells to repair with SSA or HR (Nimonkar et al., 2011; Sturzenegger et al., 2014). In G1, 53BP1 and RAP-interacting factor 1 (RIF1) localize at DSBs, blocking BRCA1 binding and end-resection, thus promoting C-NHEJ (Feng et al., 2013). The binding of BRCA1 and its interacting partner CtIP to DSBs in G2/S, in turn antagonizes RIF1 accumulation, inhibiting NHEJ (Escribano-Díaz et al., 2013). This model is however overly simplistic since both proteins
have multiple roles in the DDR and seem to regulate pathway choice and promote repair on multiple levels (Chen et al., 2018; Panier & Boulton, 2013; Zimmermann & de Lange, 2014).



Figure 3. Overview of DNA double strand break repair pathways, main players and genetic consequences. After detection of a DSB, pathway choice is largely determined by the level of DNA end resection at the break site. C-NHEJ (A) is the preferred pathway choice when end-resection is blocked. When end-resection occurs, DSBs are repaired through the accurate HR pathway (B) or error-prone SSA (C) and Alt-EJ (D) pathways. Reproduced with permission from Elsevier License #4654970770208 (Ceccaldi et al., 2016a).

1.7.3 Homologous Recombination repair

HR repair is considered the most precise way to repair DNA DSBs. It is restricted to the mid/late S to G2 phases of the cell cycle when replication is active, due to its requirement for a sister chromatid template (Karanam et al., 2012). Extensive end-resection of DSBs is required for the initial steps of HR repair. The resulting exposed 3'-ssDNA overhangs are rapidly coated with Replication Protein A (RPA), protecting the ends from nuclease degradation and formation of secondary structures (Chen et al., 2013). BRCA1 interacts with PALB2 which in turn recruits BRCA2 to the site (Sy et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2009). BRCA2 binds RAD51 through its BRC repeats, directs it to the site of damage and then mediates RAD51 loading onto the ssDNA ends, forming a nucleoprotein filament and replacing RPA (Liu et al., 2010; Thorslund et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2002; Yuan et al., 2001). The RAD51

nucleoprotein filament catalyzes homology search and strand invasion to the sister-chromatid, forming a displacement loop (D-loop) (Baumann & West, 1998). Repair synthesis then ensues from the invading end by using the sister chromatid as a template (Jasin & Rothstein, 2013).

1.7.4 Single-strand annealing

Apart from HR repair, the other DSB repair mechanism that depends on extensive end-resection in S/G2 is single-strand annealing (SSA). This process does not require a template for repair and is therefore not dependent on replication and the availability of a sister chromatid like HR. After end-resection, homologous sequences flanking the DSB are revealed and annealed together, forming a synapsed intermediate that is subsequently processed for ligation (Bhargava et al., 2016). The processing involves nucleolytic removal of the non-homologous 3'-ssDNA overhangs and is mediated by RAD52 and ERCC1/XPF complex (Bennardo et al., 2008; Motycka et al., 2004). DNA polymerases then fill in the gaps to generate substrates for ligation. This completes the SSA process and inevitably causes loss of genetic information between the interspersed matching sequences, often ranging in hundreds of base pairs (Bhargava et al., 2016).

1.7.5 Canonical Non-Homologous End-Joining

Non-homologous end-joining is thought to play the largest role in DSB repair in humans. The pathway mediates direct ligation of broken DNA ends independent of sequence homology (Lieber et al., 2003). C-NHEJ is therefore available throughout the whole cell cycle but homology-based pathways like HR are favored during mid-S/G2 phases as previously described. NHEJ therefore primarily repairs DSBs arising in G0/G1 and early S phase (Karanam et al., 2012).

The first step in NHEJ repair involves the recruitment of the Ku70/80 heterodimer to the DSB break site where it coats the broken DNA ends and protects them from non-specific processing (Downs & Jackson, 2004). The Ku heterodimer then acts as a scaffold along with DNA-PKcs recruiting the main payers in NHEJ repair; XRCC4, DNA ligase IV and XLF that catalyze synapsis and ligation of the broken DNA ends. In some cases, DNA ends are not compatible for direct ligation and require processing to create ligatable ends. The end-processing can be in the form of removing blocking groups, end-resection and gap filling and is mediated by different DNA end processing enzymes including the nuclease Artemis (reviewed in (Chang et al., 2017)).

NHEJ has historically been considered an error-prone repair pathway since gain or loss of genetic material is generally observed at the DSB break site. New data however indicates that the NHEJ process itself is not inherently error-prone but rather the adaptability of the pathway to repair imperfect non-complementary ends needing end-processing. This is very important for maintaining chromosome integrity by preventing chromosome rearrangements. NHEJ can therefore be considered high-fidelity on a global genomic scale, at the cost of small errors. The bad reputation of NHEJ could also be explained by the lack of distinction between C-NHEJ and the existence of a highly mutagenic alternative NHEJ pathway (Bétermier et al., 2014; Deriano & Roth, 2013).

1.7.6 Alternative Non-Homologous End-Joining

In recent years, highly error-prone alternative end-joining processes have been identified, termed alternative NHEJ or alt-EJ. The molecular mechanism behind alt-EJ is not completely understood but it is likely comprised of a few different mechanisms, including the Microhomology Mediated End-Joining (MMEJ) process. MMEJ requires minimal end-resection and repairs DSBs by annealing short stretches (<25nt) of homologous sequences flanking the DSB, introducing deletions with microhomologies around the break. The process is therefore highly mutagenic around the DSB but also seems to have a tendency for joining DSBs on different chromosomes, creating chromosomal translocations (Mcvey et al., 2017). MMEJ is mediated by PARP1, the XRCC1/DNA ligase III complex, FANCD2 and the error-prone translesion polymerase theta (Pol θ) (Audebert et al., 2004; Kais et al., 2016; Mateos-Gomez et al., 2015). Alt-EJ was originally thought to be a back-up mechanism in the case of C-NHEJ absence. It has however been shown that alt-EJ is active in cells proficient in C-NHEJ and HR (Sfeir & Symington, 2015).

1.8 Replication fork stalling and collapse – focus on BRCA2

DNA replication must be completed for the entire genome before a cell can divide. The normal progression of DNA replication forks is frequently challenged by DNA lesions or other obstacles in the genome including secondary structures like R-loops and G-quadruplexes as well as repetitive sequences. This can cause replication fork stalling. Failure to restart these stalled replication forks can result in their collapse and nucleolytic processing, forming a DSB (Berti & Vindigni, 2016). BRCA2 is a key player in HR repair and therefore has a role in maintaining genome stability through repairing

DSBs resulting from collapsed replication forks.

Early studies suggested another separate role for BRCA2 in stabilizing stalled replication forks (Lomonosov et al., 2003). This function has since been shown to happen through prevention of nucleolytic processing (Schlacher et al., 2011; Ying et al., 2012). Stalled replication forks activate the ATR-mediated replication stress response that promotes fork stabilization and restart while halting progression through the cell cycle. In some cases the fork reverses in an attempt to restart, leaving nascent DNA strands exposed to degradation by nucleases such as MRE11 (Zeman & Cimprich, 2014). As previously described, the C-terminal TR2 domain of the BRCA2 protein is involved in stabilizing RAD51 filaments but not the loading of RAD51 onto ssDNA (Davies & Pellegrini, 2007). BRCA2 is thought to prevent degradation of nascent DNA strands by stabilizing RAD51 filaments at the stalled forks. In the absence of BRCA2, stalled replication forks are not protected and lead to chromosomal instability. This protective role of BRCA2 is independent from its role in HR repair (Schlacher et al., 2011).

1.9 Fanconi Anemia and repair of inter-strand cross-links

While heterozygous mutations in the BRCA genes predispose to HBOC syndrome, biallelic mutations are linked to Fanconi Anemia (FA), a recessive genetic disorder characterized by childhood bone marrow failure. developmental defects. growth retardation and increased cancer susceptibility. The FA pathway consist of 22 FANC proteins, identified to date, and plays an important role in maintaining genome stability by removing inter-strand crosslinks (ICLs) in DNA (Niraj et al., 2019). An ICL is a covalent connection between nucleotides on opposite strands. ICLs are highly toxic lesions if not repaired since they completely block strand separation and thereby stall replication forks. Cells with defective FA pathway are therefore hypersensitive to known cross-linking agents such as mitomycin C and cisplatin. This is demonstrated by increased chromosomal instability and a characteristic formation of radial chromosomes, along with cell death (Huang & Li, 2013). The mechanism of the FA pathway in ICL repair is complex and will not be covered in detail here. Briefly it relies on FANCM and associated sensor proteins to detect the lesion and recruiting the multisubunit FA core complex. The FA core complex then ubiquitinates the FANCI/FANCD2 heterodimer which then interacts with downstream factors involved in translesion synthesis and HR repair (Niraj et al., 2019).

Individuals with biallelic *BRCA2* mutations are classified to Fanconi Anemia subtype D1 (FANCD1)(Howlett et al., 2002). This subtype is clinically distinct from the other FA subtypes and is especially associated with brain and haematological malignancies in early childhood (Meyer et al., 2014). The identification of BRCA2 as FANCD1, linked the FA and HR pathways. Subsequently, other proteins involved in the BRCA pathway were identified as FANC proteins, PALB2 as FANCN, RAD51C as FANCO, BRIP1 as FANCJ and XRCC2 as FANCU (Ceccaldi et al., 2016b; Park et al., 2016). Recently, a patient with Fanconi Anemia was shown to carry biallelic mutations in BRCA1, leading to the classification of BRCA1 as FANCS (Sawyer et al., 2015). Carrying deleterious null mutations in both alleles of the *BRCA* genes is generally considered embryonically lethal (Moynahan, 2002; Sharan et al., 1997) so in these FA cases, one allele is expected to retain partial function (Howlett et al., 2002).

1.10 Genomic instability in BRCA tumors

Evidence suggests that despite the relatively similar cancer predisposing phenotype, tumorigenesis happens by distinct mechanisms in BRCA1 and BRCA2 tumors. BRCA1-associated breast cancers are primarily basal-like (van 't Veer et al., 2002) while BRCA2-associated breast cancers have been shown to display predominantly luminal subtypes of high histological grade, more similar to sporadic tumors (Bane et al., 2007; Stefansson et al., 2009). Nevertheless, an important similarity is that BRCA tumors typically exhibit extreme genomic instability. BRCA2 associated tumors are characterized by structural chromosomal aberrations such as loss of chromosome arms, chromatid breaks, chromosome end-to end fusions, radial chromosomes and telomere abnormalities (Bodvarsdottir et al., 2012; Gretarsdottir et al., 1998; Tirkkonen et al., 1997). This chromosome instability is usually attributed to the role of BRCA2 in error free HR repair and protection of stalled replication forks but also highlights the multifunctionality of BRCA2 in many processes maintaining genomic stability (listed above in 1.6). Dysfunctional telomere maintenance is a well-known cause for chromosomal instability (discussed below), as are problems in cytokinesis giving rise to breakage-fusion-bridge (BFB) cycles and anaphase bridges (Eyfjord & Bodvarsdottir, 2005; Jonsdottir et al., 2009).

Shifting focus back to dysfunctional DNA repair. When HR repair is absent, cells rely more on alternative and more error-prone DNA repair pathways such as NHEJ, alt-EJ or SSA, leading to accumulation of mutations and chromosomal instability (Ceccaldi et al., 2015; Gudmundsdottir &

Ashworth, 2006; Mateos-Gomez et al., 2015; Venkitaraman, 2002). Reflecting this dependency, mutational signatures have been identified in tumors from *BRCA* mutation carriers, characterized by elevated levels of indels, rearrangements and base substitutions (short deletions with microhomology at the break-point) (Nik-Zainal et al., 2016; Polak et al., 2017). Based on these mutational signatures, multiple HR deficiency scores have been developed to predict the "BRCAness" of tumors (Davies et al., 2017; Maxwell et al., 2017; Telli et al., 2016).

1.11 Targeting BRCAness in cancer treatment

Knowledge of HR repair deficiency in BRCA-related tumors and their inability to repair stalled replication forks has been utilized for treatment. Cells completely lacking BRCA1/2 function are extremely sensitive to DNA damage inducing agents causing replication fork stalling or collapse, such as platinum salts (Mylavarapu et al., 2018), topoisomerase inhibitors (Rahden-Staroń et al., 2003) and PARP inhibitors (Lord & Ashworth, 2017).

Over the last two decades, PARP (Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase) inhibitors have emerged as an example for exploiting the concept of synthetic lethality in cancer treatment (Lord et al., 2015). Two genes are considered in synthetic lethal relationship if inactivation of both leads to cell death, but the inactivation of either one does not. Originally, the synthetic lethal relationship between PARP1 and the BRCA proteins was thought to be based on the role of PARP1 in SSB repair of DNA through the base excision repair (BER) pathway (Bryant et al., 2005; Farmer et al., 2005). In the absence of PARP1, SSB are not repaired and subsequently converted to DSB during replication (Satoh & Lindahl, 1992). Treatment of BRCA deficient cells with PARP inhibitors would therefore lead to accumulation of irreparable DSB resulting in cell death (Ashworth, 2008). Studies have since elucidated numerous roles of PARP1 in maintaining genomic stability through its function in various DNA repair pathways, stabilization of replication forks and modulation of chromatin structure (Ray Chaudhuri & Nussenzweig, 2017). As an example, PARP1 is involved in alt-EJ (Mansour et al., 2010), a back-up mechanism for HR in DSB repair which if inhibited leads to synthetic lethality in BRCA deficient cells (Ceccaldi et al., 2015; Mateos-Gomez et al., 2015). It has also been shown that PARP inhibition acts as a DNA damaging agent by trapping PARP1 on DNA, blocking replication and creating very cytotoxic lesions (Murai et al., 2012; Pommier et al., 2016).

PARP inhibitors are currently in clinical use for treatment of breast and ovarian cancer in BRCA mutation carriers (Kaufman et al., 2015; McCann & Hurvitz, 2018) and have also been shown to benefit patients with a range of different tumor types (Lord & Ashworth, 2017). In this regard, it should be noted that not all tumors arising in BRCA mutation carriers, or tumors with somatic *BRCA* mutations, harbor the characteristic HR deficient phenotype. This especially applies to non-BRCA-linked tumor types that seem to be mostly sporadic in nature and would not benefit from targeted treatment (Jonsson et al., 2019). That being said, it is clear that tumors exhibiting BRCAness are not limited to carriers of BRCA mutations (Lord & Ashworth, 2016). The HR deficiency mutational signatures have identified a much larger group of breast cancer patients (22%) with an underlying HR deficiency, resulting from germline and somatic inactivation of HR genes, either by deleterious mutations or promoter methylation (Davies et al., 2017). Estimates for ovarian cancer are even higher, or up to 50% of all high-grade serous tumors (Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network, 2011), Identifying this group is important as it would benefit from targeted treatment.

Disappointingly, both primary and acquired resistance to PARP inhibitors (and platinum-based therapy) is common. Simplistically, resistance is acquired by restoration of HR repair and/or stabilization of replication forks. Mechanisms of the former include reverse mutations or reversal of promoter methylation in the *BRCA1/2* or other HR genes (D'Andrea, 2018). Mutational signatures can identify tumors with underlying HR defects, but the signature may still persist after restored HR function. For improved discrimination between tumors truly HR deficient, biomarker assays are currently being developed for clinical use, including RAD51 foci staining as a surrogate marker for proficient HR repair (Castroviejo-Bermejo et al., 2018; Cruz et al., 2018).

The search continues for new therapeutic strategies for exploiting DNA repair deficiencies in tumors, often focusing on their dependency for "backup" alternative mechanisms. As an example, recent publications have shown that some BRCA deficient tumors upregulate Pol0 and FANCD2, both involved in error-prone alt-EJ, as a compensatory mechanism for reduced HR efficiency (Ceccaldi et al., 2015; Kais et al., 2016; Mateos-Gomez et al., 2015). FANCD2 has also been shown to have a role in stabilizing stalled replication forks (Kais et al., 2016; Schlacher et al., 2012). Inhibiting these proteins in BRCA deficient cells causes synthetic lethality and holds promise for new treatment strategies. Similarly, loss of RAD52 function is synthetically lethal with BRCA1, BRCA2 or PALB2 deficiency (Lok et al., 2013). RAD52 is involved in SSA DSB repair (Bennardo et al., 2008) and also considered a back-up factor for RAD51 in HR (Lok & Powell, 2012). More recently it has been shown to facilitate DNA synthesis during mitosis following replication stress (Bhowmick et al., 2016). BRCA2 suppresses such replication stress through HR (Feng & Jasin, 2017).

1.12 Telomeres, telomere dysfunction and cancer

Telomeres are nucleoprotein structures at the end of linear chromosomes that provide protection against DNA damage and degradation, thereby playing a critical role in maintaining chromosome integrity.

1.12.1 Telomere structure and function

Mammalian telomeres are comprised of repeated nucleotide sequences (TTAGGG)_n ranging from 10-15 kb in humans and terminating in a single stranded 3'-overhang (Moyzis et al., 1988; Wright et al., 1997). This G-rich overhang folds over to form a displacement loop (D-loop) in the double stranded region, creating a larger loop structure (the T-loop) in the process (Griffith et al., 1999). The telomere repeats are bound by the shelterin complex which is composed of six proteins; TRF1, TRF2, TIN2, POT1, TPP1 and RAP1. The shelterin complex aids in the formation of the T-loop, essentially capping the chromosome end and preventing cells from recognizing telomeres as sites of damage (**Figure 4A**) (de Lange, 2005a).

Telomeres pose a challenge for the replication machinery due to their structure. Incomplete lagging strand DNA synthesis results in progressive shortening of telomere sequences with each cell cycle. This is commonly referred to as the end-replication problem (Levy et al., 1992). Telomerase can compensate for telomere shortening by adding new telomeric repeats onto chromosome ends (Blackburn et al., 1989). Telomerase is composed of two subunits, a reverse transcriptase (hTERT) (Nakamura et al., 1997) and an RNA component (TERC) (Feng et al., 1995). The catalytic hTERT subunit of telomerase is however not ubiquitously expressed in humans, being repressed in most somatic cells during gestation and only expressed in germ cells and stem cells (Wright et al., 1996). Telomeres therefore shorten over a lifetime in somatic cells due to the end-replication problem as well as other factors affecting telomere replication, such as replication fork stalling, nucleolytic processing and oxidative stress. This is considered one of the hallmarks of aging (López-Otín et al., 2013).

1.12.2 Dysfunctional telomere maintenance and cancer

Sufficient telomere length is necessary for maintaining the T-loop structure and a protective capped state of the chromosome end. Under normal circumstances in the absence of a telomere length maintaining mechanism, telomere length reaches a certain threshold and triggers the cell's DDR, inducing replicative senescence and cell growth arrest (Levy et al., 1992). Inherited mutations in genes involved in telomere maintenance and capping can accelerate this process, giving rise to premature aging diseases, commonly referred to as telomeropathies (Armanios & Blackburn, 2012; Holohan et al., 2014) or predispose to cancer.

Replicative senescence due to telomere shortening is considered an important tumor suppressor mechanism. However, this state can be bypassed by acquiring mutations in genes involved in cellular checkpoints, leading to further telomere shortening and chromosomal instability, eventually contributing to malignant transformation (Murnane, 2010). Indeed. dysfunctional telomere maintenance and the ensuing genomic instability is considered a driving force and a hallmark of human cancers (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). Over 85% of all cancers escape senescence by activating telomerase expression (Shay & Bacchetti, 1997) while ~10-15% rely on a DNA recombination pathway called alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT) (Bryan et al., 1997), which is characterized by extreme telomere length heterogeneity (Dunham et al., 2000). This is contradictory to the notion that short telomeres predispose to cancer. Studies have however shown that activation of a telomere maintenance mechanism is not required for tumor initiation but critical for cancer progression (Shay, 2014) and that most tumors have previously undergone periods of severe genomic instability due to telomere dysfunction (de Lange, 2005b; Maciejowski & de Lange, 2017). See overview of telomere shortening and dysfunction in senescence and tumorigenesis in Figure 4B.

Of relevance to this thesis, telomere shortening has been shown to be an early alteration in epithelial cancers (Artandi et al., 2000; Meeker et al., 2004b), including breast cancers (Chin et al., 2004; Raynaud et al., 2010).



Figure 4. Telomere dysfunction and cancer. A) Telomeric sequences at chromosome ends are bound by the shelterin complex which aids in T-loop formation, capping the end and protecting it from degradation. B) Telomerase is repressed in somatic cells and telomeres shorten with each cell division due to the end-replication problem. Critically short telomeres activate the DDR, inducing replicative arrest and apoptosis. Loss of tumor suppressor pathway functions allow cells to continue to divide, resulting in more telomere shortening and telomere crisis where chromosomes fuse and cause genomic instability. Reactivation of telomerase alleviates the crisis by elongating telomeres, immortalizing cells and reestablishing genomic stability. This results in tumor cells with extensive genomic rearrangements and active telomerase. Reproduced with permission from Springer Nature License #4671621379061 (Maciejowski & de Lange, 2017).

1.12.3 BRCA2 and telomeres

As previously described, BRCA2-associated tumors are characterized by genomic instability linked to defects in HR repair and stalled replication fork protection (Gretarsdottir et al., 1998; Schlacher et al., 2011; Venkitaraman, 2002). These functions are especially important for various aspects of telomere maintenance (Tacconi & Tarsounas, 2015). Telomere sequences are G-rich and frequently form secondary structures such as G-quadruplexes which hinder replication, leading to stalled or collapsed replication forks that need alleviating via HR repair (Gilson & Géli, 2007). Additionally, HR is involved in T-loop formation (Verdun & Karlseder, 2006). With HR playing a key role in both telomere capping and replication, it is not surprising that BRCA2 has been shown to be important for telomere protection and maintenance.

BRCA2 is associated with telomeres in S and G2 phases of the cell cycle where it loads RAD51 onto telomeres (Badie et al., 2010). Deletion of BRCA2 in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) leads to telomere shortening and accumulation of dysfunctional telomeres, common fragile sites and telomere sister-chromatid exchanges, suggesting a role for BRCA2 in telomere replication (Badie et al., 2010; Min et al., 2012). Recently it has been shown that BRCA2 facilitates telomere replication across challenging DNA structures such as G4-quadruplexes (Zimmer et al., 2016). This role is most likely mediated through restart of stalled replication forks and repair of replication-associated DSB within telomeres, rather than in dissolving these structures (Zimmer et al., 2016). Tumors from BRCA2 mutation carriers have short telomeres and show signs of telomere dysfunction, with frequent chromosome end-to end fusions and accumulation of telomere dysfunction induced foci (TIFs) (Badie et al., 2010; Bodvarsdottir et al., 2012; Martinez-Delgado et al., 2013). Chromosomal instability in BRCA2-associated tumors is therefore at least partly due to telomere dysfunction.

1.13 BRCA loss of heterozygosity and haploinsufficiency

Knudson's two hit hypothesis of tumorigenesis is a classical theory in the cancer field. It states that one functional allele of a TSG is sufficient to prevent tumor formation, only when the other allele is lost, cancer can develop (Knudson, 2001). The BRCA genes are canonical TSGs, as are many other genes involved in maintaining genomic stability. In BRCA mutation carriers, it could therefore be considered that one of these "hits" has already occurred in every cell of the body and a somatic second "hit" of the wild-type allele would lead to cancer formation, to some extent explaining the cancer predisposition among mutation carriers over non-carriers where two somatic "hits" would be needed. Based on this, loss of heterozygosity (LOH) of the wild type allele was for long considered essential for tumor formation in BRCA mutation carriers (Berger et al., 2011; Gudmundsson et al., 1995). This is indeed supported by the observation that LOH is present in morphologically normal breast epithelial cells, early malignant lesions and DCIS in some mutation carriers (King et al., 2007). However, it is clear that tumorigenesis in BRCA mutation carriers is a more complicated process, evident by the varied penetrance and the fact that a subset of tumors exhibit retention of the wild-type allele, raising the question of BRCA haploinsufficiency (King et al., 2007; Nik-Zainal et al., 2016; Stefansson et al., 2011a).

1.13.1 LOH in tumors from BRCA mutation carriers

Tumors from BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers show different patterns

with regards to LOH. In a recent study combining datasets from the Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and the University of Pennsylvania (Maxwell et al., 2017), somatic LOH of the wild-type allele was found to be present in 90% of BRCA1 mutation carriers with breast cancer and 93% with ovarian cancer. LOH does not seem to be as abundant among the same tumor types in BRCA2 mutation carriers, with 84% of ovarian tumors and only 54% of breast tumors exhibiting LOH (Maxwell et al., 2017). Similar results have also been reported from a large-scale exome-wide analysis of ovarian cancer, where LOH was present in 100% of tumors from BRCA1 mutation carriers and 76% of BRCA2 mutation carriers (Kanchi et al., 2014). Previous results from Icelandic BRCA2999del5 mutation carriers using quantitative allelotyping (and later validated by aCGH analysis) support this, with LOH only detected in 52% of the breast tumors studied (Aradottir et al., 2015; Stefansson et al., 2011a). In contrast, an early study found LOH in 94% of breast tumors from BRCA2999del5 mutation carriers (Arason et al., 1998). The few BRCA1G5193A tumors analyzed have all shown LOH (Arason et al., 1998). In a total of 90 breast tumors with germline or somatic mutations in BRCA1/2 or promoter methylation of BRCA1 included in the Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute's study of mutational signatures in breast cancer, 80 tumors exhibited LOH of the wild type allele (Nik-Zainal et al., 2016). In both the Sanger and U.Penn/TCGA studies, breast tumors from BRCA mutation carriers with LOH have the characteristic high HR deficiency scores while tumors retaining the wild type allele do not. These tumors lack typical BRCA-related tumor characteristics such as high mutational burden and their HR deficiency scores rather resemble those seen in HR proficient tumors from non-carriers (Davies et al., 2017; Maxwell et al., 2017; Nik-Zainal et al., 2016). It is however unlikely that all these tumors are sporadic in nature given the early age of onset in many cases, suggesting a mechanism of tumorigenesis distinct from sporadic tumors (Maxwell et al., 2017).

Similar studies on LOH in MBC from *BRCA* mutation carriers are lacking but *BRCA2* LOH in prostate cancer has been reported in 67-100% of malignant cases, although in small cohorts (Annala et al., 2017; Castro et al., 2015; Edwards et al., 2010; Willems et al., 2008). Analysis of 7 pancreatic tumors from *BRCA2*^{999del5} carriers additionally revealed that LOH is not necessary for pancreatic tumor formation in the background of *KRAS* mutations. Furthermore, *BRCA2* LOH is associated with different histological subtypes of pancreatic cancer, a finding supported by studies in murine models (Skoulidis et al., 2010).

Collectively, these observations indicate that LOH is an important event in *BRCA1* tumors, but is more variable between tumor types in *BRCA2* mutation carriers. The apparent difference in LOH dependency between *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* and tissue specific carcinogenesis is intriguing. The lack of LOH and the accompanying HR deficient phenotype in a subset of breast tumors has important clinical implications. These tumors are not likely to respond to treatment with PARP inhibitors as they by principle selectively kill cells completely deficient in BRCA2 function but not heterozygous cells (Bryant et al., 2005; Farmer et al., 2005).

1.13.2 Possible BRCA2 haploinsufficiency

The evidence outlined above calls into question the widely accepted notion that LOH is necessary for the onset of tumorigenesis in BRCA2 mutation carriers. There are indications that BRCA2 heterozygosity suffices to promote tumor development on the background of other key driver mutations, and that LOH may then be a later event (Berger et al., 2011; Skoulidis et al., 2010; Stefansson et al., 2011a). A possible explanation for retention of the wild type allele could be intolerance for complete LOH in a normal genetic background, as is the case for BRCA2 in murine development and normal breast epithelial cell lines (Feng & Jasin, 2017; Sharan et al., 1997). This ties in with the idea of haploinsufficiency, a term referring to when a single functional copy of a gene does not sufficiently maintain protein function. A reduction in specific cell function may cause underlying weaknesses in the cell, gradually predisposing it to become cancerous, but only leading to tumor formation when accompanied with other driving events (Berger et al., 2011). In the case of BRCA2 mutation carriers, minimal defects in HR repair and replication fork protection due to lowered expression affecting function in a dose-dependent manner, may cause accumulation of mutations over time contributing to cancer risk (Jackson & Bartek, 2009; Tubbs & Nussenzweig, 2017), with or without loss of the wild type allele.

Carriers of *BRCA* mutations show no obvious signs of haploinsufficiency, appearing completely normal aside from the increased cancer risk in certain tissues. BRCA1 haploinsufficiency is nevertheless reasonably well established with regards to HR, replication fork protection, telomeres and general genomic instability (Konishi et al., 2011; Pathania et al., 2014; Sedic et al., 2015), whereas BRCA2 haploinsufficiency is not and requires more thorough research.

Recent studies on BRCA2 haploinsufficiency indicate that if existent, it is very mild or a case of conditional haploinsufficiency (Tan et al., 2017; Zámborszky et al., 2017). A recent study described aldehyde-induced haploinsufficiency in *BRCA2* heterozygous cells, by stalling and destabilizing replication forks. Other genotoxic agents tested did not show the same effect

nor cause any DNA repair defects in heterozygous cells (Tan et al., 2017). Another study described very little to no increase in the accumulation rate of base substitutions and indels in *BRCA2* heterozygous cells compared to *BRCA2* null cells, neither spontaneous nor after treatment mimicking endogenous alkylating damage (Zámborszky et al., 2017).

Telomeres might be more sensitive to minor BRCA2 defects in HR repair and replication fork stalling protection than the rest of the genome, due to their repetitive nature which is notorious for replication problems (Badie et al., 2010; Min et al., 2012). Accelerated telomere attrition and accumulation of telomere defects over time would lead to chromosomal instability, increasing cancer risk. Data on possible BRCA2 haploinsufficiency effect on telomeres is scarce. Results from telomere length measurements in normal tissues have been conflicting (Killick et al., 2014; Martinez-Delgado et al., 2011; Pooley et al., 2014) but heterozygous cell lines from *BRCA2* mutation carriers have been shown to have increased chromosome instability and telomere dysfunction (Bodvarsdottir et al., 2012; Rubner Fridriksdottir et al., 2005). Recent studies on BRCA2 haploinsufficiency have not been focused on telomeres.

As previously mentioned, cells completely lacking BRCA2 protein function are HR deficient and rely on alternative DNA repair mechanisms, in some cases upregulating genes with overlapping function, including FANCD2 and POL θ (Ceccaldi et al., 2015; Kais et al., 2016). A recent publication has shown that in heterozygous *BRCA1* cells, a redundant DNA repair pathway mediated by RNF168 compensates for DNA repair haploinsufficiency (Zong et al., 2019). This back-up mechanism masks the haploinsufficiency effect and is necessary for maintaining genomic stability and prevent tumorigenesis in *BRCA1* heterozygous mice. The reliance of *BRCA2* heterozygous cells on alternative repair mechanisms in *BRCA* heterozygous cells may lead to discovery of new drug targets based on the concept of synthetic lethality for *BRCA* deficient tumors (Zong et al., 2019).

1.14 Recent advancements in genome editing

Genome editing methods are essential for studying gene and protein function. The term refers to the practice of permanently editing the DNA sequence of cells via insertions or deletions of genetic material. Through the years, the most common way of studying loss or gain of gene function has been to use RNA interference (RNAi) and transgenesis, respectively. These methods have the limitation of only transiently exerting the intended effect, with RNAi downregulating the gene of interest rather than knock-out and in the case of transgenesis, expressing an exogenous gene either transiently or randomly integrated into the genome, often with undesired side-effects. Targeted genome editing overcomes this by introducing stable genetic alterations at the endogenous level.

In 1995, Maria Jasin demonstrated that targeted DNA DSBs could be induced in mammalian mitotic cells with the use of the I-Scel meganuclease (Smih et al., 1995). The DSB could then be repaired with HDR from a provided template, enabling precise edits at the target site. With the subsequent emergence of other homing engineered nucleases such as Zink Finger Nucleases (ZFNs) (Urnov et al., 2010) and Transcription Activator-Like Effector Nucleases (TALENs) (Joung & Sander, 2013), a new era began in genome editing. These methods use bioengineered non-specific endonucleases coupled with DNA-binding proteins that are designed to target specific sequences, providing high target specificity. The newest addition to the field is the Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR) and associated protein 9 technology (CRISPR/Cas9), first described in 2013 (Cho et al., 2013; Cong et al., 2013; Mali et al., 2013; Martin Jinek et al., 2012). This system uses RNA-DNA interaction instead of protein-DNA interaction to guide the nuclease activity. CRISPR/Cas9 quickly gained popularity for its advantages over pre-existing methods including ease of design, increased accuracy, higher editing efficiency and low cost. It has since dominated the field.

1.14.1 Principles of CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing

The CRISPR/Cas system is a prokaryotic antiviral RNA-mediated adaptive defense system (Wiedenheft et al., 2012) which has been exploited for genome editing in eukaryotes (Cho et al., 2013; Cong et al., 2013; Mali et al., 2013; Martin Jinek et al., 2012). The system consists of a short ~20bp single guided RNA (sgRNA or gRNA) forming a ribonucleoprotein complex with a Cas endonuclease. The gRNA is composed of the crRNA (CRISPR RNA) sequence, designed to recognize a target sequence within the genome, and the tracrRNA (trans-activating crRNA) which guides Cas to the locus (Martin Jinek et al., 2012). The Cas endonuclease recognizes so-called protospacer adjacent motifs or PAM (NGG in the case of spCas9 from Streptococcus pyogenes) and cleaves the DNA if the PAM is next to a sgRNA target sequence (Martin Jinek et al., 2012) (Figure 5). The Cas-mediated DSB activates the cell's DDR machinery and is most often repaired with the NHEJ pathway, randomly causing small insertions and deletions at the cut site. These small mutations can disrupt gene function if they cause a frame-shift in the reading frame, generating premature stop codons and a non-functional protein product. Alternatively, the NHEJ pathway can be transiently inhibited in order to favor the high-fidelity HR pathway (Maruyama et al., 2015). This allows for more specific editing by providing a single strand donor DNA oligo with the desired edits for homology (**Figure 5**).

The fast development of genome editing tools in the last decade has raised ethical questions on their use for gene therapy of heritable diseases. That discussion is outside of the scope of this thesis but one major area of concern are the undesired off-target effects of these methods. In the case of CRISPR/Cas9, it has been shown that Watson-Crick base-pairing of the sgRNA and the genomic target sequence can tolerate several mismatches (Fu et al., 2013). This poses a hazard for clinical applications and can confound results in functional studies. Efforts are constantly being made to increase the precision and efficiency of the CRISPR technology and it holds great promise for the future.



Figure 5. Overview of the CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing process. The system is composed of two components, a single guide RNA (gRNA) and Cas9 endonuclease, forming a ribonucleoprotein complex. The gRNA contains a ~20 nucleotide spacer sequence (crRNA) that recognizes a target sequence in the genome and a scaffold sequence (tracrRNA) that binds Cas9 and directs it to the target sequence. Cas9 recognises a Protospacer Adjacent Motif (PAM) and mediates DNA cleavage if the PAM is located immediately adjacant to the target sequence. The resulting doublestrand break is then repaired by either the more error-prone NHEJ or the high-fedility HR repair pathway. Repair via NHEJ frequently causes small indels, often resulting in frameshift events leading to premature stop-codons and a non-functional protein. More precise edits can be made by introducing a repair template with the desired genomic edit, flanked by homology arms, which can be incorporated into the genome during HR repair. To prevent repeated cutting by Cas9 at the target site, silent mutations are typically integrated into the PAM sequence or the 3'-seed sequence of the template. Adapted from Addaene. CRISPR Guide. https://www.addgene.org/crispr/guide/

2 Aims

BRCA2 is involved in maintaining genomic stability through its roles in DNA double strand break (DSB) repair and protection of stalled replication forks. It has for long been considered a classical tumor suppressor. The fact that a significant proportion of breast tumors from *BRCA2* mutation carriers retain the wild-type allele contradicts this notion and indicates there might be BRCA2 haploinsufficiency at play. Even if mild, slight repair deficiency might result in accumulation of mutations over a lifetime and contribute to cancer formation in these individuals. Tumors and cell lines derived from *BRCA2* heterozygous mutation carriers have frequent telomere abnormalities. Telomeres might be sensitive to BRCA2 deficiencies, more so than the rest of the genome, due to replication problems at highly repetitive telomere sequences. The level of telomere maintenance in *BRCA2* mutation carriers may therefore be reduced. Disruptions in telomere homeostasis can result in excessive telomere shortening and drive chromosome instability, a hallmark of *BRCA2*-related cancers.

A)

The project's original main objective was to study telomere length and telomere dysfunction in *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers and BRCA2-associated breast cancer in the Icelandic population. The specific aims were:

- Measure telomere length in blood isolated DNA from BRCA2 mutation carriers with and without a breast cancer diagnosis, matching sporadic cancer patients and healthy controls to assess the association between blood telomere length, cancer risk and clinical outcomes. (Paper I)
- 2) Measure telomere length and telomere dysfunction on tissue samples, both tumor and normal tissue, from *BRCA2* mutation carriers diagnosed with breast cancer and matched sporadic breast cancer patients in relation to cancer risk and clinical outcomes.

B)

Previous cell-line studies on *BRCA2* heterozygosity have lacked proper controls, often comparing results from different cell lines which may have very different genetic profiles. With the emergence of the CRISPR/Cas9 genetic editing technology, stable cell lines with a desired mutation can now be generated in a more controlled manner. The specific aims for this part of the project were the following:

- 3) Establish an isogenic cell line model for the Icelandic BRCA2^{999del5} mutation, constituting of BRCA2^{+/+}, BRCA2^{999del5/+} and BRCA2^{999del5/999del5} cell lines of the same origin, using homology directed repair variation of CRISPR/Cas9 genetic editing system.
- 4) Functionally characterize the newly established cell lines with regards to DNA DSB repair efficiency, problems at stalled replication forks and dysfunctional telomere maintenance.

C)

A subset of tumors from *BRCA2* mutation carriers exhibit retention of the wild-type allele, supporting the idea of BRCA2 haploinsufficiency. The aim was to verify and expand on previous results on this topic in Icelandic *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers, specifically:

5) Assess the frequency of *BRCA2* wild type allele loss in breast (female and male) and ovarian tumors from *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers using targeted Sanger sequencing.

3 Materials and methods

3.1 Study groups and sample acquisition

The work in this thesis is largely based on several different study groups, described below.

3.1.1 Archived DNA isolated from blood samples, breast tumors and tumor adjacent normal tissue

All blood samples were collected between the years 1988-2006 and the isolated DNA stored at the Cancer Research Laboratory, University of Iceland. This study group is described in further detail in Paper I. The work was carried out based on permits from the Icelandic Data Protection Commission (2006050307) and Bioethics Committee (VSNb2006050001/03-16). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

DNA samples from breast tumors (ICD-10 C50.9) and tumor adjacent normal tissue were also available from the laboratories previous studies and had been extracted from either formalin fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) or fresh-frozen tissue using standard phenol-chloroform and Proteinase K DNA isolation methods. The samples were provided by the Department of Pathology at Landspitali University Hospital. All samples had previously been analyzed for the *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation (Stefansson et al., 2009; Tryggvadottir et al., 2006).

Information on all female breast cancer cases (3.1.1 and 3.1.3) was obtained from the Icelandic Cancer Registry or from patient files and included date of birth, primary tumor location, date of diagnosis, age at diagnosis, side (left, right), tumor size (cm), histological grade, clinical staging, surgery (mastectomy, lumpectomy, bilateral mastectomy), chemotherapy regimen, distant metastasis, other cancers (site, date), date of death and cause of death.

3.1.2 Newly acquired blood samples

Newly acquired blood samples were collected from 23 volunteers. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants according to a permit from the Bioethics Committee (VSN-17-117). No personally identifiable data was gathered. Two 5 ml vials of blood were drawn from each volunteer, a whole blood vial and a vial separated into granulocytes and lymphocytes

using Histopaque[®] 1077 solution (Sigma-Aldrich, 10771) following manufacturer instructions. DNA was isolated from whole blood and separated blood parts using a standard phenol-chloroform plus Proteinase K extraction.

3.1.3 Female breast cancer and normal breast tissue samples

Tissue microarrays (TMAs) from Icelandic FBC patients had been prepared for previous studies (Stefansson et al., 2009, 2011a) and were accessible at the Department of Pathology of Landspitali University Hospital. The arrays contained ~450 tumor samples, each in triplicate, chosen as two sporadic cases matched on age and year of diagnosis with a breast tumor from a *BRCA2* mutation carrier. These TMAs had previously been characterized for commonly studied breast cancer biomarkers, including ER, PR, Ki67, HER-2, CK5/6, CK8 and CK18 (Stefansson et al., 2009).

Tumor adjacent normal breast tissue samples for this project were selected based on availability from the TMA group described above, one *BRCA2* mutation carrier matched with a sporadic control based on age and year of diagnosis, total of 180 samples (90 pairs). Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) stained slides from each patient were reviewed by a pathologist to select areas of normal breast tissue histology for sectioning. These samples were prepared as 5 μ m thick paraffin embedded tissue sections on SuperfrostTM Plus microscope slides (ThermoScientific). All tissue samples were prepared at the Department of Pathology of Landspitali University Hospital. The work was carried out according to permits from the Icelandic Data Protection Commission (2006050307) and Bioethics Committee (VSNb2006050001/03-16).

3.1.4 Male breast cancer samples

The study group consisted of all men diagnosed with breast cancer (C50.9) in Iceland since the establishment of the Icelandic Cancer Registry in 1955 and through 2018, 82 cases in total (Bioethics Committee permit: VSNb2018100019/03.01). The tissue samples were obtained from the Department of Pathology of Landspitali University Hospital. Tumor tissue FFPE blocks were available for 76 men and normal tissue for 38 men. Additional archived DNA from blood samples was available at the Cancer Research Laboratory for 26 of the 82 men in the study group. H&E stained tumor slides were microscopically examined by a pathologist to choose the most appropriate area for DNA isolation (ensuring high tumor content, preferably over 70-80%). Respective FFPE tumor blocks were sectioned into 3x10 µm rolls for DNA isolation. DNA was extracted using the Zymo Research Quick-DNA FFPE miniprep kit (D3067). All DNA samples were quantified with Qubit fluorometric quantification (Qubit 3.0) which accurately estimates low DNA quantities from degraded or low-quality samples, characteristic for DNA extracted from paraffin. DNA in sufficient amount and quality for downstream analyses was obtained from all 76 tumor samples and 30 normal tissue samples.

Information on date of birth, date and age at diagnosis, side (left, right), contralateral breast cancer, other cancers (site, date), date of death and cause of death was obtained from the Icelandic Cancer Registry. Data on tumor pathological characteristics and other clinical parameters described in 3.1.1 is currently being gathered for the MBC group.

3.1.5 Ovarian cancer samples

A pilot study was performed with 130 women diagnosed with ovarian cancer (C56*) between 1955-2018 who had given a biological sample to the UI Cancer Research Laboratory under a broad informed consent for previous studies, thereby within the confines of existing permits from the Icelandic Data Protection Commission (2006050307) and Bioethics Committee (VSNb2006050001/03-16). Tumor samples were provided by the Department of Pathology of Landspitali University Hospital and DNA extracted as previously described for the MBC samples. FFPE tumor blocks were available for 118 women and sufficient-quality DNA obtained for 100 samples.

Expanding on the pilot study, a new group was retrieved from the National Cancer Registry which included all women diagnosed with ovarian (C56*), fallopian tube (C57*) and peritoneal (C48.1, C48.2) cancers in Iceland over the 15-year period 1999-2013 or 361 cases in total (Bioethics Committee permit: VSNb2018060019/03.01). Tumor samples were provided by the Department of Pathology, Landspitali University Hospital and DNA extracted as previously described. Tumor FFPE blocks were available for 288 samples and high-quality DNA in sufficient amount was obtained from all 288 samples with an overlap of 29 samples from the pilot study.

Information on ovarian cancer cases from the pilot study was obtained from the Icelandic Cancer Registry or from patient files and included date of birth, primary tumor location, date of diagnosis, age at diagnosis, tumor size (cm), histological grade, clinical staging, surgery (oophorectomy), chemotherapy (yes/no, regimen), distant metastasis, other cancers (site, date), date of death, cause of death and status at the end of study (alive with/without recurrence or signs of active disease). Clinical data is currently being gathered for the expanded study group.

3.2 MMqPCR telomere length measurements

Multiplex monochrome quantitative PCR (MMqPCR) measurements, based on the method developed by (Cawthon, 2009), were performed with slight modifications as described in Paper I.

3.3 IF and Q-FISH staining of paraffin embedded tissue

3.3.1 Deparaffinization

Tissue slices and TMAs (described in 3.1.3) were deparaffinized in Xylenes (Sigma 534056), twice for 5 minutes, followed by rehydration by ethanol series (100%, 90%, 70%, 50%), 5 minutes each. Slides were then washed briefly in water. Antigen retrieval was performed by immersing slides in Sodium Citrate Buffer (pH6.0) and boiling in microwave for 10-15 minutes. Slides were then washed in PBST (Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) w/0.05% Tween-20 (Sigma P1379)) twice for two minutes.

3.3.2 Immunofluorescent staining (IF)

Tissue was permeabilized in PBS containing 0.5% NP-40 (Abcam, ab142227) for 10 minutes followed by a wash in PBS for 5 minutes. Slides were then blocked in PBG (0.2% (w/v) cold water fish gelatin (Sigma G-7765), 0.5% (w/v) BSA (Sigma A-2153) in PBS) for 20 minutes before incubation with primary antibody against 53BP1 (anti 53BP1, Novus Biochemicals NB 100-304, 1:500 dilution in PBG) overnight (O/N) at 4°C. Slides were then washed thrice in PBG before incubation with secondary antibody (AlexaFluor 488, Molecular Probes, 1:750 dilution in PBG) for one hour at room temperature (RT) and washed again thrice in PBG. Slides were then fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde (16% PFA, EMS cat no. 15710) in PBS for 10 minutes followed by two washes in PBS, 5 minutes each. Slides were treated with 0.1mg/ml RNase A (Qiagen cat. no. 158922) in PBS for 10 minutes at 37°C, washed twice with PBS for 5 minutes each and finally dehydrated through ethanol series (70%, 95%, 100%) for five minutes each before being air dried.

3.3.3 Q-FISH

Telomere and centromere Fluorescent in situ Hybridization (FISH) staining was performed after IF as described (Diolaiti et al., 2013), without pepsin treatment. The peptide nucleic acid (PNA) probes (Panagene) used were:

FAM-OO-ccctaaccctaaccctaa $(0.5\mu g/ml)$ for telomeres and Cy5-OO-aatcaacccgagtgcaat $(0.5\mu g/ml)$ for centromere 9.

3.3.4 Microscopy and image analysis

Slides were imaged using a DeltaVision RT deconvolution microscope (Applied Precision) with the 100x/1.4N PlanApo objective (Olympus). Images were acquired in 0.5 µM increments, deconvoluted and Z-projected in Softworx (Applied Precision). Telomeric, centromeric and 53BP1 foci were identified and counted and their integrated intensity measured with CellProfiler 3.0 software image analysis (Broad Institute. www.cellprofiler.org). Relative telomere length was calculated by averaging integrated intensities of individual telomere foci per nucleus corrected for the mean centromere 9 foci integrated intensity value for that nucleus. Telomere dysfunction induced foci (TIFs) were detected where co-localization of 53BP1 foci and telomere foci occurred.

3.4 Tissue culture

Two commercially available cell lines were used in this study, both obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC).

MCF10A (ATCC[®] CRL-10317) is a mammary epithelial breast cell line derived from fibrocystic disease. MCF10A cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium, DMEM/F-12 (Gibco 3133038), with 1.5 μ g/mL Penicillin/Streptomycin (Gibco 15070063), 5% horse serum (Gibco 16050130) and supplemented with growth factors listed in **Table 1**.

Growth factor	Final concentration	Manufacturer	Catalog no.
Insulin	10 µg/ml	SigmaAldrich	I-1882
Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF)	20 ng/ml	PeproTech	AF-100-15
Hydrocortisone	0,5 µg/ml	SigmaAldrich	H-0888

Table 1. Growth factors for MCF10A growth media

HeLa (Kyoto) cells (ATCC[®]CCL-2TM), derived from cervical adenocarcinoma, were cultured in DMEM GlutaMaxTM (Gibco 31966047) with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS, Gibco 10270-106) and 1.5 μ g/mL Penicillin/Streptomycin.

Additionally, primary normal epithelial breast cell lines derived from a *BRCA2*^{999de/5} mutation carriers, A176 (*BRCA2-999de/5-1N*) and A240 (*BRCA2-999de/5-1N*), were used. These cell lines were established from tumor adjacent normal breast epithelium using HPV-16 E6/E7 transformation

(Rubner Fridriksdottir et al., 2005). A176 and A240 were cultured in H14 media that is composed of DMEM/F-12 with 1.5 μ g/mL Penicillin/Streptomycin and additional growth factors listed in **Table 2**.

All cell lines were cultured at 37°C with 5% $\rm CO_2$ and routinely checked for mycoplasma infections.

Growth factor	Final Manufacturer		Catalog no.
Insulin	250 ng/ml	SigmaAldrich	I-1882
Transferrin	10 µg/ml SigmaAldrich		T-1147
Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF)	10 ng/ml PeproTech		AF-100-15
Na-Selenite	2,6 ng/ml	SigmaAldrich	S-5261
Estradiol	10 ⁻¹⁰ M	SigmaAldrich	E-2758
Hydrocortisone	0,5 µg/ml	SigmaAldrich	H-0888
Prolactin	5 µg/ml	SigmaAldrich	L-6520

Table 2. H14 growth media formulation

3.5 CRISPR genome editing

CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing technology was used to generate *BRCA2* heterozygous and *BRCA2* knock-out cell lines.

3.5.1 gRNA and plasmid constructs

For expressing Cas9 the pST1374-NLS-flag-linker-Cas9 plasmid (Addgene plasmid #44758, gift from Xingxu Huang) was used, containing a Blasticidin S. selection cassette.

A guide RNA oligo (gRNA) was designed for targeting exon 9 of the *BRCA2* gene, with an expected cutting site ~20 bases downstream of the *BRCA2 999del5* mutation locus:

BRCA2 4 forward: ACACCG CAAAGAGAAGCTGCAAGTCA G BRCA2 4 reverse: AAAAC TGACTTGCAGCTTCTCTTTG CG

The gRNA was cloned into the MLM3636 gRNA expression vector (Addgene plasmid #43860, gift from Keith Young) using BsmBI restriction digestion (NEB, R0580S). Annealing was performed by heating the annealing reaction mixture (1ul of forward and reverse gRNA oligos (diluted to 100uM), 5ul

NEBuffer2 (NEB, B7002S) and 47ul H2O) to 95°C and cooling slowly to 4°C. For ligation, 1ul of BsmBI cut MLM3636 plasmid was mixed with 3ul of annealing mix, 1ul of water and 5ul of Instant Sticky end ligase Master mix (NEB, M0370S). Transfection was done by adding 2uL of ligation mixture to 50uL of competent E. coli DH5 α cells which were then plated onto LB-Amp plates and incubated at 37°C O/N. The plasmid sequence was validated with sanger sequencing at Genewiz® with the OS280 primer: CAGGGTTATTGTCTCATGAGCGG

3.5.2 ssDNA oligo design

A single strand DNA oligo (ssDNA oligo) for introduction of the *BRCA2 999del5* mutation into the genome was designed with 30bp homology arms around the inserted mutation and two phosphorothioate bonds on each end of the oligo to inhibit exonuclease degradation. To prevent further cutting of Cas9 after the incorporation of the oligo, three silent mutations (based on the resulting mutated sequence) were introduced in the gRNA seed sequence (the 12nt closest to the PAM motif) to mask the gRNA recognition site (**Figure 6**). These silent mutations were selected to form a restriction site for BstNI to facilitate pre-screening of clones with enzymatic digestion before Sanger sequencing (see.3.5.5).



Figure 6. ssDNA oligo design for introducing the *BRCA2 999del5* mutation into the genome via HDR mediated CRISPR genome editing.

3.5.3 Transfection and selection

Cells were seeded into a 24 well plate 24 hours prior to transfection to be at ~60-70% confluency at the time of transfection. For co-delivering of Cas9 plasmid and gRNA plasmid along with the ssDNA oligo, cells were transfected using LipofectamineTM LTX Reagent with PLUSTM Reagent

(Thermo Scientific 15338100). 500ng of both the Cas9 plasmid and the gRNA plasmid were added to 50µl of Opti-MEM (Thermo Scientific 31985062) along with the ssDNA oligo (for a final concentration of 5nM in 500 µl). To an equal volume of Opti-MEM were added 2µl LTX and 1µl of PLUS Reagent. These two solutions were then mixed thoroughly together and incubated at RT for 15 min. Then the L755507 NHEJ inhibitor was added (for a final concentration of 5 µM in 500µl) when the mixture was added to the wells with 400µl fresh media. After 24h cells were trypsinized, spun down and seeded sparsely onto 10cm dishes (1-5% of total cells) for drug selection. Cells were then treated with Blasticidin S. (Thermo Scientific A1113903) at 5µg/ml for 72h, media changed once during that time. After 72h of selection, plates were rinsed thoroughly with PBS and normal media added. Media was changed every 2-3 days until single cell clone colonies had grown sufficiently to be transferred to a 24well plate using 1/10 diluted Trypsin/EDTA and a sterile filter tip.

3.5.4 DNA extraction

Cells were harvested when they reached confluency in a 24 well-plate, genomic DNA was obtained from half of the cells (\sim 1,2x10⁵ cells) while the other half was kept in culture for further expansion. For DNA isolation the cells were trypsinized and spun down. The pellet was then resuspended in 25µl Igepal buffer (50 mM Tris-HCI, 50 mM KCI, 3.15 mM MgCl2, 0.25% (v/v) Igepal (I8896-IGEPAL[®] CA-630, Sigma-Aldrich), 0.5% (v/v) Tween 20, pH 8.0) containing 1 mg/ml Proteinase K (NEB #P8107S) and incubated at 60°C for 90 min followed by an incubation at 95°C for 15 min. Then, the mixture was centrifuged at 16000 x g for 15 min. Supernatant was used for downstream analysis.

3.5.5 Pre-analysis of clones

Specific DNA regions were amplified using Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) in total volume of 12 μ l containing 1X final concentration of 10X*Taq* standard buffer (NEB M0273L), 200 μ M dNTPs (NEB, N0447S), 0.2 μ M of each primer (Sigma, **Table 3**), 1.25 U of *Taq* polymerase (NEB M0273L) and 2 μ l of supernatant from Igepal DNA isolation, with nuclease free H₂O to final volume. The thermal cycling profile was as follows; incubation at 95°C for 10 minutes, then 40 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, variable°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for 30 seconds, and finally 72°C for 10 minutes.

Target	Primer name	Sequence (5'-3')	Annea- ling T (°C)	Amplicon size (bp)
	BRCA2_Anlz_Fwd	CAAGTGGGATGGAGCAAGAT		
BRCA2	BRCA2_Anlz_Rev	CTAACTTGGTGTGCCTGTGA	67	815
	Off_target_1_Fwd	GTGAAGCTCACAGAGCGTGT		
RIC8A	Off_target_1Rev GCTCAGTCTCTTGGGAAGGA		60	235
	Off_target_2_Fwd	тдсттссстстстстстсс		
TNFRSF21	Off_target_2_Rev	TCCTGGCTCTTGACTCCAAT	60	197
	Off_target_3_Fwd	GTCTGCTGAGGAAGGTCCTG		
NLRP5	Off_target_3_Rev	ACGCAACCCTTGTGTCTTCT	60	191
	Off_target_4_Fwd	GGTTTTCACAGTCCAACACG		
ТХК	Off_target_4_Rev	TTACCCCAAACGGTCTCTTG	60	221

Table 3. PCR primers for analysis of CRISPR clones

For identification of incorporation of the ssDNA oligo, the BRCA2 PCR product was digested with BstNI (**Figure 7**) following manufacturer's instructions (NEB, cat. R0168S) and run on 1.2% agarose gel at 90V for 25 minutes for analysis. The expected product sizes are shown in **Table 4**.

5'...CCIWGG...3' 3'...GGWICC...5' **Figure 7.** BstNI restriction sites in *BRCA2* PCR amplicon. A) BstNI recognition sequence (W is either A or T). B) Sequence of the *BRCA2* PCR amplicon, showing the ssDNA oligo in green and BstNI restriction sites in gray.

Incorporation of ssDNA oligo	Total amplicon length (bp)	No. of BstNI restriction sites	Product sizes (bp)
None (WT)	815	1	632 – 183
Heterozygous	815 / 810	1/2	632 – 395 – 232 - 183
Homozygous	810	2	395 – 232 - 183

Table 4. Expected product sizes after BstNI enzymatic digestion

3.5.6 Sanger sequencing and analysis

Selected clones were sent to sequencing to Genewiz ® after PCR clean-up with Macherey-Nagel[™] NucleoSpin[™] Gel and PCR Clean-up Kit (Macherey-Nagel 740609.50) according to manufacturer's instructions. Results on FASTA and .ab1 file formats were analyzed Benchling in (https://benchling.com) and ICE (https://ice.svnthego.com). an online CRISPR editing analysis tool provided by SYNTHEGO.

3.6 Western blot

For detection of the BRCA2 protein with western blot, cells were grown to confluency in 60mm culture dishes. Cells were washed once with cold PBS, dishes put on ice and all liquid removed. Samples were then extracted by scraping with 200 µL of loading buffer containing NuPAGE[™] LDS Sample Buffer (4X) (Thermo Scientific NP0007) and 10X dithiothreitol (DTT) reducing agent, both diluted to 1X in ddH2O. 0.2µL of Benzonase Nuclease (Santa Cruz, sc-202391) was then added to each sample to remove all nucleic acids and incubated at RT for 3 minutes. Samples were then placed in a heat block at 95°C for 10 minutes and spun down at highest speed for 15 minutes. The supernatant was stored at -20°C and used for downstream steps.

40-50 μ L of each sample and 5 μ L of Color Prestained Protein Standard (NEB, P7712S) were loaded onto a 1.5mm thick 6% SDS-polyacrylamide gel with a stacking gel (**Table 5**). The gel was run in 1xRunning Buffer (10x: 25mM Tris base, 190mM glycine and 0.1% SDS diluted in H₂O, pH 8.3) for 3-4 hours at 110V.

Component	Polyacrylamide gel/separating solution (6%, 10ml)	Stacking gel (5ml)
ddH2O	5.3 ml	3.4 ml
30% Acrylamide mix	2.0 ml	830 ul
1.5M Tris (pH 8.8)	2.5 ml	-
1.0M Tris (pH 6.8)	-	630 ul
10% SDS	100 ul	50 ul
10% APS	100 ul	50 ul
TEMED	8 ul	5 ul

Table 5. Recipes for western blot gels

A buffer for transfer was prepared from 10X Transfer buffer (25mM Tris, 190 mM glycine) diluted to 1X in H_2O with the addition of 20% methanol and 0.5% SDS. Whatmann filter paper and sponges were wet in the buffer prior to the transfer onto a Nitrocellulose Pure Transfer membrane (Santa Cruz, sc-3724). Transfers were run at 200 mA (per membrane) for 180 minutes in chilled transfer chamber.

The membrane was blocked for one hour at RT in blocking buffer composed of 5% skimmed milk powder dissolved in PBS and then rinsed three times with PBST, 5 minutes each. Primary antibodies were diluted in blocking buffer (see **Table 6**), added to membrane and left at 4°C O/N. The membrane was then washed 3 times for 5 minutes in PBST on shaker before secondary antibodies were added (diluted in blocking buffer, **Table 6**) for one hour on shaker. This was followed by 3 washes for 5 minutes in PBST and finally with ddH₂O. The membrane was drained of excess liquid before adding Western Blotting Luminol Reagent (Santa Cruz, sc-2048) for 1 minute, the membrane was kept in the dark during this time. The membrane was imaged using the Biorad Universal Hood II Gel Doc System and Image Lab Software, taking an image every 30 seconds for 15 minutes.

Antibody	Manufacturer	Catalog no.	Source	Dilution
BRCA2	Calbiochem/Merck	OP95	Mouse	1:250
SMC1	Abcam	Ab9262	Rabbit	1:5000
°2	SantaCruzBiotechnology	sc-2096	Mouse	1:10000
°2	SantaCruzBiotechnology	sc-2313	Rabbit	1:10000

Table 6. Antibodies used for western blot

3.7 Mutational analysis with targeted Sanger sequencing

Tumor samples were screened for germline mutations known to be prevalent in the Icelandic population and linked to breast and ovarian cancers; *BRCA1*^{G5193A}, *BRCA2*^{999del5} and *BRIP1*^{2040_2041insTT}, and to detect wild type allele loss at these loci. PCR primers were designed with the Primer 3 Plus software (Untergasser et al., 2007) to amplify short stretches, PCR products <200 bp, suitable for DNA isolated from paraffin (**Table 7**). The PCR reaction was as described in chapter 3.5.5 with the adjustments of higher concentration of dNTPs and longer annealing time; 1X final concentration of 10X*Taq* standard buffer (NEB M0273L), 400 µM dNTP (NEB, N0447S), 0.2 µM of each primer, 1.25 U of *Taq* polymerase (NEB M0273L) and 1 µl of sample, with nuclease free H₂O to a final volume of 12 µl. Cycling conditions were as follows; incubation at 95°C for 10 minutes, then 40 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, variable°C for 1 minute and 72°C for 30 seconds, and finally 72°C for 10 minutes.

Target gene	Germline mutation	Sequence (5'-3')	Annea- ling T (°C)	Ampli- con size (bp)
	q.999del5	*F: AATTTTTGCAGAATGTGAAAAGC		
BRCA2 c.767_771delCA AAT		R: AAAACCTGTAGTTCAACTAAACAG	58	156
		*F: CAAAGTGCTGCGATTACAGG		
BRCA1	c.5193G>A	R: GTTTGCCAGAAAACACCACA	62	169
	c.2040 2041ins	F: TGGCAAGAAACACAAAATTCC		
BRIP1	TT	*R: GGTTTGGGTTGGTACCATTG	62	154

Table 7	PCR	nrimers	for am	nlification	and	Sanger s	equencina
Table 1.	1 01	primera	ior am	philoadon	anu	oanger a	equencing

*Sequencing primers labelled with an asterisk

Clean-up of PCR products before Sanger sequencing was performed by adding 1 μ I USB[®] Shrimp Alkaline Phosphatase (Affymetrix, 70092X) and 0.1 μ I Exonuclease I (NEB, M0293S) per 10 μ I of PCR product and incubate at 37°C for 30 minutes followed by heat inactivation at 75°C for 15 minutes.

Cycle sequencing reactions were performed on MJ Research PTC-225 thermal cyclers, using the Big Dye Terminator Cycle Sequencing Kit v3.1 (Life Technologies). PCR primers were also used as sequencing primers (labelled with asterisk in **Table 7**). Sequencing products were loaded onto the 3730 XL Genetic Analyser (Applied Biosystems) and results on ab1. format analyzed in Benchling, an online sequencing analysis software (https://benchling.com).

Loss of heterozygosity (LOH) in tumors was estimated based on peak height of wild type and mutated alleles, measured in Chromas (free program supplied by Technelysium Pty Ltd). Tumors were classified as having LOH if the wild type allele proportion was less than 40% of the total combined peak heights for wild type and mutant alleles. Previous *BRCA2* LOH measurements on FBC samples were performed by TaqMan allele-specific qPCR as described in (Aradottir et al., 2015; Skoulidis et al., 2010; Stefansson et al., 2011a).

3.8 Statistical analysis

All statistical analysis was carried out using R (CRAN). Statistical analysis for TL measurements in blood is described in paper I. Statistical methods for other experiments are outlined in respective chapters. Generally, differences between two categorical variables were examined the Chi-squared test or the Fisher's exact test. Independent groups of numerical variables were compared with the student's t-test or Mann-Whitney test. Comparisons of more than two groups were carried out using one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) or a Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by appropriate post-hoc tests. Correlations between two numerical variables were studied using Spearman's correlation and linear regression analysis. Survival analyses were performed with Kaplan-Meier with log-rank hypothesis testing and multivariate Cox proportional hazards models.

4 Results

4.1 Telomere length measurements in blood

In the first part of the project, telomere length (TL) was measured in DNA isolated from whole blood from $BRCA2^{999del5}$ mutation carriers (n = 169), sporadic breast cancer patients (n = 561) and healthy controls (n = 537). The association between TL and *BRCA2* mutation status, breast cancer risk, onset of breast cancer (age at diagnosis) and breast cancer specific survival was assessed. Here, I will outline the main results from Paper I, entitled "Telomere length is predictive of breast cancer risk in *BRCA2* mutation carriers", and present additional unpublished data.

4.1.1 Characteristics of the study group (Paper I)

Summary statistics for the study group are described in **Table 8**. Some participants had been diagnosed with breast cancer before blood sampling, while others were diagnosed during follow-up.

	Noncarriers		BRCA2 mutation carrier	
	Unaffected	Affected	Unaffected	Affected
N	537	561	68	101
Age at blood draw (mean, SE)	49.9 (0.9)	59.8 (0.6)	42.4 (1.5)	53.8 (1.3)
Sample acquisition time (n)				
Before breast cancer diagnosis	-	76	-	18
After breast cancer diagnosis	-	485	-	83
Age at breast cancer diagnosis (mean, SE)	-	52.7 (0.5)	-	49.7 (1.1)
Follow-up time to breast cancer diagnosis in years (mean, SE)	13.3 (0.1)	7.5 (0.4)	13.7 (0.8)	7.7 (0.9)
Survival follow-up time in years (mean, SE)	-	19.2 (0.5)	-	15.5 (0.9)

Table 8. Summary statistics for the study group for blood TL measurements

TL is known to shorten with increased age. The association of TL with age at blood draw was evaluated in an evenly age-distributed control group (n = 537). The control group was defined as women not carrying a *BRCA* mutation who were cancer-free at the time of study. The expected negative association between age and TL was observed ($p = 1.27 \times 10^{-8}$, **Figure 8**). All TL measurements were subsequently adjusted for age at blood sampling using the line of best fit for controls.



Figure 8. Age-related telomere shortening. Association between relative TL of the control group (n=537) and age age at blood draw.

4.1.2 *BRCA2* mutation status in association with blood telomere length (Paper I)

Breast cancer affected women had significantly shorter TL than unaffected women (student's t-test, p < 0.0001), both in *BRCA2* mutation carriers (p = 0.0097, **Figure 9A**) and non-carriers (p = 0.00006, **Figure 9B**).



Figure 9. Comparison of blood TL between breast cancer affected and nonaffected women in A) *BRCA2* mutation carriers B) and non-carriers. Data represented through boxplots showing the median and interquartile distance for each group. All TL values have been age-adjusted. The p-values shown on the figure were derived from the Student t test.

No significant differences were found in TL between *BRCA2* mutation carriers and non-carriers who were unaffected by breast cancer (student's t-test, p = 0.22 **Figure 10A**), Stratifying the study group based on sample acquisition time relative to breast cancer diagnosis and exclusively focusing on women who were cancer free at the time of blood extraction but were later affected by breast cancer, no statistically significant difference in TL was found between *BRCA2* mutation carriers and non-carriers (p = 0.31, **Figure 10B**). However, *BRCA2* mutation carriers were shown to have significantly shorter TL than non-carriers (p = 0.01, **Figure 10C**) when comparing women who had already been diagnosed with breast cancer at the time of blood sampling.



Figure 10. Comparison of TL between *BRCA2* mutation carriers and noncarriers, stratified by time of blood sampling with regards to breast cancer diagnosis. A) Non-affected women B) women sampled before breast cancer diagnosis and C) women sampled after breast cancer diagnosis. Data represented through box-plots showing the median and interquartile distance for each group. All TL values have been age-adjusted. The p-values shown on the figure were derived from the Student t-test.

4.1.3 Telomere length in blood is a modifier of breast cancer risk in *BRCA2* mutation carriers (Paper I)

In a multivariate Cox proportional hazards regression model for time to breast cancer diagnosis analyzed with respect to TL, we found shorter TL to be significantly associated with increased risk for developing breast cancer in the *BRCA2* mutation carrier group (HR, 3.60; 95% CI, 1.17–11.28; p =0.025, **Figure 11A**) but not among non-carriers (HR, 1.40; 95% CI, 0.89–2.22, p = 0.15; **Figure 11B**).


Figure 11. Breast cancer-specific cumulative incidence according to analysis of TL. A) BRCA2 mutation carriers (n = 86) and B) noncarriers (n = 613). The p-values shown on the figure were derived from log-rank hypothesis testing for differences in times to breast cancer diagnosis between groups; that is, long and short TL (divided around the median). Cox proportional hazards model corrected for the year and age at blood sampling; BRCA2 mutation carriers (HR, 3.60; 95% CI, 1.17–11.28; P= 0.025) and noncarriers (HR, 1.40; 95% CI, 0.89–2.22; P= 0.15)

4.1.4 Blood telomere length shows no association with breast cancer prognosis (Paper I)

No significant associations were found between TL and breast cancer– specific survival in this study group, independent of *BRCA2* mutation status and time of blood sampling with regards to breast cancer diagnosis (**Table 9**).

Table 9. Breast cancer-specifi	c survival analysis	according to	blood T	L in	BRCA2
mutatin carriers and non-carrier	S				

	ı	Inivariate		м	lultivariate ^a	
	HR (95% CI)	P	n	HR (95% CI)	Ρ	п
BRCA2	1.02 (0.44-2.36)	0.96	101	1.03 (0.38-2.81)	0.95	83
Sporadic	0.92 (0.60-1.43)	0.72	561	0.96 (0.57-1.62)	0.88	400
Sporadic	0.92 (0.60-1.43)	0.72	561	0.96 (0.57-1.62)	0.88	

NOTE: Breast cancer-specific survival analyses using Cox proportional hazard models according to blood TL divided into groups of shorter and longer TL around the median. Associations are presented as HR for short TL with 95% CI.

^aAnalyses adjusted for age and year at breast cancer diagnosis, sample acquisition timing, ER and Ki67 receptor status.

4.1.5 Discrepancies in blood telomere length over time periods

In the original study group for this part of the project were all available archived DNA samples from blood collected over a long time period at the Cancer Research Laboratory in collaboration with the Icelandic Cancer Society and Landspitali University Hospital. Most of the samples were acquired as a part of a large-scale sample acquisition starting in 1998 and all of those samples were treated in the exact same manner from blood draw to storage and DNA extraction (using phenol-chloroform/proteinase K DNA isolation method on whole blood). Before that time, some DNA was isolated from whole blood while the rest was isolated from granulocytes (after removal of lymphocytes for storage). During data analysis, an observation was made that there was a difference in average telomere length between samples acquired before (longer TL) and after (shorter TL) the year of 1998 (**Figure 12**).





These observations are in concordance with previously published results on telomere length in different cell types in blood, i.e. lymphocytes having shorter telomeres than other blood cell types of the myeloid lineage (Weng, 2001). It would therefore be expected that DNA isolated from whole blood (including lymphocytes) would show shorter TL than DNA isolated from granulocytes only.

As a proof of principle, we validated this finding by drawing new blood samples from 23 individuals and performed paired TL analyses on DNA isolated from both whole blood, granulocytes and lymphocytes from the same individual. The results indeed showed that lymphocytes had the shortest telomere length, followed by whole blood and granulocytes having the longest telomeres (**Figure 13**).



Figure 13. Telomere length in different cell types in blood. Paired TL analyses on DNA isolated from whole blood, granulocytes and lymphocytes from the same individual (n=23), p-values derived from paired Student's t-test. Comparison between whole blood and lymhocytes = ns.

As reliable information on the cell population of origin for DNA extraction was not available for all samples, the study group was consequently censored to only include samples acquired after 1998 in the final analysis, thereby guaranteeing identical sample preparation (Paper I).

4.2 Studying telomere length and dysfunction in normal breast tissue

The aim for the next part of the project was to measure TL and assess telomere dysfunction on paraffin embedded tissue samples from breast tumors (n = 450) and adjacent normal tissue (n = 180) in relation to *BRCA2* mutation status and cancer clinical outcomes. The study group consisted of breast cancer patients carrying the *BRCA2*^{999del5} Icelandic founder mutation and sporadic cases, matched on age and year of diagnosis.

Telomere length was assessed with Q-FISH and IF staining for 53BP1 used as a marker for DNA DSBs. TIFs were identified where co-localization of telomere and 53BP1 signals occurred. Fluorescent staining of paraffin embedded tissue can be problematic as a result of its innate autofluorescence masking the staining signal. That was the case with the TMAs stained in this study which were extremely autofluorescent, making identification and quantification of TL staining signals impossible. These images were subsequently not analysed. We continued with the normal tissue which did not show autofluorescence to the same extent and managed to get reliable TL measurements from 78% of the samples (n = 141/180).

4.2.1 Telomere length and levels of DNA damage differ between cell types in normal breast tissue

Normal breast tissue is composed of a branching ducto-lobular system of two epithelial cell layers, an inner layer of luminal epithelial cells (LECs) and outer layer of myoepithelial cells (MECs). Many cell types are then found in the surrounding stroma, including fibroblasts (FBs). We observed visible differences with regards to telomere length and DNA damage between cell types in normal breast tissue, with LECs having the shortest TL and highest amount of DSBs. To confirm this, 20 samples (10 from *BRCA2* mutation carriers and 10 from non-carriers) were selected and quantitatively analyzed in CellProfiler (**Figure 14**). LECs had the shortest average TL, followed by MEC and FBs had the longest telomeres (p < 0.0001, Kruskal-Wallis followed by Dunn's test for multiple comparisons, **Figure 14B**). TL correlated between cell-types within individuals (**Figure 14C**). LECs had higher levels of DNA damage than both MECs and FBs, measured by the number of 53BP1 foci (p <0.001, one-way ANOVA, **Figure 15**). No difference was detected in the number of TIFs between cell types in normal breast tissue.



Figure 14. Q-FISH TL measurements of different cell types in normal breast tissue. A) Representative image of Q-FISH staining of normal breast tissue: luminal cells, myoepithelial cells and surrounding fibroblasts. Telomeres stained with a Cy3-labeled telomere-specific PNA probe (red), centromeres stained with a Cy5 PNA probe (omitted for clarity) and DNA stained with DAPI (blue). B) TL measurements in different cell types of the normal breast derived from Q-FISH staining. Telomere and centromere foci were counted and quantified using CellProfiler; integrated intensities of individual telomere foci per nucleus were corrected for the mean centromere foci integrated intensity value for that nucleus. Analysis of 20 cases examined is shown, more than 100 nuclei of each cell type were analyzed per case. Significant differences were seen in TL between cell types (p<0.0001, derived from Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test) with TL decreasing in the order fibroblasts > myoepithelial cells > luminal epithelial cells. C) High correlation of TL was found among the 3 cell types within each individual (*BRCA2* mutation carriers presented in pink and non-carriers in blue), p-values derived from Spearman's correlation test.



Figure 15. 53BP1 foci and TIFs in different cell types in normal breast tissue. A) Normal breast tissue stained for the double strand break marker 53BP1 (green), cy3 telomere-specific PNA probe (red) and DNA stained with DAPI (blue). B) Enlarged sections of the images from A), luminal cells (white asterisk) and myoepithelial cells (red asterisk). C) Number of DNA DSB foci (53BP1) and TIFs in luminal epithelial cells (LEC), myoepithelial cells (MEC) and fibroblasts (FB) in normal breast tissue. Analysis of 20 cases examined is shown, more than 100 nuclei of each cell type were analyzed per sample. TIFs identified where co-localization of telomere and 53BP1 signals occurs, represented as the percentage of TIFs per telomere per nucleus to correct for variable number of telomere foci between nuclei. p-values derived from one-way ANOVA.

4.2.2 Shorter TL in normal breast tissue is correlated with younger age at breast cancer diagnosis in *BRCA2* mutation carriers

Based on the differences observed in TL and DNA damage between cell layers it is necessary to separate them for following analysis. It was therefore decided to focus on the LECs based on the fact that most breast tumors originate from this cell layer. No significant differences in TL were seen between the *BRCA2* mutation carrier group and non-carriers, neither in median TL (p = 0.81, Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test) nor TL variability (p = 0.48, Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test) (Figure 16). However, a significant correlation between shorter TL and earlier age at breast cancer diagnosis was observed within the *BRCA2* mutation carriers (p = 0.38, Spearman's correlation) but not among non-carriers (p = 0.38, Spearman's correlation) (Figure 17). Of note, the TL measurements in tissue samples have not been age-corrected due to lack of a control group.



Figure 16. Luminal epithelial cell TL measurements. Comparison between *BRCA2* mutation carriers (n = 72) and non-carriers (n = 69) in A) median luminal epithelial cell TL and B) TL variability measured as Median Absolute Deviation (MAD). p-values derived from Wilcoxon rank-sum test.



Figure 17. Correlation between normal breast luminal epithelial cell TL and age at breast cancer diagnosis. *BRCA2* mutation carriers (n = 72) (above) and non-carriers (n = 69) (below). p-values derived from Spearman's correlation test.

4.2.3 High levels of DNA damage in non-malignant breast tissue cells

When staining for 53BP1 in cells from culture, distinct foci are expected where DNA DSBs occur. In similar staining on paraffin embedded tissue sections, this is not always the case, instead of the distinct foci, a pan-nuclear signal is often observed (**Figure 18**). Therefore, counting of DNA damage foci and co-localization analysis of telomeres and 53BP foci is problematic and often not representative of the levels of DNA damage. Similarly, it is difficult to count the number of foci in a reliable manner between samples.



Figure 18. 53BP1 staining patterns in paraffin embedded normal breast tissue sections.

To try to circumvent this problem, a subset of 60 normal breast tissue samples were scored for the level of 53BP1 staining using a simplified scoring system of low, moderate and high staining signal intensity (**Figure 19**). The results show no differences in levels of DNA damage between *BRCA2* mutation carriers and non-carriers and no correlation with TL or age at diagnosis.



Figure 19. Levels of DNA damage in normal breast LECs. A) Representative images of a simplified scoring system for levels of DNA damage (53BP1 staining, green). B) Levels of DNA damage in LECs between *BRCA2* mutation carriers and non-carriers. C) Association between age at diagnosis and DNA damage in normal tissue. C) Comparisons of levels of DNA damage and TL in *BRCA2* mutation carriers and non-carriers.

4.2.4 TL in normal tissue shows no association BRCA2 wt LOH in the tumor

Previous data was available on wt LOH percentage in breast tumors for 52 *BRCA2* mutation carriers (discussed in detail in chapter 4.4.1) of which 33 overlapped with the group in this study. We tested the theory whether TL in tumor-adjacent normal tissue correlated with the presence/absence of BRCA2 wt LOH in the tumor and found no such association (**Figure 20**).



Figure 20. Association between normal tissue TL and *BRCA2* LOH in adjacent breast tumor. A) Correlation between TL length in normal breast tissue LECs and *BRCA2* wt percentage in the breast tumor. P-value derived from Spearman's correlation test. B) Normal tissue LEC telomere length compared based on whether the adjacent breast tumor had *BRCA2* wt LOH. P-value derived from Wilcoxon rank-sum test.

4.3 Generation of *BRCA2*^{999del5} cell line model using CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing technology

Results from our laboratory have shown that *BRCA2*^{+/-} lymphocyte cell lines (various mutations) show marked increase in telomere abnormalities compared to wt cell lines (Hörður Bjarnason Master's Thesis, University of Iceland 2015). Additionally, normal breast epithelial cell lines heterozygous for the *BRCA2*^{999del/5} mutation, show a high number of TIFs and other telomere abnormalities compared to a *BRCA2*^{wt} cell line, MCF10A (Bodvarsdottir et al., 2012). Earlier results from these cell lines indicate competent, yet decreased HR ability in *BRCA2*^{+/-} cells (Stefán Hermanowicz Master's thesis, University of Iceland 2015). These results suggest haploinsufficiency with regards to BRCA2 function in heterozygous breast epithelial cells.

A good experimental research model is of vital importance for the quality and reliability of a functional study. Previous cell-line studies on BRCA2 in our lab and others have frequently lacked proper controls, often comparing results from different cell lines which can have very different genetic profiles. With the emergence of the CRISPR/Cas9 genetic editing technology, stable cell lines with a desired mutation can now be generated in a more controlled and potentially easier manner than before. Using this approach makes it possible to generate stable *BRCA2* wild type, heterozygous and homozygous mutated cell lines derived from the same parental cell line (isogenic), thus eliminating inaccurate findings due to cell line discrepancies. A logical next step in the project was therefore to establish an isogenic cell line model for the Icelandic *BRCA2*^{999de/5} mutation, constituting of *BRCA2*^{+/+}, *BRCA2*^{999de/5/+} and *BRCA2*^{999de/5/999de/5} cell lines of the same origin, using the CRISPR/Cas9 genetic editing system. Once established, the cell lines would be used as an experimental model to study BRCA2 haploinsufficiency with regards to telomere maintenance, DNA double strand break (DSB) repair and stalled replication fork stabilization.

4.3.1 CRISPR/Cas9 genomic editing in breast epithelial cell lines

Based on my previous results from measurements of telomere length and DNA damage in normal breast tissue, the LEC layer showed the most abnormalities. It was therefore decided to focus on normal breast epithelial cells for this part of the project.

The original plan was to use primary normal epithelial breast cell lines derived from Icelandic *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers, A176 and A240 (Rubner Fridriksdottir et al., 2005), utilizing HDR CRISPR/Cas9 for both a knock-in, reintroducing the five-base-pairs into the non-functional allele restoring function, and knock-out of the remaining wt allele creating a double knock-out. These cell lines however proved ill-suited for CRISPR/Cas9 editing due to being sensitive to growth conditions and not growing well as single-cell clones. Even if not impossible, the slow-growing nature of these cell lines is likely to lead to very low HDR rates, as indicated by no observed HDR events in the clones analyzed.

We then switched to MCF10A, a near-diploid commercial epithelial breast cell line with no BRCA2 mutations. MCF10A is the most commonly used model for normal breast epithelial cells in functional breast cancer studies, it is spontaneously immortalized from fibrocystic breast disease (Soule et al., 1990). No positive clones with ssDNA oligo insertion and the 999del5 mutation were obtained in MCF10A, indicating very low CRISPR HDR efficiency. Without inhibiting the NHEJ pathway, editing events were however detected in 38.5% of clones analyzed. Using this approach, two clones were obtained with heterozygous mutations in BRCA2 causing the same truncating stop codon as the 999del5 mutation. In both cases, a 2bp deletion had occurred around the Cas9-induced break-site (Figure 21B), 20-21 bp downstream of the 999del5 mutation locus. This causes a frameshift leading to a prematurely truncated protein product of 273 amino acids, with the last 10 out of frame (Figure 22). The *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation leads to a truncated protein product of 272 amino acids with the last 16 out of frame. Additionally, a knock-out (KO) clone was obtained with a 2bp deletion of both alleles along with a point mutation of A or G to a T around the break site (**Figure 21C**), resulting in the same 273 amino acid truncated protein product. These cells should be functionally and phenotypically identical to cells carrying the *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation, in particular since the mutated protein product is not detectable and most likely subject to nonsense-mediated decay (Mikaelsdottir et al., 2004). In addition to the edited clones, three wt cell lines were established for control purposes.



Figure 21. CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing of *BRCA2* in MCF10A cells. A) Sanger sequencing of *wt BRCA2* around the guideRNA recognition sequence, represented by black horizontal underline. Dotted red horizontal underline is the PAM site. Vertical dotted line represents the expected Cas9 cut site. B) Clone with a heterozygous 2bp deletion around the cut-site. C) Clone with a 2bp deletion on both alleles around the cut-site. Alignments and images obtained using the ICE SYNTHEGO online CRISPR analysis tool.



Figure 22. BRCA2 protein product after genome editing. Schematic representation of wt BRCA2 amino acid sequence (top), the BRCA2^{999del5} truncated protein product (middle) and predicted protein product of a CRISPR/Cas9 edited clone line with 2bp deletion around the cut site, leading to the same stop codon.

Unfortunately, the MCF10A^{BRCA2KO} clone quickly died and the established MCF10A^{BRCA2_het} CRISPR cell lines had very slow growth rates and showed morphological signs of senescence (**Figure 23**). It was therefor decided to switch to yet another cell line, HeLa Kyoto, since it had been successfully used for *BRCA2* HDR CRISPR at the time (Tan et al., 2017) and is easy to work with.



MCF10ABRCA2_het

MCF10ABRCA2_het

MCF10ABRCA2_wt

Figure 23. Morphological signs of senescence in MCF10A heterozygous BRCA2 CRISPR cell lines.

4.3.1.1 Generation of HeLa BRCA2 KO model

Using the experimental setup described in chapter 3.5 above, ~10% of analyzed clones showed signs of ssDNA oligo incorporation, identifiable by silent mutations in the ssDNA oligo, resulting in a BstNI restriction site (Figure 24A&B and Figure 7). However, in most cases the ssDNA oligo incorporation did not extend to the 5 base pair deletion 17-21 bases upstream from the expected Cas9 cut-site of the wt (example in Figure 24D). Two clones with heterozygous insertion of the *999del5* mutation had NHEJ events on the other allele and were therefore non-usable. One clone was obtained that had homozygous insertion of the *999del5* mutation (Figure 24E) but it turned out to be non-viable.

As a contingency plan, the same CRISPR genome editing process was performed without blocking the NHEJ pathway. In the same manner as described for MCF10A above, clones with editing events causing the same stop codon as the 999del5 mutation, or closely downstream, were obtained in HeLa cells (Figure 25). Two heterozygous clones were established into cell lines, one with a 5bp deletion around the Cas9 cut-site causing a truncated protein product of 272 amino acids as described above, and another with a heterozygous 2bp insertion leading to a frameshift and a truncated 276 amino acid protein product, the last 14 out of frame (Figure 25B). Two homozygous KO clones were established into cell lines, one with a 2bp deletion on both alleles and the another with a 2bp deletion on one allele and 5bp deletion on the other, all leading to the same protein truncation. Additionally, three clones without modifications, as well as two null clones not transfected with the gRNA plasmid, were established into cell lines as wt controls. The gRNA used had described off-targets. The established clones were screened for the top four highest scoring off-target sites within genes and did not have any editing events.



Figure 24. Insertion of *BRCA2*^{999del5} via CRSIPR/Cas9 editing with ssDNA oligo. A) ssDNA oligo design for incorporation of the *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation and the original wt sequence B) Restriction enzymatic digestion with BstNI showing heterozygous (red asterisk) and homozygous (blue asterisk) incorporation of restriction site C) Sanger sequencing of wt *BRCA2* around the gRNA recognition sequence, represented by black horizontal underline. Dotted red horizontal underline is the PAM site. D) Partial insertion of oligo, including silent mutations around the Cas9 cut site (vertical dotted line) but not reaching to the 999del5 mutation. E) Sanger sequencing of a clone with homozygous incorporation of the ssDNA oligo reaching the 999del5 mutation.



Figure 25. CRISPR/Cas9 editing of *BRCA2* in HeLa Kyoto. A) Sanger sequencing of *wt BRCA2* around the guideRNA recognition sequence, represented by black horizontal underline. Dotted red horizontal underline is the PAM site. Vertical dotted line represents the expected Cas9 cut site. B) Clone with a heterozygous 2bp insertion around the cut-site (top) and predicted truncated protein product of 276 amino acids compared to the wt sequence (below) C) Clone with a heterozygous 5bp deletion around the cut-site D) Clone with a 2bp deletion on both alleles around the cut-site. E) Clone with a 2bp deletion and one allele and 5bp deletion on the other allele. Alignments and images obtained using the ICE SYNTHEGO online CRISPR analysis tool.

4.3.1.2 Validation of loss of BRCA2 expression

Preliminary analysis of BRCA2 protein expression by western blot indicates loss of expression in the two HeLa^{*BRCA2_KO*} cell lines (**Figure 26**). Expression levels in the heterozygous cell lines remain to be repeated and further validated.



Figure 26. BRCA2 protein expression in HeLa BRCA2 KO and heterozygous CRISPR cell lines. SMC1 used as loading control.

4.4 Loss of heterozygosity in tumors from *BRCA1/2* and *BRIP1* germline mutation carriers in the Icelandic population

Retention of the wild type (wt) *BRCA2* allele in tumors is an important research topic for understanding tumor formation and progression as well as predicting treatment response in mutation carriers. A subset of female breast tumors from *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers have previously been examined for LOH (Arason et al., 1998; Bodvarsdottir et al., 2012; Davies et al., 2017; Nik-Zainal et al., 2016; Stefansson et al., 2011a), as well as pancreatic tumor samples (Skoulidis et al., 2010) but other tumor types have not been studied in detail. Here, I present validation of the previous results on female breast cancer samples and new analyses of male breast cancer and ovarian cancer cases from mutation carriers of the three most prominent mutations linked to HBOC syndrome in the Icelandic population, namely *BRCA1*^{G5193A}, *BRCA2*^{999del5} and *BRIP1*^{2040_2041insTT}.

Of note, the male breast cancer and ovarian cancer cohorts described here are both a part of recently started larger collaborative efforts focusing on extensive mutational and epigenetic analysis of these tumors in relation to cancer treatment and various clinical factors. As these projects are ongoing, sample analysis and data gathering are in different stages of completion. Of relevance to the thesis topic, the targeted mutational analysis will be covered here and linked to the currently available clinical data. Other aspects of these projects will not be covered in detail in this thesis.

4.4.1 Re-analysis of *BRCA1/2* LOH in female breast cancer patients

Breast tumor DNA samples from 30 women known to carry the *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation were available and analyzed for locus specific LOH using targeted Sanger sequencing (**Figure 27**). Tumors with wild-type allele frequency below 40% were classified as having LOH. Out of 30 tumors analyzed, 17 had LOH at this locus (56.7%).



Figure 27. Targeted Sanger sequencing over the *BRCA2*^{999del5} locus. A) Wild type *BRCA2* sequence. B) Heterozygous *BRCA2*^{999del5} sequence C) partial LOH and D) complete LOH over the *BRCA2*^{999del5} locus.

Breast tumors from 52 female *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers had previously been analyzed for LOH using TaqMan allele-specific quantitative PCR (Aradottir et al., 2015). Of those, 52% (n = 27/52) were classified as having LOH using the criteria of less than 35% of normal allele retained. These results have been validated for a subset of 32 tumors in aCGH analysis (Stefansson et al., 2011a). For method validation purposes, estimates of wt allele proportion in the 30 tumor samples analyzed with Sanger sequencing above and Taqman qPCR allelotyping were compared (**Figure 28**) and shown to significantly correlate (Pearson correlation r = 0.797, p < 0.0001). Analysis of clinical parameters in relation to LOH for these female breast tumors has been described by others (Aradottir et al., 2015; Stefansson et al., 2011a).



Figure 28. Correlation between LOH estimates in female breast tumor samples with Taqman qPCR allelotyping and targeted Sanger sequencing.

Breast tumor samples from 3 women carrying the *BRCA1*^{G5193A} mutation were available and analyzed for locus specific LOH (**Figure 29**), all displayed partial loss of the wild type allele and classified as having LOH (100%). Screening of the *BRIP1*^{2040_2041insTT} mutation has not been performed for samples from female breast tumors available at the University of Iceland Cancer Research Laboratory.



Figure 29. Targeted Sanger sequencing over the *BRCA1*^{G5193A} locus. A) Wild type *BRCA1* sequence. B) heterozygous *BRCA1*^{G5193A} mutation carrier C) LOH over the *BRCA1*^{G5193A} locus

4.4.2 Screening for the *BRCA2*^{999de/5} mutation in male breast cancer patients

A total of 82 men have been diagnosed with invasive breast cancer (C50.9) in Iceland since recording began at the Icelandic Cancer Registry in 1955 and through 2018. Few cases are diagnosed annually (**Figure 30A**), averaging in 3 cases per year in the last ten years, 2009-2018. The mean age at diagnosis was 66.8 years (range 44-91 years) (**Figure 30B**).



Figure 30. Overview of the male breast cancer cohort. A) Year of diagnosis. B) Age at diagnosis

Samples from 78 men were available for analysis. The *BRCA2*^{999del5} germline mutation is present in 32% of male breast cancer patients in Iceland (n = 25/78). Complete or partial LOH of the wt allele was seen in 88% of tumors (n = 22/25). Two men, cases 16 and 73, had asynchronous bilateral breast cancer (distinct primary breast cancers in each breast separated by > 5 years). Both were carriers of the *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation and all four breast tumors displayed partial or complete LOH of the *BRCA2* wild type allele.

4.4.2.1 Other germline mutations detected in the male breast cancer cohort

The *BRCA1*^{G5193A} germline mutation was not detected in any patient. Two men carried the *BRIP1*^{2040_2041insTT} germline mutation (general overview of *BRIP1* sequencing in **Figure 31**), cases 16 and 52. Both of them also carried the *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation and had retained the *BRIP1* wt allele while losing the *BRCA2* wt allele in the tumor. Case 16 had bilateral breast cancer in which this was the case for both tumors.



Figure 31. Targeted Sanger sequencing over the $BRIP1^{2040_{-}2041insTT}$ locus. A) Wild type BRIP1 sequence. B) heterozygous $BRIP1^{2040_{-}2041insTT}$ mutation carrier C) Partial and D) complete LOH over the $BRIP1^{2040_{-}2041insTT}$ locus.

4.4.2.2 Clinical implications – male breast cancer cohort

An overview and comparison of available data on clinical characteristics between non-carriers and *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers in the MBC cohort is shown in **Table 10**. The average age at breast cancer diagnosis among male *BRCA2* mutation carriers was 64.5 years compared to 67.7 years for non-carriers (p = 0.20, two-tailed student's t-test).

Ten men had a previous cancer diagnosis to their breast cancer diagnosis, thereof three with prostate cancer, while 12 patients had been diagnosed with another cancer after their breast cancer, thereof 6 with prostate cancer. In total, 9 men were diagnosed with prostate cancer in addition to their breast cancer diagnosis, of whom 5 carried the *BRCA2*^{999/de/5} mutation (**Table 10**). No significant difference was detected in the proportion of *BRCA2* mutation carriers with more than one cancer diagnosis compared to non-carriers (40% and 19% respectively, p = 0.06, Fisher's exact test), or when testing for prostate cancer in particular (20% and 8%, p = 0.14, Fisher's exact test).

	Total	Non-carriers	BRCA2999del5 mutation carriers
Number of cases (%)	78	53 (68%)*	25 (32%)*
Tumor histology (%)			
Infiltrating ductal carcinoma	62 (80%)	43 (81%)	19 (76%)
Papillary adenocarcinoma	4 (5%)	4 (8%)	-
Other [†]	12 (15%)	6 (11%)	6 (24%)
Average age at diagnosis (range)	66.7 (42-91)	67.7 (42-91)	64.5 (46-80)
Breast tumor classification (%)			
First cancer diagnosis	68 (87%)	47 (89%)	21 (84%)
Second cancer diagnosis	10 (13%)	6 (11%)	4 (16%)
Bilateral breast cancer (%)	2 (2.5%)	-	2 (8%)
Other cancer diagnosis (%)	20 (26%)	10 (19%)	10 (40%)
Prostate cancer	9 (12%)	4 (8%)	5 (20%)
Median follow-up time in years [‡] (range)	12.7 (0.08-28.5)	15.9 (0.08-28.5)	10.7 (0.7-27.9)
Median survival time in years§ (95% CI)			
Overall survival	7.8 (5.7-13.1)	6.8 (4.7-13.1)	8.8 (5.9-NA)
Breast cancer specific survival	NR (7.8-NA)	13.1 (7.32-NA)	NR (6.53-NA)

 Table 10. Clinical characteristics of available male breast cancer cases. Comparison between BRCA2999del5 mutation carriers and non-carriers.

*Percentages are of total number of cases

†Includes adenocarcinoma not otherwise specified

‡Reversed Kaplan-Meier estimate

§Kaplan-Meier estimate. Median survival time is NR (not reported) if survival remains above 50%

No significant difference in 10-year overall (Figure 32A) or breast cancer specific survival (Figure 32B) was detected between male breast cancer patients carrying the BRCA2^{999del5} germline mutation and non-carriers (multivariate Cox proportional hazards model corrected for age and year at diagnosis, overall survival, HR: 0.59, 95% CI 0.29-1.21, p = 0.15, and breast cancer specific survival, HR: 0.49, 95% CI 0.18-1.34, p = 0.16). Similarly, no significant difference in 10-year survival (Figure 32C) or breast cancer specific survival (Figure 32D) was observed when comparing tumors with BRCA2 LOH to carriers with no LOH and non-carriers in a multivariate Cox proportional hazards model after correcting for age and year at diagnosis (overall survival, HR: 0.70, 95% CI 0.34-1.44, p = 0.34 and breast cancer specific survival, HR: 0.74, 95% CI 0.29-1.89, p = 0.52). Focusing specifically on primary breast tumors or correcting for other cancer diagnoses did not change the results (data not shown). Clinical data on pathological tumor characteristics and cancer treatment is not available for the whole cohort at the time of writing.



Figure 32. 10-year overall- and breast cancer specific survival in male breast cancer according to BRCA2 mutation status (A and C) and tumor LOH (B and D). P-values shown are derived from log-rank comparisons of survival proportions. Multivariate Cox proportional hazards models corrected for year and age at diagnosis: A) HR: 0.59, 95% CI 0.29-1.21, p = 0.15. B) HR: 0.49, 95% CI 0.18-1.34, p = 0.16. C) HR: 0.70, 95% CI 0.34-1.44, p = 0.34 and D) HR: 0.74, 95% CI 0.29-1.89, p = 0.52. Data on breast cancer specific survival was not available for two patients.

4.4.3 Ovarian cancer cohort

A total of 488 cases of ovarian (C56*), peritoneal (C48.1, C48.2) and fallopian tube (C57*) cancer were diagnosed in Iceland during the 15-year period 1999-2013. Of those, 127 had borderline malignancy and were not included in the study. 361 cases were invasive carcinomas of ovarian (n = 273), peritoneal (n = 73) and fallopian tube (n = 15) cancer, averaging at 24 cases diagnosed per year (Figure 33A). Mean age at diagnosis was 64.4 years (range (15-98 years), see age distribution in Figure 33B).

B) 10-year breast cancer specific survival - BRCA2mut status



Figure 33. Overview of invasive ovarian, peritoneal and fallopian tube cancers diagnosed 1999-2013 in Iceland (n = 361). A) Age at diagnosis B) Year at diagnosis. Colors represent different tumor types.

Tumor samples were available for 288 patients; 215 ovarian tumors, 13 fallopian tube tumors and 60 peritoneal tumors. These will collectively be referred to as the ovarian cancer cohort unless otherwise specified. Of analyzed tumors, 7.3% carried the *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation (n=21/288), 1.8% carried the *BRCA1*^{G5193A} mutation (5/280) and 4.5% carried the *BRIP1*^{2040_2041insTT} mutation (n=13/287). Locus specific LOH was present in 90.5% tumors from *BRCA2* mutation carriers (n=19/21), 100% of tumors from *BRCA1* mutation carriers (n=19/21), 100% of tumors from *BRCA1* mutation carriers (n=11/13).

Two women carried both the *BRCA2*^{999de/5} mutation and the *BRIP1*^{2040_2041insTT} mutation, cases 199 and 356. Interestingly, ovarian cancer case 356 displayed LOH of both genes while peritoneal cancer case 199 retained both the *BRCA2* and *BRIP1* wt alleles. Case 199 had been previously diagnosed with breast cancer that has been deep-sequenced and shown to have LOH of *BRCA2* but not *BRIP1* and a high HRDetect score (Davies et al., 2017). Case 356 had two previous diagnoses of DCIS that have not been analyzed for LOH of either gene.

In non-overlapping cases (n = 71) from a pilot study on ovarian cancer, we identified 17 carriers of the $BRCA2^{999del5}$ mutation, one carrier of the $BRCA1^{G5193A}$ mutation and 3 carriers of the $BRIP1^{2040_2041insTT}$ mutation. Of analyzed tumors, 93.3% of *BRCA2* tumors displayed full or partial loss of the wt allele (n=14/15). LOH was present in the *BRCA1* tumor and 33.3% of tumors from *BRIP1* mutation carriers (n=1/3).

In summary, locus specific LOH was observed in 91.7% of *BRCA2* cases (n=33/36), 100% of *BRCA1* cases (n=6/6) and 75% of *BRIP1* cases (n=12/16) in ovarian cancer (**Table 11**).

	Pil	ot study	<u>1999-2</u>	2013 cohort		Total
	n	LOH (%)	n	LOH (%)	n	LOH (%)
BRCA1 ^{G5193A}	1	1 (100%)	5	5 (100%)	6	6 (100%)
BRCA2999del5	15	14 (93%)	21	19 (91%)	36	33 (92%)
BRIP1 ^{2040_2041insTT}	3	1 (33%)	13	11 (85%)	16	12 (75%)

 Table 11. Overview of tumor LOH in BRCA1/BRCA2/BRIP1 mutation carriers in both ovarian cancer cohorts

4.4.3.1 Clinical relevance – ovarian cancer cohort

As for the male breast cancer cohort, clinical data on pathological tumor characteristics and cancer treatment is not currently available for the whole ovarian cancer cohort. For the sake of simplicity and consistency in clinical care practice over time, this preliminary analysis on the clinical relevance of germline BRCA1/2 and BRIP1 mutations in ovarian cancer in Iceland will focus on the 1999-2013 cohort (n = 288). See overview of available information in relation to aermline mutation carrier status of BRCA1/BRCA2/BRIP1 in Table 12.

Average age at diagnosis for the samples analyzed was 62.1 years and did not differ significantly between non-carriers (61.8 years) and carriers of *BRCA2* (59.8 years) and *BRCA1* mutations (64 years). Carriers of the *BRIP1* mutation were however diagnosed at a significantly higher age (73.6 years) than both non-carriers and *BRCA2* mutation carriers (Kruskal-Wallis test p = 0.03, followed by Dunn's multiple comparisons, *BRIP1* vs *BRCA2* p = 0.02 and *BRIP1* vs non-carriers p = 0.02, all other comparisons were ns).

Data on cancer diagnoses other than ovarian cancer was obtained from the National Cancer Registry. 38 women had been diagnosed with cancer prior to their ovarian cancer diagnoses, thereof 17 with breast cancer. 34 women were diagnosed with another cancer after their ovarian cancer diagnosis, thereof 8 with breast cancer. Seven women had synchronous endometrial and ovarian cancer (SEOC) and were all non-carriers of the analyzed mutations. Carriers of *BRCA1/BRCA2/BRIP1* mutations collectively had significantly higher incidence of other cancer diagnoses (p = 0.005, χ^2 = 7.84, chi-squared test) and of breast cancer in particular (p = 0.0003, Fisher's exact test). The only three *BRCA2* mutation carriers without wt allele LOH in their ovarian tumor, all had a prior breast cancer diagnosis.

	Total	Non-carriers	BRCA1 ^{65193A} mutation carriers	BRCA2 ^{999del5} mutation carriers	BRIP12040_2041insTT mutation carriers	Dual BRCA2/BRIP1 mutation carriers
Number of cases (%)	288	251 (87.2%)*	5 (1.7 %)*	19 (6.6%)*	11 (3.8%)*	2 (0.7%)*
1 umor type' (%) OC (C56.1) ETC (C57.0)	215 (75%) 13 /5%)	188 (75%) 12 /5%)	5 (100%)	12 (63%)	9 (82%)	1 (50%)
PC (C48.1, C48.2)	60 (20%)	51 (20%)		6 (32%)	2 (18%)	1 (50%)
Average age at diagnosis (range) OC (C56.1)	62.1 (16-89) 61 (16-89)	61.8 (16-89) 60.4 (16-89)	64 (44-86) 64 (44-86)	59.8 (42-84) 59.6 (42-84)	73.6 (61-88) 74.3 (66-88)	62.5 (54-71) 54 (NA)
FIC (C31.1) PC (C48.1, C48.2)	60.7 (49-74) 66.7 (32-82)	67.2 (32-82)		63 (177) 59.8 (55-65)	70.5 (61-80)	71 (NA)
Turmor classification (%) First cancer diagnosis Later cancer diagnosis	250 (87%) 38 (13%)	224 (89%) 27 (11%)	1 (20%) 4 (80%)	15 (79%) 4 (21%)	9 (82%) 2 (18%)	1 (50%) 1 (50%)
Other cancer diagnosis (%) Breast cancer SEOC [‡] Median survival time in vears [§] (95% CI)	62 (22%) 25 (9%) 7 (2.4%)	47 (19%) 15 (6%) 7 (2.8%)	4 (80%) 3 (60%)	7 (37%) 5 (26%)	3 (27%) 1 (9%)	1 (50%) 1 (50%)
Overall survival (whole cohort ¹) Cancer specific survival (whole cohort ¹)	3.5 (2.8-4.6) 4.1 (3.2-5.3)	3.5 (2.8-4.7) 4.1 (3.2-5.7)	2.4 (1.8-NA) 2.9 (1.8-NA)	5.7 (4.0-NA) 5.7 (4.0-NA)	1.6 (1.3-NA) 2.0 (1.3-NA)	1.2 (1.2-NA) 1.2 (1.2-NA)
*Percentages are of total number of cases						

↑Ovarian cancer (OC), Fallopian tube cancer (FTC), Peritoneal cancer (PC) ‡Synchronous endometrial and ovarian cancer (SEOC)

§Kaplan-Meier estimate

Table 12. Overview of the 1999-2013 ovarian cancer cohort

No significant difference was seen in 5-year or 10-year overall survival between carriers of *BRCA1/BRCA2/BRIP1* mutation and non-carriers, neither pooled (multivariate Cox proportional hazards models corrected for tumor type, year and age at diagnosis, the same corrections apply to all following Cox models, 5-year overall survival, HR: 1.14, 95% CI 0.77-1.67, p = 0.51 and 10-year overall survival, HR: 1.16, 95% CI 0.79-1.70, p = 0.45, **Figure 34A**) nor separately for each gene (**Figure 35**). Similarly, no significant association was seen between tumor LOH (*BRCA1/BRCA2/BRIP1* pooled) and 5-year overall survival (HR: 1.18, 95% CI 0.79-1.76, p = 0.41) or 10-year overall survival (HR: 1.21, 95% CI 0.81-1.80, p = 0.36, **Figure 34B**).



Figure 34. 10-year overall survival in the ovarian cancer cohort. Kaplan-Meier survival curves stratified by A) mutation carrier status (pooled *BRCA1*, *BRCA2* and *BRIP1*) vs non-carriers B) tumor LOH status, non-carriers vs pooled *BRCA1*,*BRCA2* or *BRIP1* mutation carriers with or without LOH in the tumor. P-values shown derived from log-rank comparisons of survival proportions.. Multivariate Cox proportional hazards models corrected for year and age at diagnosis and tumor type (ovarian, fallopian tube, peritoneal cancer): A) HR: 1.16, 95% CI 0.79-1.70, p = 0.45 . B) for LOH pos, HR: 1.21, 95% CI 0.81-1.80, p = 0.36



Figure 35. 10-year overall survival in the ovarian cancer cohort based on mutation carrier status. A) Kaplan-Meier overall 10-year survival estimates according to *BRCA1, BRCA2, BRIP1* and dual *BRCA2&BRIP1* mutation status. P-value derived from log-rank comparisons of survival proportions. B) Results from a multivariate Cox proportional hazards model for mutation carrier status with adjustment for tumor type (ovarian cancer (C56.9), fallopian tube cancer (C57.0), peritoneal cancer (C48)), age and year at diagnosis. * refers to p-value < 0.05, *** refers to p-value < 0.001.

Stratifying the analysis by LOH for each gene did not show any significant associations with 5-year and 10-year overall survival (data not shown). The same analysis was performed for ovarian/fallopian tube/peritoneal cancer specific survival as the end-point and for primary tumors only (n = 250) and in a similar fashion did not show differences in survival between carriers of *BRCA1/BRCA2/BRIP1* mutations or tumor LOH (data not shown).

5 Discussion

5.1 Telomere length measurements in blood samples (paper I)

A relationship between whole blood/leukocyte telomere length and various diseases has been reported, including cancer (Wentzensen et al., 2011; Zhu et al., 2016). Results from numerous studies on the association between blood TL and breast cancer incidence, progression or prognosis have been inconclusive (examples: (De Vivo et al., 2009; Ennour-Idrissi et al., 2017; Samavat et al., 2019; Shen et al., 2009, 2007)) and the same applies for studies in *BRCA* mutation carriers (Killick et al., 2014; Martinez-Delgado et al., 2011; Pavanello et al., 2018; Pooley et al., 2014).

In the first part of this project, whole blood TL was measured in a welldefined Icelandic cohort of female BRCA2999del5 mutation carriers, sporadic breast cancer patients, and healthy controls with the aim of determining if TL measurements could be used as a stratification method for breast cancer risk and/or prognosis. Blood telomere length did not differ significantly between BRCA2 mutation carriers and non-carriers among unaffected women or cases sampled before diagnosis. This is in agreement with some published results (Killick et al., 2014; Pavanello et al., 2018) while other studies have described shorter telomeres (Martinez-Delgado et al., 2011) or even longer telomeres (Pooley et al., 2014) in BRCA mutation carriers compared to noncarriers. We however observed significantly shorter telomeres in BRCA2 mutation carriers compared to non-carriers among women who were sampled after breast cancer diagnosis. This may indicate that BRCA2 mutation carriers are more sensitive to cancer treatment than non-carriers and underscores possible differences in results due to study design, i.e. prospective vs retrospective studies. Comparisons of case-control studies for blood TL and cancer have shown that cases frequently have shorter TL than controls when collected retrospectively but not in prospective studies (Pooley et al., 2010). Most studies are retrospective, with blood samples acquired after breast cancer diagnosis. Both chemotherapy and radiotherapy have been shown to affect telomere length (Benitez-Buelga et al., 2015; Diker-Cohen et al., 2013; Maeda et al., 2013) but few studies take this into consideration. The shorter TL in breast cancer affected women compared to unaffected women in our cohort may be explained by the effects of treatment since the majority of samples were acquired after breast cancer diagnosis. Blood TL did not affect breast cancer specific survival in our cohort.

Using a semi-prospective approach, looking exclusively at blood samples from women who were unaffected at the time of sampling, shorter telomere length was associated with increased risk for developing breast cancer in *BRCA2* mutation carriers but not in non-carriers. This suggests that TL is a modifier of breast cancer risk in *BRCA2* mutation carriers, possibly indicative of BRCA2 haploinsufficiency with regards to telomere maintenance.

5.2 Telomere length and DNA DSB damage in normal breast tissue

Telomeres may be particularly sensitive to BRCA2 deficiencies, more so than the rest of the genome, due to their repeated structure. In that case, highly proliferating cells such as breast epithelial cells would be expected to show the highest abundance of abnormalities in *BRCA2* mutation carriers, assuming haploinsufficiency. Very short telomeres have been shown to be a common alteration in premalignant lesions (Meeker et al., 2004a, 2004b), and cells transition through telomere crisis in early breast cancer tumorigenesis (Chin et al., 2004; Raynaud et al., 2010). Thus, BRCA2 haploinsufficiency effects at telomeres may contribute to breast cancer initiation in mutation carriers.

Our TL measurements in tumor adjacent normal breast tissue showed the luminal epithelial cell layer having the shortest telomere length of the measured cell types, followed by myoepithelial cells and fibroblasts. This is in agreement with previous published data (Kurabayashi et al., 2008; Meeker et al., 2004a) and likely reflects the high proliferating rates of these cells. Interestingly, the same cell layer also presented with surprisingly high levels of DNA DSB damage, identified by 53BP1 foci staining, some of which co-localized at telomeres. This is highly relevant as most breast cancers originate from the luminal epithelial cell layer. In a similar vein, Kannan et al. have reported that luminal progenitor cells of the breast are characterized by extremely short telomeres and telomere dysfunction (Kannan et al., 2013).

Comparisons of TL in breast luminal epithelial cells between *BRCA2* mutation carriers and non-carriers showed no differences in average TL or TL variation. However, shorter TL in these cells was significantly correlated with earlier age at breast cancer diagnosis in *BRCA2* mutation carriers. This was not the case in samples from non-carriers where no significant association was seen. This indicates that shorter telomeres in normal breast tissue of

BRCA2 mutation carriers increase the risk of breast cancer, which is in concordance with our results from qPCR TL measurements in blood (Paper I) and further suggest TL as a modifying factor of breast cancer risk in *BRCA2* mutation carriers. What causes the shorter TL in some mutation carriers rather than others is unknown.

Critically short, or uncapped telomeres are recognized as DNA damage and are associated with DDR factors such as 53BP1 and γ -H2AX. Colocalization of these DDR factors at telomeres is recognized as TIFs, a marker for telomere dysfunction (Takai et al., 2003). Difficulties with staining patterns in the FFPE study material did not allow for quantitative assessment of TIFs between *BRCA2* mutation carriers and non-carriers for the whole study group. A qualitative approach did not reveal any differences in overall DNA damage levels or association with age at breast cancer diagnosis or TL. The level of telomere dysfunction between normal breast tissues from *BRCA2* mutation carriers and non-carriers remains to be further validated.

Measurements of TL and telomere dysfunction in tumor tissue were not included in this thesis. Previous studies have reported an association with shorter TL in breast tumors and higher TNM stage and worse prognosis (Fordyce et al., 2006). Telomere length in breast tumors has additionally been associated with certain tumor subtypes, specifically short telomere length in luminal B, HER2 and triple-negative tumors (Heaphy et al., 2011). Breast tumors from *BRCA* mutation carriers have been shown to have short telomeres and this is associated with higher tumor grade (Martinez-Delgado et al., 2013). Multiple studies have measured TL in breast tumors in relation to prognosis, often with conflicting results (reviewed in (Ennour-Idrissi et al., 2017)).

5.2.1 Limitations of telomere length measurement methods

Telomere length and rate of telomere shortening in blood is correlated with that of other tissues (Daniali et al., 2013) and is therefore frequently used as proxy for less accessible cell types. It is however debatable whether TL measurements in blood are generalizable to other tissue types as it presumes dysfunctional telomere maintenance to be systemic rather than cell type specific.

All methods have their limitations. qPCR measurements of TL have been shown to be highly affected by pre-analytical steps including different DNA isolation methods and sample storage conditions (Dagnall et al., 2017). Another factor to consider is the composition of the blood sample as cell types in blood have different telomere lengths (Weng, 2001). The effects this can have on the outcome are highlighted by the bias introduced into our original dataset by using DNA isolated from different blood parts, eventually leading to changes in sample inclusion criteria for Paper I. Even in samples from whole blood only, the different percentages of each cell type at the time of sampling may lead to inconsistent results.

The length of the shortest telomere, or the presence of a few very short telomeres, is well established as a key biomarker for replicative senescence (Hemann et al., 2001; Zou et al., 2004). High-throughput methods, like aPCR-based measurements, are however typically based on averages. FISH-based techniques are better suited for capturing the range of individual telomere lengths at a single cell level but the quality of study material can affect the results. Some FFPE tissue samples can be highly autofluorescent. leading to the faintest telomere signals being masked by the background. This can affect both interpretation of TL measurements and TIF colocalization analyses. A limitation to our analyses on normal breast tissue FFPE samples is the long study period as differences in practice over time as well as prolonged storage may affect probe hybridization efficiency. Also, the normal tissue studied was adjacent to tumor and therefore cancer field effects, which have been shown to include telomere shortening and genomic instability in histologically normal tissues (Heaphy et al., 2006), cannot be ruled out.

Despite the methodological limitations, similar results were observed in our studies using two different TL measurement methods of distinct principles in two different tissue types in samples from the same cohort, leading us to believe that the results are reliable.

5.2.2 BRCA2 haploinsufficiency and tissue specificity

Earlier studies have reported increase in DNA DSBs, impaired DNA repair, chromosomal aberrations, telomere dysfunction and altered gene expression in heterozygous cells derived from *BRCA2* mutation carriers (Arnold et al., 2006; Bellacosa et al., 2010; Bodvarsdottir et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2004), indicating BRCA2 haploinsufficiency. Mutation carriers are however completely normal apart from increased cancer risk in certain tissues and if existent, the haploinsufficiency effects appear mild. A possible mechanism for mild haploinsufficiency in HR for promoting initiation of tumorigenesis is through chronic reliance on alternative more error-prone DNA repair mechanisms resulting in accumulation of mutations, ultimately leading to tumor formation. A recent study by Zámborszky et al. (2017) does not

support this idea, as they report no marked increase in spontaneous accumulation of mutations characteristic of BRCA2 null phenotype in DT40 heterozygous BRCA2 cells under unstressed normal growth conditions. Recent studies have pointed to another model where heterozygous cells maintain sufficient BRCA2 function under normal circumstances but may be subject to transient impairment of BRCA2 function, i.e. induced haploinsufficiency. Tan et al. (2017) showed that exposure to naturally occurring concentrations of formaldehyde and acetaldehyde induces haploinsufficiency in BRCA2 heterozygous cells by selectively depleting BRCA2 via proteasomal degradation. This causes accumulation of replication-associated DNA damage and chromosomal aberrations. Gruber et al. (2019) have then recently demonstrated that such transient depletion of BRCA2 (which they term "BRCA2-crisis") in non-transformed mammary epithelial cells (MCF10A), causes epigenetic and transcriptional changes thereby increasing tumorigenic potential. Signs of these changes were subsequently detected in pre-malignant tissues from BRCA2 mutation carriers.

Tissue specific conditions leading to transient BRCA2 depletion, such as high levels of endogenous metabolites, could explain why tumors mostly arise in certain tissues in mutation carriers. Research on heterozygous *BRCA1* cells has begun to elucidate tissue specific haploinsufficiency (Sedic & Kuperwasser, 2016). Breast epithelial cells seem to rely more on the function of BRCA1 in DNA damage repair, telomere maintenance and cell differentiation than other cell types (Pathania et al., 2014; Sedic et al., 2015). It has been hypothesized that this can partly be explained by the fast hormonally driven proliferation in breast epithelial cells causing oxidative damage and replication stress, requiring the HR pathway for repair (Fridlich et al., 2015). Whether the same trends apply for BRCA2 remains to be seen and requires studies comparing heterozygous cells from multiple tissue backgrounds.

5.3 Establishing CRISPR cell lines and future functional studies on BRCA2 haploinsufficiency

Functional analysis of possible haploinsufficiency and telomere dysfunction in *BRCA2* heterozygous cells was not an original aim of this PhD project. The results from previous experiments on telomere length and DNA damage in tumor adjacent normal tissue from *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers however sparked interest in performing functional follow-up experiments. Telomere abnormalities, in particular, had been well characterized in all our

heterozygous breast epithelial cell lines available at the time (Bodvarsdottir et al., 2012). DNA damage repair efficiency and response to PARP inhibitors had also been studied for these same cell lines (Stefán Þór Hermanowicz Master's thesis, University of Iceland, 2015). However, with the emergence of the CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing technology, the generation of an isogenic cell line model with the *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation became feasible and a logical next step moving forward.

5.3.1 HDR-mediated CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing – struggles and considerations

To establish an isogenic cell line model with the BRCA2999del5 mutation. we opted for the HDR CRISPR/Cas9 approach. The CRISPR/Cas9 technology is a powerful tool for genome editing. The method was originally employed to knock-out genes, for which it is extremely effective and scalable for large KO screening studies. The technology quickly evolved and is now used for a variety of genome engineering purposes, for example introducing precise edits into the genome. This is most often achieved using a homology-directed repair (HDR) variation of the CRISPR/Cas9 system (see Figure 5), where templates with the desired changes and flanking homology arms are supplied for incorporation via homologous recombination. A drawback of HDR-based editing is its low efficiency compared to NHEJ events. Due to the low efficiency, isolation and analysis of single cell-derived clones is necessary to confirm the presence of the desired edits. To enhance HDR efficiency, measures are typically taken to synchronize cells in the cell cycle (Lin et al., 2014) or inhibiting components of the NHEJ pathway (Maruyama et al., 2015), as well as introducing silent mutations into the PAM sequence or the proximal gRNA seed sequence to block re-cutting by Cas9 (Paguet et al., 2016).

One requirement for CRISPR HDR editing is for the induced DSB to be as close as possible to the desired mutation. When designing gRNAs for a CRISPR study they should ideally have high on-target specificity and a low off-target score. This is usually easily achieved in knock-out experiments since gRNA target sites are abundant in the genome. Editing specific genomic sites is however restricting in the choice of possible gRNAs and compromises may have to be made. Few gRNA target sites (for spCas9 PAM NGG/NAG) are located in close proximity (<50 bp) to the *999del5* mutation in *BRCA2* and the closest ones had high-off target scores but good predicted on-target efficiencies. We observed incorporation of the ssDNA oligo around the cut site in ~10% of clones analyzed in Hela Kyoto cells. However, even if
decent HDR efficiency is achieved, detected by incorporated silent blocking mutations around the cut site, the edited cells do not always contain the desired editing event. This partial oligo insertion is a known phenomenon. It has been shown that distance from the Cas9 cut site to the mutation being introduced severely affects incorporation efficiency as well as directing zygosity. For optimal overall efficiency and homozygous incorporation of the desired edit, the distance should be 10 bp or less. Heterozygous edits are more frequently obtained with distances between 5-25 bp due to lowered efficiency and distances over 30 bp are not considered feasible for clone picking (Paquet et al., 2016). For the highest likelihood of incorporation, the gRNA closest to the *999del5* mutation was chosen, with an expected Cas9 cut site 17-21 bp from the *999del5* mutation. This distance to cut-site should favor heterozygous incorporation but the ssDNA oligo was almost exclusively only partially inserted (**Figure 24**).

We have established a cell line model in HeLa Kyoto cells with wt, heterozygous and homozygous NHEJ-derived edits resulting in protein products truncated at the same amino acid as caused by the BRCA2999de/5 mutation (Figure 25). Previous analysis of the 999del5 mutation has shown that the mutant allele is transcribed but the truncated protein product cannot be detected. The mRNA is most likely degraded via nonsense mediated decay (Mikaelsdottir et al., 2004). It can be assumed that this also applies to the newly established cell lines. We observed clones with incorporation of the ssDNA oligo reaching the BRCA2^{999del5} mutation validating the experimental setup. In order to obtain the exact 999del5 mutation, the same process could simply be repeated and higher number of clones picked. We are currently repeating this with the Alt-R[®] CRISPR-Cas9 System (Integrated DNA Technologies), designed to minimize off-target edits. Even though the gRNA used here has high probability scores for off-target editing, the cell lines established did not have edits of the four genomic loci screened (highest scoring off-target loci within known genes). Other off-target edits cannot be ruled-out. Another way to improve target-specificity is to use a doublenickase or dCas9-Fokl approach, but the scarcity of gRNA target sites suitable for Cas9 around the BRCA2999del5 mutation is limiting. Increased availability of Cas variants recognizing other PAM sequences might offer new options. Finally, the design of the ssDNA oligo is important and the best practice guidelines are ever-changing. Homology arm length of the ssDNA oligo has been shown to affect HDR efficiency (Richardson et al., 2016) and altering arm lengths could be explored.

5.3.2 Choosing a fitting research model

Choosing an appropriate research model for functional experiments is key for obtaining reliable results. Previous studies on *BRCA2* mutations have often been based on suboptimal models, comparing results from cell lines with significantly different genetic/epigenetic backgrounds. Establishing isogenic cell line models with the CRISPR/Cas9 technology minimizes the risk of inaccurate findings resulting from such differences.

The choice of parental cell line for CRISPR/Cas9 editing is equally important. Many studies on BRCA2 are performed in tumor cell lines but for studying subtle differences due to possible haploinsufficiency in BRCA2 heterozygous cells, a non-tumorous background is more appropriate. As outlined previously (chapter 4.3.1), the initial intention was to make use of normal breast epithelial cell lines derived from two carriers of the BRCA2^{999del5} mutation. A176 and A240 (Rubner Fridriksdottir et al., 2005), and use HDR CRISPR/Cas9 to both correct the mutation and to create knock-out cell lines. When these cell lines proved near-unsuitable for singlecell cloning we switched to the commercially available normal-like breast We were unsuccessful in introducing the epithelial line MCF10A. BRCA2999del5 mutation into MCF10A cells and upon creating a BRCA2 KO clone, the cells quickly died. A study published around the same time (Feng & Jasin, 2017) showed that complete loss of BRCA2 is lethal for MCF10A cells, confirming our observation. MCF10A is a non-transformed cell line, spontaneously immortalized from fibrocystic disease of the breast, but has been shown to have a relatively stable genome (Soule et al., 1990). Complete loss of BRCA2 is therefore non-viable for normal breast epithelial cells and this could also apply to the A176/A240 cell lines. These cell lines were however immortalized using HPV-16 E6/E7 transformation, which is known to affect cell-cycle checkpoints by inactivating the p53 and Rb tumor suppressors (Hebner & Laimins, 2006), and could therefore be more tolerant to complete BRCA2 loss. The consequences of complete BRCA2 loss have been extensively studied and for our purposes the comparison of the heterozygous and wt are the most important. Total loss of BRCA2 to complete the model can be achieved by transient methods, such as siRNA knock-downs, or more elegant inducible knock-out systems (Feng & Jasin, 2017).

Since our HDR CRISPR/Cas9 endeavors in breast epithelial cell lines were unsuccessful, we decided to verify the experimental setup in HeLa Kyoto cells. A recent publication at the time had described successful

insertion of specific *BRCA2* mutations in HeLa using HDR CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing (Tan et al., 2017). The HeLa cell line is derived from cervical cancer and is notorious for its unstable genome and aneuploidy. Importantly, the HeLa Kyoto lineage has two copies of *BRCA2* (Adey et al., 2013). HeLa is obviously not the best fit for modelling functions of normal tissues or carcinogenesis but has the advantages of being extremely well studied and easy to work with. In the context of an isogenic cell line model, many important functional questions can still be addressed, keeping the limitations of the model in mind. It should be noted for example that studies on telomeres and telomere length in HeLa cells are limited by the fact that it has active telomerase expression. Our attempts to introduce a ssDNA oligo with the *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation into MCF10A cells indicated very low HDR rates. This cell line has nevertheless been used successfully in CRISPR/Cas9 HDR editing of *BRCA2* (Feng & Jasin, 2017) and could be attempted again for the *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation with the now more streamlined protocol.

Yet another aspect of studying normal breast tissue is the question of cell type. Our results and others (Kannan et al., 2013; Kurabayashi et al., 2008; Zhou et al., 2012) indicate that the luminal epithelial cell layer of the breast, where most breast cancers originate, is of special interest with regards to telomere dysfunction and DNA damage. Studying these differences between cell types in normal breast tissue in the context of BRCA2 heterozygosity and possible haploinsufficiency is therefore of interest. MCF10A cells express both luminal and basal/myoepithelial markers and form unique spheroid acinar structures in 3D culture that are not found in normal breast tissue (Qu et al., 2015). Another interesting model is the D492 cell line from Dr. Þórarinn Guðjónsson's lab (University of Iceland, Stem Cell Research Unit). D492 is a stem cell like breast cell line which can differentiate into both luminal and myoepithelial cells (Gudjonsson et al., 2002). Additionally, D492 forms branching structures in a 3D reconstituted basement membrane. 3D cultures better mimic in vivo conditions for tissue composition and cell-to-cell interactions compared to conventional 2D cell cultures.

5.3.3 Future directions - comparing BRCA2^{999del5} and BRCA2^{K3326*}

After establishing an isogenic cell line model of the *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation, the aim was to characterize the cell lines with regards to proficiency or defects in DNA DSB repair, replication fork stalling and telomere maintenance. However, the cell lines have only recently been established and functional experiments are in early stages, thus not included in this thesis.

One important aspect of establishing a reliable functional cell line model for the BRCA2^{999del5} mutation is the possibility to follow up on interesting findings in a large archived sample set available from carriers of the same mutation at the University of Iceland Cancer Research Laboratory. Also of interest for the Icelandic population is the other prevalent mutation found in BRCA2, the K3326*. Contrary to the 999del5 mutation, which is a classical deleterious BRCA mutation in the sense of predisposing to HBOC syndrome, the K3326* mutation is primarily linked to increased risk of small cell lung cancer, squamous cell skin carcinoma and cancers of the upper aerodigestive tract (Rafnar et al., 2018). The 999del5 mutation leads to an early truncated non-functional protein product while the K3326* mutation is predicted to result in the loss of the last 93 amino acids of BRCA2 (Mazoyer et al., 1996). Previous functional analyses of the BRCA2^{K3326*} protein product have shown no defects in DNA DSB repair (Kuznetsov et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2005) but it might be deficient in the protection of stalled replication forks. As described in chapter 1.6.2, the difference in cancer predisposition between the two mutations is thought to stem from tissue specific dependency on separate functions of the BRCA2 protein, namely HR repair and protection of stalled replication forks (Pathania & Garber, 2018; Rafnar et al., 2018). This however remains to be functionally validated.

It would be interesting to characterize the functional implications of these two BRCA2 mutations with regards to tissue specificity and possible haploinsufficiency. To do so, isogenic cell line models for both mutations could be generated using CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing in both normal breast epithelial (e.g. MCF10A) and normal lung epithelial (e.g. BEAS-2B) cell lines. Separation of function experiments could then elucidate different DNA repair dependencies between breast and lung tissue and shed light on the mechanism of carcinogenesis in the context of possible BRCA2 haploinsufficiency. Experiments would include well-established assays for estimating proficiency in HR repair, such as RAD51 foci staining, and DNA fiber assays with hydroxyurea treatment to detect defects in replication fork dynamics. Genomic instability and telomere dysfunction could be studied with cytogenetics and FISH-based methods. Additionally, it would be interesting to perform transcriptome analysis of the heterozygous cell lines (with RNA sequencing) to determine whether these cells upregulate alternative DNA repair mechanisms to compensate for HR deficiencies, as has been shown for BRCA deficient tumors (Kais et al., 2016; Mateos-Gomez et al., 2015) and BRCA1 heterozygous cells (Zong et al., 2019). In light of the recent study by Tan et al. (2017) demonstrating that BRCA2 heterozygous cells show no signs of haploinsufficiency except upon aldehyde exposure, the discrepancy between the effects of the *999del5* and *K3326** mutations in breast and lung tissue could entirely be due to extrinsic exposures and environmental factors, which should be considered in the experimental setup.

5.4 Mutational analyses of *BRCA1*, *BRCA2* and *BRIP1* and LOH in breast and ovarian tumors

BRCA1, BRCA2 and *BRIP1* are all considered to be classical TSGs. Tumors from mutation carriers, especially ones linked to HBOC syndrome, have therefore been assumed to lose function of the wild type allele during tumorigenesis. Studies in recent years have however established that this is not always the case (Kanchi et al., 2014; Nik-Zainal et al., 2016), especially in female breast tumors from *BRCA2* mutation carriers where the wild type allele is retained in up to half of all cases (Maxwell et al., 2017).

5.4.1 Previous research on *BRCA2* LOH in female breast cancer in Iceland

Previous results from our laboratory have demonstrated this for FBC from carriers of the Icelandic BRCA2999del5 mutation where LOH is observed in 52% of cases (Aradottir et al., 2015; Stefansson et al., 2011a). aCGH analysis of breast tumors from BRCA2999del5 mutation carriers revealed divergent paths of tumor evolution where loss of the wild-type BRCA2 allele (through deletions at the 13g chromosomal region containing the BRCA2 gene) co-occurred with copy number changes linked to disease progression (Stefansson et al., 2011a). These results suggested that wild-type BRCA2 LOH was not necessary for tumor initiation but rather a driver for advanced progression. Of clinical relevance, LOH of the BRCA2 wild-type allele has been linked to worse breast-cancer specific survival in female BRCA2999del5 mutation carriers, after adjusting for clinical parameters and cancer treatment (Aradottir et al., 2015). LOH is associated with tumors of the luminal subtype in BRCA2999del5 in mutation carriers, the high-proliferating luminal B in particular, while lack of deletion at this locus is associated with triple negative tumors (Stefansson et al., 2011a). Interestingly, luminal subtype has been identified as an adverse prognostic factor in female BRCA2999del5 mutation carriers, the complete opposite from what is seen in non-carriers (Jonasson et al., 2016). Of note, due to the sample collection period and the very recent introduction of PARP inhibitors to the breast cancer treatment regimen for BRCA mutation carriers, none of these patients were treated with PARP inhibitors.

A substantial portion of breast tumors from *BRCA2* mutation carriers included in the Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute's deep profiling study of 560 breast tumors (Nik-Zainal et al., 2016) and the subsequent characterization of HRDetect (Davies et al., 2017) were from Icelandic *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers (n= 13/29). These tumors were originally selected on strict criteria for the available amount and quality of tumor DNA and matching normal blood DNA, as well as tumor RNA. The high ratio of LOH among these tumors (85%, n = 11/13) does not reflect the results from a larger group of *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers described previously (Aradottir et al., 2015; Stefansson et al., 2011a) and the subset validated in this thesis.

5.4.2 General discussion on locus specific LOH analyses – methodology and limitations

Loss of heterozygosity (LOH) is the most common mechanism of wild-type allele inactivation in tumors from BRCA mutation carriers (Osorio et al., 2002). In two recent studies (Maxwell et al., 2017; Van Heetvelde et al., 2018) on breast and ovarian tumors from BRCA1/2 mutation carriers, locus specific LOH most frequently occurred through deletion of the wild-type allele or copy-neutral LOH. Inactivation of the wild-type allele through somatic mutations or promoter methylation seems infrequent. As for BRIP1, the gene is located on chromosome 17q22, distal to BRCA1 on 17q21, a chromosomal region frequently lost in ovarian tumors (Godwin et al., 1994). Complete loss of the wild-type allele can be observed by targeted allelotyping over genetic loci with known germline mutations while somatic mutations and epigenetic inactivation will not be detected. For tumors without apparent LOH as detected by these methods, inactivation of the wild-type allele via other mechanisms can therefore not be excluded. As most male breast tumors and ovarian tumors analyzed in this thesis exhibited loss of the wild-type allele, this is not of too much concern. Many of the female breast tumors shown to be without LOH with previous allelotyping have since been validated by aCGH analysis (Stefansson et al., 2011a), which has the limitation of not detecting copy-neutral changes, and by whole genome sequencing (Nik-Zainal et al., 2016).

Here, a subset of previously examined FBC samples were re-analyzed for methodological validation between the previously used qPCR based allelotyping and estimates of allelic ratios based on targeted Sanger sequencing. Estimates from the two methods were found to be highly correlated (**Figure 28**). All measurements based on allelic frequencies are, however, somewhat arbitrary. Very few tumors analyzed by either method

exhibit a complete loss of the wild-type allele. Most of the tumors classified with LOH in fact have a wt allele frequency ranging from 20-30%. This is to be expected since tissue samples provided for DNA extraction rarely only contain tumor cells. Tumor areas for sectioning are selected based on high tumor content but recorded estimation of the tumor percentage would be optimal, especially in the case of tumors with high levels of normal stroma, and very small tumors or tumors with high levels of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes, since high normal cell content complicates downstream analysis. Another complicating factor when interpreting sequencing results from tumor DNA is the frequent occurrence of chromosomal abnormalities, including copy-number aberrations, aneuploidy and polyploidy. Finally, some ambiguous LOH results could be explained by intra-tumoral heterogeneity. A recent study on tumor heterogeneity with regards to HR deficiency in breast tumors however indicates that such heterogeneity is infrequent (Von Wahlde et al., 2017). Assuming that the HR deficiency is a driver event for either tumor initiation or progression in these tumors, this fits with new data demonstrating almost complete homogeneity in key genetic drivers in treatment naïve epithelial tumors and their metastasis, including breast and ovarian tumors (Reiter et al., 2019).

Normal samples from mutation carriers had a measured wild-type allele frequency ranging from 45-55%. Tumors that clearly did not have LOH fell into the same range. One could argue that any wt allele frequency below that demonstrates that at least some tumor cells have lost the wild-type allele. We therefore decided to classify tumors with wt allele ratios below 40% as having LOH, applying for all three genetic loci. Ovarian tumor samples generally showed very clear results for LOH, with low wt allele percentages, while some of the breast tumors had wt allele ratios closer to the cut-off. This is most likely due to higher tumor content in ovarian tumor samples compared to breast tumor samples, in particular those from males. Ultimately, LOH status would need to be verified with more advanced sequencing methods and to determine the exact mechanism of wt allele loss.

5.4.3 The *BRCA2999del5* mutation is present in 32% of male breast cancer patients in Iceland

The first published prevalence of *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers among MBC patients in Iceland was 40% (n = 12/30) and included all cases diagnosed from 1955-1995 (Thorlacius et al., 1996, 1997). A similar proportion of 38.5% (n = 15/39) was later described for all cases diagnosed until the year 2000 (Gudmundsdottir et al., 2003). Here, we have identified the *999del5* mutation

in 32% of analyzed cases (n = 25/78) diagnosed from 1955-2018. This difference can most likely be attributed to strong penetrance of MBC in the families included in the first study having a big impact as the total number of cases was very small. The Icelandic *999del5* mutation was first identified in a family where three brothers and their first cousin had MBC, all included in the early cohorts (Thorlacius et al., 1996). With increased number of cases, the new proportion of 32% is likely a more balanced estimate but still much higher than described for other populations, with or without known founder mutations (Basham et al., 2002; Ding et al., 2011; Ottini et al., 2003; Rizzolo et al., 2016; Rubinstein, 2004; Syrjäkoski et al., 2004).

Age of diagnosis did not differ significantly between BRCA2999del5 mutation carriers and non-carriers. This is in line with other recent reports (Fostira et al., 2018; Pritzlaff et al., 2017; Silvestri et al., 2016). Carrying mutations in the BRCA genes has been shown to increase the risk of multiple cancer diagnoses. In the Icelandic MBC cohort, the two men who had bilateral breast cancer diagnosis were both BRCA2 mutation carriers. 40% of BRCA2999del5 mutation carriers developed other tumors in addition to their breast tumor including 20% who were diagnosed with prostate cancer (Table 10). Comparing these ratios to those for non-carriers did however not reach statistical significance. Similarly, there was no statistical difference in survival between BRCA2 mutation carriers and non-carriers (Table 10), even though it could be argued that there is a trend towards better survival among BRCA2 mutation carriers. That being said, these analyses are limited due to low numbers and lack of clinical data and should be considered preliminary. The few studies that have reported on outcomes for BRCA mutation carriers in male breast cancer are not in complete agreement and are generally based on few cases (Gargiulo et al., 2016; Ibrahim et al., 2018; Ottini et al., 2012).

5.4.4 BRCA2 tumor LOH in MBC and comparisons with FBC

LOH over the chromosomal area spanning the *BRCA2* gene is common in sporadic male breast tumors (Kwiatkowska et al., 2002; Prechtel et al., 1998) and the wt allele is generally assumed to be lost in mutation carriers (Gudmundsson et al., 1995; Ottini et al., 2003; Thorlacius et al., 1996). In light of accumulating data showing that the wt allele is retained in up to half of FBCs from *BRCA2* mutation carriers, a closer inspection of wt LOH in MBC is warranted. In our cohort, loss of the wt *BRCA2* allele was present in a large majority of MBC from mutation carriers (88%). This highlights differences in breast cancer tumorigenesis and/or progression between female and male *BRCA2* mutation carriers.

MBCs have been shown to differ from FBCs on a molecular level, being characterized by other recurrent somatic drivers indicating different molecular evolutionary pathways (Deb et al., 2016; Johansson et al., 2013; Piscuoglio et al., 2016). These differences can most likely be explained by dissimilarities in breast gland morphology and function between the sexes, with varied cell type composition, levels of differentiation and hormonal regulation. The tumor cell of origin may therefore be inherently different. It is possible that breast cancer susceptibility in *BRCA2* mutation carriers and dependency on wt allele LOH in the tumor is influenced by these different backgrounds.

MBC is a very rare disease, even in *BRCA2* mutation carriers. While female *BRCA2* mutation carriers face a life-time risk of up to 70% of developing breast cancer (Kuchenbaecker et al., 2017), estimations for male mutation carriers are in the single digits (Evans et al., 2010; Tai et al., 2007). What separates the male mutation carriers who develop breast cancer from the others? Known risk factors for male breast cancer such as hormonal imbalance could be one explanation, along with other environmental factors. Data on this is not readily available for our cohort. Another possibility is the presence of other genetic variants having a modifying effect on the breast cancer risk. This is underscored by the fact that MBC seems to be more prevalent in some *BRCA2* mutation carrier families than others (Thorlacius et al., 1996). We are currently waiting for genealogical data for the whole MBC cohort where some of the cases, not limited to *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers, are known to aggregate in families.

The largest pathological assessment on MBCs from *BRCA2* mutation carriers to date showed that these tumors represent a subgroup with aggressive biology within MBCs and present at higher stage, higher histological grade and are more frequently ER/PR positive compared to FBC from mutation carriers (Silvestri et al., 2016). The fast proliferating luminal B subtype has been linked to mutations in DNA repair genes in MBC (Piscuoglio et al., 2016). Interestingly, breast tumors with *BRCA2* wt LOH from Icelandic female *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers are associated with the luminal B subtype information for the male breast cancer cohort at the time of writing but it will be interesting to see whether similar trends apply.

One male breast tumor had a measured mutant allele frequency of 30% and was classified as not having LOH. This patient was a confirmed *BRCA2* mutation carrier based on analysis of his normal tissue. The same result was obtained after multiple PCR amplifications and sequencing runs. To rule out

any kind of sample mix-up in the tumor sample, new sections have been requested and will be analyzed from scratch. If confirmed, this result could be explained by LOH of the mutant allele instead of the wt allele, which has been previously shown to occur stochastically in breast tumors from *BRCA* mutation carriers (King et al., 2007).

Based on the analysis presented in this thesis, we do not have the means to determine whether *BRCA2* LOH is a causal event for MBC in mutation carriers or a stochastic byproduct of genomic instability. The frequent LOH observed however suggests that complete loss of *BRCA2* is important for tumor formation in these men. Three male *BRCA2* mutation carriers had breast tumors without LOH. These tumors could have arisen in a more sporadic manner due to other risk factors such as heightened estrogen levels. Another possible influencing factor, related to tissue specific haploinsufficiency, is prior treatment with DNA-damaging chemotherapy (discussed further in chapter **5.4.9** below). Two out of the three MBC cases with no LOH had a previous cancer diagnosis and possibly received some form of chemotherapy.

5.4.5 Mutations in *BRCA1* and *BRIP1* do not contribute to MBC in Iceland

Neither germline *BRIP1* nor *BRCA1* mutations seem to contribute to male breast cancer in the Icelandic population. The *BRCA1*^{G5193A} mutation was not detected in any patient. This is not surprising since mutations in *BRCA1* are generally less frequent in MBC than *BRCA2* mutations (Pritzlaff et al., 2017) and the prevalence of *BRCA1* germline mutations in the Icelandic population is very low (Bergthorsson et al., 1998). The two men carrying the *BRIP1*^{2040_2041insTT} mutation were also carriers of the *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation and had LOH of *BRCA2* while retaining the wild-type *BRIP1* allele. This indicates that loss of the wild-type *BRCA2* allele is a tumorigenic driving force in these tumors. Previous studies have not reported germline mutations in *BRIP1* to be associated with increased risk of MBC (Silvestri et al., 2011). In the largest multi-gene panel testing of MBCs to date, only one patient of the 708 patients analyzed carried a mutation in *BRIP1* but very interestingly was also a *BRCA2/BRIP1* mutation carriers in chapter **5.4.11** below.

5.4.6 Future perspectives of the male breast cancer project

In this study of MBC we have so far screened the samples for three of the most prominent founder mutations in HR genes in the Icelandic population

linked to HBOC syndrome; BRCA1^{G5193A}, BRCA2^{999del5} and BRIP1^{2040_2041insTT}. Apart from rarer mutations in these genes, there are other known HRassociated gene mutations in the population, for example in PALB2 and CHEK2 (information from Landspitali Genetic Counseling Unit). Germline mutations in both of these genes have been associated with increased risk of MBC (Pritzlaff et al., 2017). The future aim for this project is to perform exome sequencing on the MBC cohort, both tumor samples and normal tissue. We will then be able to detect other germline mutations in HR genes as well as somatic mutations and importantly, mutational signatures indicating HR deficiency. As shown here, 32% of the cases already have a confirmed germline mutation in BRCA2 and most exhibit loss of the wt allele in the tumor. High scores of HR deficiency are expected in these tumors but of course remain to be verified. Promoter methylation of selected HR genes will also be analyzed with pyrosequencing. It will be interesting to see the proportion of male breast tumors that are deficient in HR as it is possible that MBC is largely a disease driven by defects in HR and many patients would benefit from targeted treatment with PARP inhibitors.

Pathological assessment has previously been described for all MBC cases diagnosed in Iceland between 1955-2000 (Gudmundsdottir et al., 2003; Jonasson et al., 1996) and is currently being updated for the whole cohort. Data on various clinical parameters and cancer treatment is also being gathered. TMAs have been created and will be stained by IHC for all clinically relevant markers such as ER, PR, HER2, Ki-67, P53 and AR with the possibility of follow-up staining to verify loss of expression of proteins shown to be mutated in genetic analysis or affected by promoter methylation. This is dependent on the availability of good antibodies, routine IHC staining for BRCA2 is for example not considered feasible due to lack of reliable antibodies. Finally, recent papers have described RAD51 foci staining on archived paraffin embedded tissue samples being an option for estimating HR efficiency in tumors (Castroviejo-Bermejo et al., 2018; Cruz et al., 2018). Such staining would be a great alternative to assess HR deficiency in tumors that are not available for exome sequencing, as well as being a functional validation of the genomic analyses.

The MBC cohort is small so we do not necessarily expect to be able to detect differences in response to cancer treatment and/or survival between patients with tumors deficient in HR and not. The preliminary survival analysis presented here (**Figure 32**), comparing *BRCA2* mutation carriers to non-carriers, showed non-significant differences in survival. In addition to the low number of cases, an obvious flaw to these survival estimates is the lack of

correction for important clinical factors such as tumor staging, histological subtype and treatment. The "non-carrier" group moreover almost certainly includes patients with other mutations in HR genes, either in the germline or somatic in the tumor, likely skewing the results. Another complicating factor is the length of the study period, with diagnosis and treatment evolving drastically over the 63-year period. This will all be addressed upon completion of data gathering.

To conclude, the results presented here on MBC are the initial steps in a thorough analysis of the genetic landscape in MBC at a population level coupled with detailed clinical data. To our knowledge, a study of this kind has not been performed at a population level before.

5.4.7 Prevalence of *BRCA1*, *BRCA2* and *BRIP1* mutation carriers in ovarian, fallopian tube and peritoneal cancer in Iceland

We screened 288 cases of ovarian, fallopian tube and peritoneal cancer diagnosed over a 15-year period in Iceland (1999-2013) for mutations in BRCA1, BRCA2 and BRIP1. Of analyzed tumors, 1.8% carried the BRCA1^{G5193A} mutation, 7.3% carried the BRCA2^{999del5} mutation and 4.5% carried the BRIP1^{2040_2041insTT} mutation. These results are similar to an earlier screen of ovarian cancers diagnosed in Iceland between 1991-2000 where 1.2% of patients were carriers of the BRCA1^{G5193A} mutation and 6% carried the BRCA2999del5 mutation (Rafnar et al., 2004). The BRIP12040_2041insTT mutation has previously been shown to confer high risk of ovarian cancer in the population (Rafnar et al., 2011). Germline mutations in BRCA1/2 are generally estimated to be responsible for 5-15% of ovarian cancers which resonates with our findings (Dalv et al., 2010; Ramus & Gavther, 2009). Founder effects in BRCA mutations in Iceland however result in different frequencies than observed elsewhere, where mutations in BRCA1 are typically more common (Ramus & Gayther, 2009). In a recently published population-based study on ovarian cancer genetics in Denmark, germline mutations in 12 HR genes (including BRCA1/2 and BRIP1) were collectively detected in 9.8% of tumors (Hjortkjær et al., 2019). In our study, three founder mutations are collectively present in 12.8% of cases (n = 37/288, two women carried both the BRCA2^{999del5} and the BRIP1^{2040_2041insTT} mutations, thus only counted once). Screening for other rarer mutations in the BRCA and BRIP1 genes as well as other HR-related genes is likely to raise this number.

Analysis of age at diagnosis of ovarian cancer between BRCA1/BRCA2/BRIP1 mutation carriers and non-carriers revealed no significant differences apart from *BRIP1* mutation carriers being diagnosed at a later age. In the last cohort studied in Iceland, *BRCA1/2* mutation carriers were not diagnosed significantly younger than non-carriers although a trend was seen (Rafnar et al., 2004). Such associations have frequently been reported by others, often in larger cohorts (Kanchi et al., 2014; Ramus & Gayther, 2009). Mutation carriers had significantly higher incidence of other cancer diagnoses, breast cancer in particular (**Table 12**). The higher breast cancer incidence can most likely be attributed to *BRCA1/2* mutation carriers but not *BRIP1* mutation carriers, this observation is however based on very few cases.

5.4.8 High wt LOH frequency in *BRCA1/BRCA2/BRIP1* mutation carriers reflects the HR deficient nature of many ovarian tumors

We previously identified a number of *BRCA1/BRCA2/BRIP1* mutation carriers with ovarian cancer in a pilot study for this larger project and included them in the LOH analyses to increase number of cases (**Table 11**). Locus specific LOH was observed in all tumors from *BRCA1*^{65193A} mutation carriers and 92% of tumors from *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers. Our results are in agreement with previously published data showing that wt allele LOH is present in majority of ovarian tumors from *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* mutation carriers. Kanchi et al. (2014) reported LOH in 100% and 76%, respectively, of high-grade serous ovarian tumors from *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* mutation carriers included in the TCGA and the Women's Health Initiative Exome Sequencing Project (WHISP). Maxwell et al. (2017) then reported locus specific LOH in 93% of cases from *BRCA1* mutation carriers and 84% of cases from *BRCA2* mutation carriers in ovarian cancer cases from the University of Pennsylvania and the TCGA.

Ovarian tumors from carriers of the *BRIP1*^{2040_2041insTT} mutation have LOH in 75% of cases in our cohort. These results are in concordance with previously published results on this same mutation where full or partial LOH was seen in 8 out of 10 tumors examined using the same targeted Sanger sequencing method (Rafnar et al., 2011). The authors concluded that BRIP1 behaved as a classical tumor suppressor in ovarian cancer. The cases examined in that study probably overlap with some of the 13 cases analyzed here, taking the study periods into consideration. Five of the *BRIP1* ovarian tumors described here were diagnosed after Rafnar et al. published their study and do therefore not overlap.

In summary, LOH in ovarian tumors from *BRCA1/BRCA2/BRIP1* mutation carriers is frequent and underscores the strong link to HR deficiency in

ovarian cancer. Large scale studies on ovarian cancer have revealed that up to half of all cases have underlying germline or somatic changes in HR-related genes (Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network, 2011; Cunningham et al., 2015; Kanchi et al., 2014).

5.4.9 The effects of germline mutations in *BRCA1/BRCA2/BRIP1* and LOH on survival in ovarian cancer

The majority of ovarian cancer patients receive platinum-based chemotherapy as first-line therapy. *BRCA* mutation carriers have been shown to respond better to platinum-based chemotherapy than non-carriers (Cass et al., 2003) and carrying *BRCA* mutations is associated with overall better survival in ovarian cancer patients (Bolton et al., 2012). This is however dependent on the loss of the wt allele, since these treatments do not affect heterozygous cells by principle (Bryant et al., 2005; Farmer et al., 2005). In fact, *BRCA* mutation carriers without locus specific LOH in their ovarian tumor have significantly lower overall survival compared to tumors with LOH when treated with adjuvant platinum-based chemotherapy, more similar to sporadic cases, and this likely extends to PARP inhibitors (Maxwell et al., 2017). It is therefore important to know tumor LOH status in mutation carriers since absence of LOH can cause primary resistance to these treatments.

In a pilot study we performed earlier on a small cohort with overrepresentation of BRCA mutation carriers. BRCA2999del5 mutation carries were shown to have significantly better 5-year survival than non-carriers after correcting for age and year at diagnosis, histological stage and residual postoperative tumor, while BRCA1^{G5193A} mutation carriers did not differ from non-carriers (data not shown. Sigurður Ingi Magnússon's B.Sc project. University of Iceland, 2018). The survival analysis performed here for the 1999-2013 cohort did however not reveal any differences in survival between carriers of BRCA1/BRCA2/BRIP1 mutations compared to non-carriers. neither pooled nor separated by gene (Figure 34A&Figure 35). Apart from low sample numbers in some groups, this discrepancy can likely be explained by the lack of important clinical factors which should be incorporated in the survival models, including histological stage and grade, ovarian/fallopian tube/peritoneal cancer histological subtypes and treatment information. Previous or later cancer diagnoses can have a confounding impact on the result of survival analyses. Preferably, patients with previous or later non-ovarian cancer diagnosis should be excluded. Subsetting the group to only include primary tumor diagnoses or using ovarian cancer specific survival as an end-point did not change the results. We feel further analysis of survival in relation to mutational status or tumor LOH is not warranted at this time, comparisons between tumors with and without LOH are as well not likely to be meaningful due to low numbers in the latter group (**Figure 34B**). Additionally, in a disease like ovarian cancer where relapse rate is high, progression free survival time is a more accurate and established end-point estimate for studying response to treatment.

As previously discussed, most *BRCA1/BRCA2/BRIP1* mutation carriers in our cohort had tumor locus-specific LOH in ovarian tumors. An interesting observation is that all three *BRCA2* mutation carriers that had absence of LOH in their ovarian tumor had a previous breast cancer diagnosis and therefore may have received DNA damaging chemotherapy. Normal cells from *BRCA* mutation carriers are not considered to be more sensitive to standard chemotherapeutic agents. However, there might be selective pressure towards retention of BRCA function in precancerous cells during these treatments.

5.4.10 Future directions of the ovarian cancer project

No large-scale studies combining genetic, pathological and clinical data on cancer treatment have been performed for ovarian cancer in the Icelandic population. We have recently participated in a large collaborative effort aiming to study this important subject, starting with cases diagnosed over a 15-year period ending in 2013 enabling us to obtain complete 5-year survival data for the whole study group. Here, I have described mutational analysis for the three most prominent founder mutations related to HBOC syndrome in the population and linked it to the limited available clinical data and prognosis. Gathering of data is in its final stages at the time of writing and these preliminary analyses will therefore soon be updated.

Apart from characterizing ovarian cancer in Iceland, another important aim of this research project is to study the prevalence of promoter methylation of selected DNA repair genes with pyrosequencing in our cohort, most notably *BRCA1* and *RAD51C*, and determine whether epigenetic silencing has the same effects on prognosis as carrying deleterious mutations in these genes. Previous studies are not in agreement on whether this is the case for ovarian cancer (Bernards et al., 2018; Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network, 2011; Ruscito et al., 2014; Stefansson et al., 2012) but epigenetic silencing of *BRCA1* and *RAD51C* by promoter methylation has been shown to cause HR deficiency signatures in breast tumors (Polak et al., 2017), suggesting these tumors should respond well to platinum chemotherapy or PARP inhibitors. Promoter methylation of *BRCA1* has been studied on a breast cancer cohort in Iceland and linked to improved response to platinum-based therapy ((Stefansson et al., 2011b); Olafur A. Stefansson, in press). Results from our ovarian cancer pilot study were inconclusive due to low sample numbers (Sigurður Ingi Magnússon, B.Sc thesis, University of Iceland, 2018).

Pathological assessment is being performed for all the tumors included in the study and TMAs will be stained with IHC for important clinical markers such as p53 and CA125 as well as BRCA1 to confirm loss of expression. As previously described for the male breast cancer cases, it would be interesting to perform RAD51 foci staining to detect tumors that are HR deficient, both to verify sequencing results and identify tumors with other germline or somatic mutations in HR genes than we have screened for. Apart from defects in HR repair, a subset of ovarian tumors have been shown to be deficient in MMR repair (Murphy & Wentzensen, 2011). Seven cases included in our study presented with SEOC which is in some instances caused by Lvnch Syndrome (Takeda et al., 2018). Of the genes associated with Lynch syndrome, germline mutations in in PMS2 and MSH6 are most prevalent in the Icelandic population and confer risk to colorectal, endometrial and ovarian cancers among a few others (Haraldsdottir et al., 2017). Promoter methylation of MLH1 has also been shown to be present in a subset of Lynch-syndrome associated tumors, including ovarian cancer (Losi et al., 2018). IHC staining for these proteins will be performed and used to guide subsequent analysis by sequencing.

5.4.11 Double mutation carriers of BRCA2 and BRIP1

BRCA1-interacting protein C-terminal helicase 1 (BRIP1) is a tumor suppressor protein involved in DNA DSB repair through its interaction with BRCA1 (Cantor et al., 2001). BRIP1 is also involved in the repair of DNA ICLs through the FA pathway where biallelic mutations in *BRIP1* lead to the Fanconi anemia complementation group J (FANCJ) (Levran et al., 2005). BRIP1 seems to be involved in many important functions for maintaining genomic stability, for example in alleviating replication stress through resolving G-quadruplexes, but many of these roles are still not well understood (Brosh & Cantor, 2014). Like many other proteins involved in the same pathways, deleterious mutations in *BRIP1* have been linked to increased risk of breast and ovarian cancer.

We have not analyzed female breast tumor samples for the *BRIP1*^{2040_2041insTT} mutation in this study but previously published data indicates that this mutation does not increase breast cancer risk in the Icelandic population (Rafnar et al., 2011). The effects of truncating *BRIP1*

mutations on breast cancer risk are similarly debated elsewhere (Easton et al., 2016). This does not mean that such cases do not exist but whether biallelic inactivation of *BRIP1* is associated with high HR deficiency scores in breast cancer remains controversial, so is the significance of some other HR-related genes such as *ATM* and *CHEK2* (Polak et al., 2017). Even if the *BRIP1*^{2040_2041insTT} mutation is not associated with increased breast cancer risk at a population level, it would be interesting to examine breast tumors from female mutation carriers with regards to LOH and HR deficiency. The same goes for the *BRIP1* LOH ovarian cancer cases.

One of the two BRCA2^{999del5} breast tumors in the Sanger study (Davies et al., 2017; Nik-Zainal et al., 2016) that did not have LOH of BRCA2, was interestingly from a woman also carrying the BRIP1^{2040_2041insTT} germline mutation. The tumor had LOH of the wild-type BRIP1 allele and a high HRDetect score, suggesting that loss of BRIP1 was the driving event for this tumor and the reason for its HR deficiency, even though this could not be ascertained based on one sample (Davies et al., 2017). Another BRCA2999del5 breast tumor included in the same study was shown to also carry the BRIP1^{2040_2041insTT} mutation. Neither of these cases had been genotyped for BRIP1 mutations beforehand. Inversely, this breast tumor had LOH of BRCA2 but retention of the BRIP1 wild-type allele (Davies et al., 2017). This patient was however later diagnosed with peritoneal cancer, (case 199 included in the 1999-2013 ovarian cancer cohort). As described above, that tumor had retained both BRIP1 and BRCA2 wild-type alleles. These estimates are based on targeted sequencing over the locus and inactivation of either gene by other mechanisms cannot be excluded. It would be very interesting to validate this finding with more extensive sequencing methods and establish whether the peritoneal tumor shows signs of HR deficiency. Although not demonstrated by this case, the tissue specificity between BRCA2, which if mutated is more associated with breast cancer, and BRIP1 which predominantly increases risk for ovarian cancer, is intriguing.

An interesting angle would be to examine families where both *BRCA2*^{999del5} and *BRIP1*^{2040_2041insTT} are present. Is there higher cancer penetrance in individuals with dual germline mutations and is there a trend in which wild-type allele is lost in different tumor types? We currently have very limited information on the families of the 5 individuals carrying both mutations described here (2 MBC cases, 1 FBC, 1 FBC/PTC and 1 OC case) but they are likely from at least 3 different immediate families (data not shown). Of these five individuals, two have been diagnosed with more than one cancer; the breast/peritoneal tumor case 199 described above as well as a man with

two distinct breast cancer diagnoses (case 16). In addition, ovarian cancer case 356 had two DCIS diagnoses. While the male breast tumors seem to be *BRCA2* associated, the other female breast tumors and ovarian/peritoneal tumors display a variety of LOH combinations. More cases would be needed to identify any patterns in cancer occurrence or driver events. It should be noted that multiple cancer diagnoses are also frequently observed in mutation carriers of *BRCA2* alone. Furthermore, double mutations in the *BRCA* genes are extremely rare, even in populations with multiple known founder mutations like Ashkenazi Jews. The few double carriers studied do not seem to have higher risk of developing breast and ovarian cancers than carriers of the *BRCA2*^{999del5} and the *BRCA1*^{G5193A} have not been identified in the Icelandic population to our knowledge but compound mutation carriers of the 999del5 and K3326* mutations in *BRCA2* have been described (Rafnar et al., 2018).

The combination of carrying two mutations in HR-involved genes is interesting in terms of cancer predisposition on a functional level. Could there be slight haploinsufficiency in both genes contributing to cancer risk or is BRCA2 deficiency the main culprit? Functional studies on BRIP1 are scarce. Using the CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing technology, heterozygous cell line BRCA2999del5 established the models with could be and BRIP1^{2040_2041insTT} mutations, separate and together, to compare the effects on DNA repair efficiency and genomic stability in general (similar to what was described earlier for comparison of the 999del5 and K3326 mutations in BRCA2). Here, the choice of cell lines is equally important if tissue specific effects are to be addressed. Even then, it is possible that functional work in cell lines could not distinguish between these without the context of tissue structure, microenvironment and hormonal regulation over a lifetime.

6 Conclusions

The work described in this thesis covers various aspects of possible BRCA2 haploinsufficiency. Expanding on previously reported data showing that retention of the wild-type *BRCA2* allele is common in female breast cancers from *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers, I show that wild-type locus specific LOH is nearly always present in male breast cancer and ovarian cancer cases from carriers of the same mutation. This highlights different tumor development and/or progression pathways between these tissues and indicates tissue-specific BRCA2 haploinsufficiency in the female breast.

Focusing on a possible haploinsufficiency effect on telomeres in female *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers, no differences in telomere length or levels of telomere dysfunction were detected between mutation carriers and non-carriers. However, shorter TL in both blood and normal breast tissue were associated with earlier breast cancer occurrence in *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation carriers but not in non-carriers. This suggest that short TL, often indicative of dysfunctional telomere maintenance, may be a modifying factor of breast cancer risk in *BRCA2* mutation carriers. Consistent with previously reported data, a clear difference in telomere length was seen in different cell types within normal breast tissue. The shortest telomere length and highest levels of DNA damage were seen in luminal epithelial cells which is highly relevant as these are the cells from which most breast cancers originate.

To further elucidate BRCA2 haploinsufficiency on a functional level, I have recently established an isogenic cell line model mimicking the *BRCA2*^{999del5} mutation. Functional characterization of such models in different cell lines could shed light on the mechanism of possible BRCA2 haploinsufficiency in tumorigenesis as well as tissue-specificity.

References

- Adey, A., Burton, J. N., Kitzman, J. O., Hiatt, J. B., Lewis, A. P., Martin, B. K., Qiu, R., Lee, C., & Shendure, J. (2013). The haplotype-resolved genome and epigenome of the aneuploid HeLa cancer cell line. *Nature*, 500(7461), 207–211. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12064
- Alexandrov, L. B., Nik-Zainal, S., Wedge, D. C., Aparicio, S. a J. R., Behjati, S., Biankin, A. V., Bignell, G. R., Bolli, N., Borg, A., Børresen-Dale, A.-L., Boyault, S., Burkhardt, B., Butler, A. P., Caldas, C., Davies, H. R., Desmedt, C., Eils, R., Evfjörd, J. E., Foekens, J. a, Greaves, M., Hosoda, F., Hutter, B., Ilicic, T., Imbeaud, S., Imielinsk, M., Jäger, N., Jones, D. T. W., Jones, D., Knappskog, S., Kool, M., Lakhani, S. R., López-Otín, C., Martin, S., Munshi, N. C., Nakamura, H., Northcott, P. a, Pajic, M., Papaemmanuil, E., Paradiso, A., Pearson, J. V, Puente, X. S., Raine, K., Ramakrishna, M., Richardson, A. L., Richter, J., Rosenstiel, P., Schlesner, M., Schumacher, T. N., Span, P. N., Teague, J. W., Totoki, Y., Tutt, A. N. J., Valdés-Mas, R., van Buuren, M. M., van 't Veer, L., Vincent-Salomon, A., Waddell, N., Yates, L. R., Zucman-Rossi, J., Andrew Futreal, P., McDermott, U., Lichter, P., Meyerson, M., Grimmond, S. M., Siebert, R., Campo, E., Shibata, T., Pfister, S. M., Campbell, P. J., & Stratton, M. R. (2013). Signatures of mutational Nature. 500(7463). processes in human cancer. 415-421. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12477
- Annala, M., Struss, W. J., Warner, E. W., Beja, K., Vandekerkhove, G., Wong, A., Khalaf, D., Seppälä, I.-L., So, A., Lo, G., Aggarwal, R., Small, E. J., Nykter, M., Gleave, M. E., Chi, K. N., & Wyatt, A. W. (2017). Treatment Outcomes and Tumor Loss of Heterozygosity in Germline DNA Repair-deficient Prostate Cancer. *European Urology*, *72*(1), 34– 42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2017.02.023
- Aradottir, M., Reynisdottir, S. T., Stefansson, O. A., Jonasson, J. G., Sverrisdottir, A., Tryggvadottir, L., Eyfjord, J. E., & Bodvarsdottir, S. K. (2015). Aurora A is a prognostic marker for breast cancer arising in BRCA2 mutation carriers. *The Journal of Pathology: Clinical Research*, 1(1), 33–40. https://doi.org/10.1002/cjp2.6
- Arason, A., Jonasdottir, A., Barkardottir, R. B., Bergthorsson, J. T., Teare, M. D., Easton, D. F., & Egilsson, V. (1998). A population study of mutations and LOH at breast cancer gene loci in tumours from sister pairs: two recurrent mutations seem to account for all BRCA1/BRCA2 linked breast cancer in Iceland. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, *35*(6), 446–449. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmg.35.6.446

- Armanios, M., & Blackburn, E. (2012). The telomere syndromes. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *13*(10), 693–704. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3246.The
- Arnold, K., Kim, M.-K., Frerk, K., Edler, L., Savelyeva, L., Schmezer, P., & Wiedemeyer, R. (2006). Lower level of BRCA2 protein in heterozygous mutation carriers is correlated with an increase in DNA double strand breaks and an impaired DSB repair. *Cancer Letters*, 243(1), 90–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2005.11.041
- Artandi, S. E., Chang, S., Lee, S. L., Alson, S., Gottlieb, G. J., Chin, L., & DePinho, R. A. (2000). Telomere dysfunction promotes non-reciprocal translocations and epithelial cancers in mice. *Nature*, 406(6796), 641– 645. https://doi.org/10.1038/35020592
- Ashworth, A. (2008). A synthetic lethal therapeutic approach: poly(ADP) ribose polymerase inhibitors for the treatment of cancers deficient in DNA double-strand break repair. *Journal of Clinical Oncology : Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 26*(22), 3785–3790. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2008.16.0812
- Audebert, M., Salles, B., & Calsou, P. (2004). Involvement of Poly(ADPribose) Polymerase-1 and XRCC1/DNA Ligase III in an Alternative Route for DNA Double-strand Breaks Rejoining. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(53), 55117–55126. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M404524200
- Badie, S., Escandell, J. M., Bouwman, P., Carlos, A. R., Thanasoula, M., Gallardo, M. M., Suram, A., Jaco, I., Benitez, J., Herbig, U., Blasco, M. A., Jonkers, J., & Tarsounas, M. (2010). BRCA2 acts as a RAD51 loader to facilitate telomere replication and capping. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, *17*(12), 1461–1469. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.1943
- Ballal, R. D., Saha, T., Fan, S., Haddad, B. R., & Rosen, E. M. (2009). BRCA1 localization to the telomere and its loss from the telomere in response to DNA damage. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(52), 36083–36098. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.025825
- Bane, A. L., Beck, J. C., Bleiweiss, I., Buys, S. S., Catalano, E., Daly, M. B., Giles, G., Godwin, A. K., Hibshoosh, H., Hopper, J. L., John, E. M., Layfield, L., Longacre, T., Miron, A., Senie, R., Southey, M. C., West, D. W., Whittemore, A. S., Wu, H., Andrulis, I. L., & O'Malley, F. P. (2007). BRCA2 mutation-associated breast cancers exhibit a distinguishing phenotype based on morphology and molecular profiles from tissue microarrays. *The American Journal of Surgical Pathology*, *31*(1), 121–128. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.pas.0000213351.49767.0f
- Basham, V. M., Lipscombe, J. M., Ward, J. M., Gayther, S. A., Ponder, B. A. J., Easton, D. F., & Pharoah, P. D. P. (2002). BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations in a population-based study of male breast cancer. *Breast*

Cancer Research, 4(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr419

- Baumann, P., & West, S. C. (1998). Role of the human RAD51 protein in homologous recombination and double-stranded-break repair. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 23(7), 247–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0968-0004(98)01232-8
- Bellacosa, A., Godwin, A. K., Peri, S., Devarajan, K., Caretti, E., Vanderveer, L., Bove, B., Slater, C., Zhou, Y., Daly, M., Howard, S., Campbell, K. S., Nicolas, E., Yeung, A. T., Clapper, M. L., Crowell, J. A., Lynch, H. T., Ross, E., Kopelovich, L., & Knudson, A. G. (2010). Altered gene expression in morphologically normal epithelial cells from heterozygous carriers of BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations. *Cancer Prevention Research*, *3*(1), 48–61. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-09-0078
- Benitez-Buelga, C., Sanchez-Barroso, L., Gallardo, M., Apellániz-Ruiz, M., Inglada-Pérez, L., Yanowski, K., Carrillo, J., Garcia-Estevez, L., Calvo, I., Perona, R., Urioste, M., Osorio, A., Blasco, M. A., Rodriguez-Antona, C., & Benitez, J. (2015). Impact of chemotherapy on telomere length in sporadic and familial breast cancer patients. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, *149*(2), 385–394. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-014-3246-6
- Bennardo, N., Cheng, A., Huang, N., & Stark, J. M. (2008). Alternative-NHEJ Is a Mechanistically Distinct Pathway of Mammalian Chromosome Break Repair. *PLoS Genetics*, 4(6), e1000110. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1000110
- Berger, A. H., Knudson, A. G., & Pandolfi, P. P. (2011). A continuum model for tumour suppression. *Nature*, *476*(7359), 163–169. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10275
- Bergthorsson, J. T., Jonasdottir, A., Johannesdottir, G., Arason, A., Egilsson, V., Gayther, S., Borg, A., Hakanson, S., Ingvarsson, S., & Barkardottir, R. B. (1998). Identification of a novel splice-site mutation of the BRCA1 gene in two breast cancer families: screening reveals low frequency in Icelandic breast cancer patients. *Human Mutation, Suppl 1*, S195-7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9452084
- Bernards, S. S., Pennington, K. P., Harrell, M. I., Agnew, K. J., Garcia, R. L., Norquist, B. M., & Swisher, E. M. (2018). Clinical characteristics and outcomes of patients with BRCA1 or RAD51C methylated versus mutated ovarian carcinoma. *Gynecologic Oncology*, 148(2), 281–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2017.12.004
- Berti, M., & Vindigni, A. (2016). Replication stress: getting back on track. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, 23(2), 103–109. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.3163
- Bétermier, M., Bertrand, P., & Lopez, B. S. (2014). Is Non-Homologous End-Joining Really an Inherently Error-Prone Process? *PLoS Genetics*,

10(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1004086

- Bhargava, R., Onyango, D. O., & Stark, J. M. (2016). Regulation of Single-Strand Annealing and its Role in Genome Maintenance. *Trends in Genetics*, 32(9), 566–575. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2016.06.007
- Bhatia, V., Barroso, S. I., García-Rubio, M. L., Tumini, E., Herrera-Moyano, E., & Aguilera, A. (2014). BRCA2 prevents R-loop accumulation and associates with TREX-2 mRNA export factor PCID2. *Nature*, *511*(7509), 362–365. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13374
- Bhowmick, R., Minocherhomji, S., & Hickson, I. D. (2016). RAD52 Facilitates Mitotic DNA Synthesis Following Replication Stress. *Molecular Cell*, 64(6), 1117–1126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2016.10.037
- Bignell, G., Micklem, G., Stratton, M. R., Ashworth, A., & Wooster, R. (1997). The BRC repeats are conserved in mammalian BRCA2 proteins. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *6*(1), 53–58. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/6.1.53
- Blackburn, E. H., Greider, C. W., Henderson, E., Lee, M. S., Shampay, J., & Shippen-Lentz, D. (1989). Recognition and elongation of telomeres by telomerase. *Genome / National Research Council Canada = Génome / Conseil National de Recherches Canada*, 31(2), 553–560. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2698831
- Bodvarsdottir, S. K., Steinarsdottir, M., Bjarnason, H., & Eyfjord, J. E. (2012). Dysfunctional telomeres in human BRCA2 mutated breast tumors and cell lines. *Mutation Research-Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, 729(1–2), 90–99. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2011.10.002
- Bolton, K. L., Chenevix-Trench, G., Goh, C., Sadetzki, S., Ramus, S. J., Karlan, B. Y., Lambrechts, D., Despierre, E., Barrowdale, D., McGuffog, L., Healey, S., Easton, D. F., Sinilnikova, O., Benítez, J., García, M. J., Neuhausen, S., Gail, M. H., Hartge, P., Peock, S., Frost, D., Evans, D. G., Eeles, R., Godwin, A. K., Daly, M. B., Kwong, A., Ma, E. S. K., Lázaro, C., Blanco, I., Montagna, M., D'Andrea, E., Nicoletto, M. O., Johnatty, S. E., Kjær, S. K., Jensen, A., Høgdall, E., Goode, E. L., Fridley, B. L., Loud, J. T., Greene, M. H., Mai, P. L., Chetrit, A., Lubin, F., Hirsh-Yechezkel, G., Glendon, G., Andrulis, I. L., Toland, A. E., Senter, L., Gore, M. E., Gourley, C., Michie, C. O., Song, H., Tyrer, J., Whittemore, A. S., McGuire, V., Sieh, W., Kristoffersson, U., Olsson, H., Borg, Å., Levine, D. A., Steele, L., Beattie, M. S., Chan, S., Nussbaum, R. L., Moysich, K. B., Gross, J., Cass, I., Walsh, C., Li, A. J., Leuchter, R., Gordon, O., Garcia-Closas, M., Gayther, S. A., Chanock, S. J., Antoniou, A. C., & Pharoah, P. D. P. (2012). Association between BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutations and Survival in Women with Invasive Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association, 307(4), 382–390. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012.20

- Bonadona, V., Bonaïti, B., Olschwang, S., Grandjouan, S., Huiart, L., Longy, M., Guimbaud, R., Buecher, B., Bignon, Y. J., Caron, O., Colas, C., Noguès, C., Lejeune-Dumoulin, S., Olivier-Faivre, L., Polycarpe-Osaer, F., Nguyen, T. D., Desseigne, F., Saurin, J. C., Berthet, P., Leroux, D., Duffour, J., Manouvrier, S., Frébourg, T., Sobol, H., Lasset, C., & Bonaïti-Pellié, C. (2011). Cancer risks associated with germline mutations in MLH1, MSH2, and MSH6 genes in lynch syndrome. *JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association*, *305*(22), 2304–2310. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2011.743
- Bray, F., Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Siegel, R. L., Torre, L. A., & Jemal, A. (2018). Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 68(6), 394–424. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21492
- Brosh, R. M., & Cantor, S. B. (2014). Molecular and cellular functions of the FANCJ DNA helicase defective in cancer and in Fanconi anemia. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *5*(OCT), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2014.00372
- Bryan, T. M., Englezou, A., Dalla-Pozza, L., Dunham, M. A., & Reddel, R. R. (1997). Evidence for an alternative mechanism for maintaining telomere length in human tumors and tumor-derived cell lines. *Nature Medicine*, *3*(11), 1271–1274. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1197-1271
- Bryant, H. E., Schultz, N., Thomas, H. D., Parker, K. M., Flower, D., Lopez, E., Kyle, S., Meuth, M., Curtin, N. J., & Helleday, T. (2005). Specific killing of BRCA2-deficient tumours with inhibitors of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase. *Nature*, 434(7035), 913–917. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03443
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. (2011). Integrated genomic analyses of ovarian carcinoma. *Nature*, *474*(7353), 609–615. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10166
- Cantor, S. B., Bell, D. W., Ganesan, S., Kass, E. M., Drapkin, R., Grossman, S., Wahrer, D. C. R., Sgroi, D. C., Lane, W. S., Haber, D. A., & Livingston, D. M. (2001). BACH1, a novel helicase-like protein, interacts directly with BRCA1 and contributes to its DNA repair function. *Cell*, *105*(1), 149–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00304-X
- Cass, I., Baldwin, R. L., Varkey, T., Moslehi, R., Narod, S. A., & Karlan, B. Y. (2003). Improved survival in women with BRCA-associated ovarian carcinoma. *Cancer*, *97*(9), 2187–2195. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.11310
- Castro, E., Jugurnauth-Little, S., Karlsson, Q., Al-Shahrour, F., Piñeiro-Yañez, E., Van de Poll, F., Leongamornlert, D., Dadaev, T., Govindasami, K., Guy, M., Eeles, R., & Kote-Jarai, Z. (2015). High

burden of copy number alterations and *c-MYC* amplification in prostate cancer from *BRCA2* germline mutation carriers. *Annals of Oncology*, *26*(11), 2293–2300. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdv356

- Castroviejo-Bermejo, M., Cruz, C., Llop-Guevara, A., Gutiérrez-Enríquez, S., Ducy, M., Ibrahim, Y. H., Gris-Oliver, A., Pellegrino, B., Bruna, A., Guzmán, M., Rodríguez, O., Grueso, J., Bonache, S., Moles-Fernández, A., Villacampa, G., Viaplana, C., Gómez, P., Vidal, M., Peg, V., Serres-Créixams, X., Dellaire, G., Simard, J., Nuciforo, P., Rubio, I. T., Dientsmann, R., Barrett, J. C., Caldas, C., Baselga, J., Saura, C., Cortés, J., Déas, O., Jonkers, J., Masson, J., Cairo, S., Judde, J., O'Connor, M. J., Díez, O., Balmaña, J., & Serra, V. (2018). A RAD51 assay feasible in routine tumor samples calls PARP inhibitor response beyond BRCA mutation. *EMBO Molecular Medicine*, *10*(12), e9172. https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201809172
- Cawthon, R. M. (2009). Telomere length measurement by a novel monochrome multiplex quantitative PCR method. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 37(3), e21. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkn1027
- Ceccaldi, R., Liu, J. C., Amunugama, R., Hajdu, I., Primack, B., Petalcorin, M. I. R., O'Connor, K. W., Konstantinopoulos, P. a., Elledge, S. J., Boulton, S. J., Yusufzai, T., & D'Andrea, A. D. (2015). Homologousrecombination-deficient tumours are dependent on Pol0-mediated repair. *Nature*, *518*(7538), 258–262. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14184
- Ceccaldi, R., Rondinelli, B., & D'Andrea, A. D. (2016a). Repair Pathway Choices and Consequences at the Double-Strand Break. *Trends in Cell Biology*, *26*(1), 52–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2015.07.009
- Ceccaldi, R., Sarangi, P., & D'Andrea, A. D. (2016b). The Fanconi anaemia pathway: new players and new functions. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, *17*(6), 337–349. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2016.48
- Chang, H. H. Y., Pannunzio, N. R., Adachi, N., & Lieber, M. R. (2017). Nonhomologous DNA end joining and alternative pathways to double-strand break repair. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, *18*(8), 495–506. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.48
- Cheang, M. C. U., Voduc, D., Bajdik, C., Leung, S., McKinney, S., Chia, S. K., Perou, C. M., & Nielsen, T. O. (2008). Basal-like breast cancer defined by five biomarkers has superior prognostic value than triple-negative phenotype. *Clinical Cancer Research : An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research*, *14*(5), 1368–1376. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1658
- Chen, C., Feng, W., Lim, P. X., Kass, E. M., & Jasin, M. (2018). Homology-Directed Repair and the Role of BRCA1, BRCA2, and Related Proteins in Genome Integrity and Cancer. *Annual Review of Cancer Biology*,

2(1), 313–336. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cancerbio-030617-050502

- Chen, H., Lisby, M., & Symington, L. (2013). RPA Coordinates DNA End Resection and Prevents Formation of DNA Hairpins. *Molecular Cell*, 50(4), 589–600. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2013.04.032
- Chin, K., de Solorzano, C. O., Knowles, D., Jones, A., Chou, W., Rodriguez, E. G., Kuo, W.-L., Ljung, B.-M., Chew, K., Myambo, K., Miranda, M., Krig, S., Garbe, J., Stampfer, M., Yaswen, P., Gray, J. W., & Lockett, S. J. (2004). In situ analyses of genome instability in breast cancer. *Nature Genetics*, *36*(9), 984–988. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1409
- Cho, S. W., Kim, S., Kim, J. M., & Kim, J.-S. (2013). Targeted genome engineering in human cells with the Cas9 RNA-guided endonuclease. *Nature Biotechnology*, *31*(3), 230–232. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2507
- Choi, E., Park, P. G., Lee, H. O., Lee, Y. K., Kang, G. H., Lee, J. W., Han, W., Lee, H. C., Noh, D. Y., Lekomtsev, S., & Lee, H. (2012). BRCA2 Fine-Tunes the Spindle Assembly Checkpoint through Reinforcement of BubR1 Acetylation. *Developmental Cell*, 22(2), 295–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2012.01.009
- Coburn, S. B., Bray, F., Sherman, M. E., & Trabert, B. (2017). International patterns and trends in ovarian cancer incidence, overall and by histologic subtype. *International Journal of Cancer*, *140*(11), 2451–2460. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.30676
- Cong, L., Ran, F. A., Cox, D., Lin, S., Barretto, R., Hsu, P. D., Wu, X., Jiang, W., & Marraffini, L. A. (2013). Multiplex Genome Engineering Using CRISPR/VCas Systems. *Science*, 339(6121), 819–823. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1231143.Multiplex
- Cruz, C., Castroviejo-Bermejo, M., Gutiérrez-Enríquez, S., Llop-Guevara, A., Ibrahim, Y. H., Gris-Oliver, A., Bonache, S., Morancho, B., Bruna, A., Rueda, O. M., Lai, Z., Polanska, U. M., Jones, G. N., Kristel, P., de Bustos, L., Guzman, M., Rodríguez, O., Grueso, J., Montalban, G., Caratú, G., Mancuso, F., Fasani, R., Jiménez, J., Howat, W. J., Dougherty, B., Vivancos, A., Nuciforo, P., Serres-Créixams, X., Rubio, I. T., Oaknin, A., Cadogan, E., Barrett, J. C., Caldas, C., Baselga, J., Saura, C., Cortés, J., Arribas, J., Jonkers, J., Díez, O., O'Connor, M. J., Balmaña, J., & Serra, V. (2018). RAD51 foci as a functional biomarker of homologous recombination repair and PARP inhibitor resistance in germline BRCA-mutated breast cancer. *Annals of Oncology, 29*(5), 1203–1210. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdy099
- Cunningham, J. M., Cicek, M. S., Larson, N. B., Davila, J., Wang, C., Larson, M. C., Song, H., Dicks, E. M., Harrington, P., Wick, M., Winterhoff, B. J., Hamidi, H., Konecny, G. E., Chien, J., Bibikova, M., Fan, J.-B., Kalli, K. R., Lindor, N. M., Fridley, B. L., Pharoah, P. P. D., & Goode, E. L.

(2015). Clinical Characteristics of Ovarian Cancer Classified by BRCA1, BRCA2, and RAD51C Status. *Scientific Reports*, *4*(1), 4026. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep04026

- D'Andrea, A. D. (2018). Mechanisms of PARP inhibitor sensitivity and resistance. *DNA Repair*, *71*, 172–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2018.08.021
- Dagnall, C. L., Hicks, B., Teshome, K., Hutchinson, A. A., Gadalla, S. M., Khincha, P. P., Yeager, M., & Savage, S. A. (2017). Effect of preanalytic variables on the reproducibility of qPCR relative telomere length measurement. *PloS One*, *12*(9), e0184098. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0184098
- Daly, M. B., Axilbund, J. E., Buys, S., Crawford, B., Farrell, C. D., Friedman, S., Garber, J. E., Goorha, S., Gruber, S. B., Hampel, H., Kaklamani, V., Kohlmann, W., Kurian, A., Litton, J., Marcom, P. K., Nussbaum, R., Offit, K., Pal, T., Pasche, B., Pilarski, R., Reiser, G., Shannon, K. M., Smith, J. R., Swisher, E., Weitzel, J. N., & National Comprehensive Cancer Network. (2010). Genetic/familial high-risk assessment: breast and ovarian. *Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network: JNCCN*, 8(5), 562–594. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20495085
- Daniali, L., Benetos, A., Susser, E., Kark, J. D., Labat, C., Kimura, M., Desai, K., Granick, M., & Aviv, A. (2013). Telomeres shorten at equivalent rates in somatic tissues of adults. *Nature Communications*, *4*, 1596– 1597. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms2602
- Daniels, M. J., Wang, Y., Lee, M., & Venkitaraman, A. R. (2004). Abnormal Cytokinesis in Cells Deficient in the Breast Cancer Susceptibility Protein BRCA2. *Science*, *306*(5697), 876–879. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1102574
- Dantuma, N. P., & van Attikum, H. (2016). Spatiotemporal regulation of posttranslational modifications in the DNA damage response. *EMBO J*, 35(1), 6–23. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201592595
- Davies, H., Glodzik, D., Morganella, S., Yates, L. R., Staaf, J., Zou, X., Ramakrishna, M., Martin, S., Boyault, S., Sieuwerts, A. M., Simpson, P. T., King, T. A., Raine, K., Eyfjord, J. E., Kong, G., Borg, Å., Birney, E., Stunnenberg, H. G., Van De Vijver, M. J., Børresen-Dale, A. L., Martens, J. W. M., Span, P. N., Lakhani, S. R., Vincent-Salomon, A., Sotiriou, C., Tutt, A., Thompson, A. M., Van Laere, S., Richardson, A. L., Viari, A., Campbell, P. J., Stratton, M. R., & Nik-Zainal, S. (2017). HRDetect is a predictor of BRCA1 and BRCA2 deficiency based on mutational signatures. *Nature Medicine*, 23(4), 517–525. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4292

Davies, O. R., & Pellegrini, L. (2007). Interaction with the BRCA2 C terminus

protects RAD51-DNA filaments from disassembly by BRC repeats. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, *14*(6), 475–483. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb1251

- de Lange, T. (2005a). Shelterin: the protein complex that shapes and safeguards human telomeres. *Genes Dev*, *19*(18), 2100–2110. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1346005
- de Lange, T. (2005b). Telomere-related genome instability in cancer. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol*, 70, 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1101/sqb.2005.70.032
- De Vivo, I., Prescott, J., Wong, J. Y. Y., Kraft, P., Hankinson, S. E., & Hunter, D. J. (2009). A Prospective Study of Relative Telomere Length and Postmenopausal Breast Cancer Risk. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers* & *Prevention*, 18(4), 1152–1156. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-08-0998
- Deb, S., Lakhani, S. R., Ottini, L., & Fox, S. B. (2016). The cancer genetics and pathology of male breast cancer. *Histopathology*, *68*(1), 110–118. https://doi.org/10.1111/his.12862
- Deriano, L., & Roth, D. B. (2013). Modernizing the Nonhomologous End-Joining Repertoire: Alternative and Classical NHEJ Share the Stage. *Annual Review of Genetics*, *47*(1), 433–455. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-genet-110711-155540
- Diker-Cohen, T., Uziel, O., Szyper-Kravitz, M., Shapira, H., Natur, A., & Lahav, M. (2013). The effect of chemotherapy on telomere dynamics: clinical results and possible mechanisms. *Leukemia & Lymphoma*, *54*(9), 2023–2029. https://doi.org/10.3109/10428194.2012.757765
- Ding, Y. C., Steele, L., Kuan, C.-J., Greilac, S., & Neuhausen, S. L. (2011). Mutations in BRCA2 and PALB2 in male breast cancer cases from the United States. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, *126*(3), 771. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10549-010-1195-2
- Diolaiti, M. E., Cimini, B. a, Kageyama, R., Charles, F. a, & Stohr, B. a. (2013). In situ visualization of telomere elongation patterns in human cells. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *41*(18), e176. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt689
- Downs, J. A., & Jackson, S. P. (2004). A means to a DNA end: the many roles of Ku. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, *5*(5), 367–378. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1367
- Dunham, M. A., Neumann, A. A., Fasching, C. L., & Reddel, R. R. (2000). Telomere maintenance by recombination in human cells. *Nature Genetics*, *26*(4), 447–450. https://doi.org/10.1038/82586
- Easton, D. F., Lesueur, F., Decker, B., Michailidou, K., Li, J., Allen, J., Luccarini, C., Pooley, K. A., Shah, M., Bolla, M. K., Wang, Q., Dennis,

J., Ahmad, J., Thompson, E. R., Damiola, F., Pertesi, M., Voegele, C., Mebirouk, N., Robinot, N., Durand, G., Forey, N., Luben, R. N., Ahmed, S., Aittomäki, K., Anton-Culver, H., Arndt, V., Baynes, C., Beckman, M. W., Benitez, J., Van Den Berg, D., Blot, W. J., Bogdanova, N. V. Bojesen, S. E., Brenner, H., Chang-Claude, J., Chia, K. S., Choi, J.-Y., Conroy, D. M., Cox, A., Cross, S. S., Czene, K., Darabi, H., Devilee, P., Eriksson, M., Fasching, P. A., Figueroa, J., Flyger, H., Fostira, F., García-Closas, M., Giles, G. G., Glendon, G., González-Neira, A., Guénel, P., Haiman, C. A., Hall, P., Hart, S. N., Hartman, M., Hooning, M. J., Hsiung, C.-N., Ito, H., Jakubowska, A., James, P. A., John, E. M., Johnson, N., Jones, M., Kabisch, M., Kang, D., Kosma, V.-M., Kristensen, V., Lambrechts, D., Li, N., Lindblom, A., Long, J., Lophatananon, A., Lubinski, J., Mannermaa, A., Manoukian, S., Margolin, S., Matsuo, K., Meindl, A., Mitchell, G., Muir, K., Nevelsteen, I., van den Ouweland, A., Peterlongo, P., Phuah, S. Y., Pylkäs, K., Rowley, S. M., Sangrajrang, S., Schmutzler, R. K., Shen, C.-Y., Shu, X.-O., Southey, M. C., Surowy, H., Swerdlow, A., Teo, S. H., Tollenaar, R. A. E. M., Tomlinson, I., Torres, D., Truong, T., Vachon, C., Verhoef, S., Wong-Brown, M., Zheng, W., Zheng, Y., Nevanlinna, H., Scott, R. J., Andrulis, I. L., Wu, A. H., Hopper, J. L., Couch, F. J., Wingvist, R., Burwinkel, B., Sawyer, E. J., Schmidt, M. K., Rudolph, A., Dörk, T., Brauch, H., Hamann, U., Neuhausen, S. L., Milne, R. L., Fletcher, O., Pharoah, P. D. P., Campbell, I. G., Dunning, A. M., Le Calvez-Kelm, F., Goldgar, D. E., Tavtigian, S. V. & Chenevix-Trench, G. (2016), No. evidence that protein truncating variants in BRIP1 are associated with breast cancer risk: implications for gene panel testing. Journal of Medical Genetics, 53(5), 298-309. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmedgenet-2015-103529

- Edwards, S. M., Evans, D. G. R., Hope, Q., Norman, A. R., Barbachano, Y., Bullock, S., Kote-Jarai, Z., Meitz, J., Falconer, A., Osin, P., Fisher, C., Guy, M., Jhavar, S. G., Hall, A. L., O'Brien, L. T., Gehr-Swain, B. N., Wilkinson, R. A., Forrest, M. S., Dearnaley, D. P., Ardern-Jones, A. T., Page, E. C., Easton, D. F., Eeles, R. A., & UK Genetic Prostate Cancer Study Collaborators and BAUS Section of Oncology, T. U. G. P. C. S. C. and B. S. of. (2010). Prostate cancer in BRCA2 germline mutation carriers is associated with poorer prognosis. *British Journal of Cancer*, *103*(6), 918–924. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6605822
- Ennour-Idrissi, K., Maunsell, E., & Diorio, C. (2017). Telomere Length and Breast Cancer Prognosis: A Systematic Review. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention*, 26(1), 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-16-0343
- Esashi, F., Galkin, V. E., Yu, X., Egelman, E. H., & West, S. C. (2007). Stabilization of RAD51 nucleoprotein filaments by the C-terminal region of BRCA2. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, *14*(6), 468–474. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb1245

- Escribano-Díaz, C., Orthwein, A., Fradet-Turcotte, A., Xing, M., Young, J. T. F., Tkáč, J., Cook, M. A., Rosebrock, A. P., Munro, M., Canny, M. D., Xu, D., & Durocher, D. (2013). A Cell Cycle-Dependent Regulatory Circuit Composed of 53BP1-RIF1 and BRCA1-CtIP Controls DNA Repair Pathway Choice. *Molecular Cell*, 49(5), 872–883. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2013.01.001
- Evans, D. G. R., Susnerwala, I., Dawson, J., Woodward, E., Maher, E. R., & Lalloo, F. (2010). Risk of breast cancer in male BRCA2 carriers. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, 47(10), 710–711. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmg.2009.075176
- Eyfjord, J. E., & Bodvarsdottir, S. K. (2005). Genomic instability and cancer: Networks involved in response to DNA damage. *Mutation Research* -*Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, *592*(1–2), 18–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2005.05.010
- Farmer, H., McCabe, N., Lord, C. J., Tutt, A. N. J., Johnson, D. A., Richardson, T. B., Santarosa, M., Dillon, K. J., Hickson, I., Knights, C., Martin, N. M. B., Jackson, S. P., Smith, G. C. M., & Ashworth, A. (2005). Targeting the DNA repair defect in BRCA mutant cells as a therapeutic strategy. *Nature*, 434(7035), 917–921. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03445
- Feng, J., Funk, W., Wang, S., Weinrich, S., Avilion, A., Chiu, C., Adams, R., Chang, E., Allsopp, R., Yu, J., & al., e. (1995). The RNA component of human telomerase. *Science*, 269(5228), 1236–1241. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7544491
- Feng, L., Fong, K. W., Wang, J., Wang, W., & Chen, J. (2013). RIF1 counteracts BRCA1-mediated end resection during DNA repair. *Journal* of *Biological Chemistry*, 288(16), 11135–11143. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.457440
- Feng, W., & Jasin, M. (2017). BRCA2 suppresses replication stress-induced mitotic and G1 abnormalities through homologous recombination. *Nature Communications*, 8(1), 525. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-00634-0
- Fentiman, I. S., Fourquet, A., & Hortobagyi, G. N. (2006). Seminar Male breast cancer. *Thelancet.Com*, 367, 595.
- Fordyce, C. A., Heaphy, C. M., Bisoffi, M., Wyaco, J. L., Joste, N. E., Mangalik, A., Baumgartner, K. B., Baumgartner, R. N., Hunt, W. C., & Griffith, J. K. (2006). Telomere content correlates with stage and prognosis in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 99(2), 193–202. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-006-9204-1
- Fostira, F., Saloustros, E., Apostolou, P., Vagena, A., Kalfakakou, D., Mauri,
 D., Tryfonopoulos, D., Georgoulias, V., Yannoukakos, D., Fountzilas,
 G., & Konstantopoulou, I. (2018). Germline deleterious mutations in

genes other than BRCA2 are infrequent in male breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, *169*(1), 105–113. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-018-4661-x

- Fradet-Turcotte, A., Sitz, J., Grapton, D., & Orthwein, A. (2016). BRCA2 functions: from DNA repair to replication fork stabilization. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, *23*(10), T1–T17. https://doi.org/10.1530/ERC-16-0297
- Fridlich, R., Annamalai, D., Roy, R., Bernheim, G., & Powell, S. N. (2015). BRCA1 and BRCA2 protect against oxidative DNA damage converted into double-strand breaks during DNA replication. *DNA Repair*, *30*, 11– 20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2015.03.002
- Fu, Y., Foden, J. A., Khayter, C., Maeder, M. L., Reyon, D., Joung, J. K., & Sander, J. D. (2013). High-frequency off-target mutagenesis induced by CRISPR-Cas nucleases in human cells. *Nature Biotechnology*, *31*(9), 822–826. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2623
- Gargiulo, P., Pensabene, M., Milano, M., Arpino, G., Giuliano, M., Forestieri, V., Condello, C., Lauria, R., & De Placido, S. (2016). Long-term survival and BRCA status in male breast cancer: a retrospective single-center analysis. *BMC Cancer*, *16*, 375. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-016-2414-y
- Garrido-Castro, A. C., Lin, N. U., & Polyak, K. (2019). Insights into molecular classifications of triple-negative breast cancer: Improving patient selection for treatment. *Cancer Discovery*, *9*(2), 176–198. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-1177
- Gilson, E., & Géli, V. (2007). How telomeres are replicated. *Nature Reviews Molecular https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2259*
- Godwin, A. K., Vanderveer, L., Schultz, D. C., Lynch, H. T., Altomare, D. A., Buetow, K. H., Daly, M., Getts, L. A., Masny, A., & Rosenblum, N. (1994). A common region of deletion on chromosome 17q in both sporadic and familial epithelial ovarian tumors distal to BRCA1. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 55(4), 666–677. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7942844
- Gorringe, K. L., & Fox, S. B. (2017). Ductal Carcinoma In Situ Biology, Biomarkers, and Diagnosis. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 7, 248. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2017.00248
- Greif, J. M., Pezzi, C. M., Klimberg, V. S., Bailey, L., & Zuraek, M. (2012). Gender Differences in Breast Cancer: Analysis of 13,000 Breast Cancers in Men from the National Cancer Data Base. Annals of Surgical Oncology, 19(10), 3199–3204. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-012-2479-z

Gretarsdottir, S., Thorlacius, S., Valgardsdottir, R., Gudlaugsdottir, S.,

Sigurdsson, S., Steinarsdottir, M., Jonasson, J. G., Anamthawat-Jonsson, K., & Eyfjörd, J. E. (1998). BRCA2 and p53 mutations in primary breast cancer in relation to genetic instability. *Cancer Research*, *58*(5), 859–862. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9500438

- Griffith, J. D., Comeau, L., Rosenfield, S., Stansel, R. M., Bianchi, A., Moss, H., & de Lange, T. (1999). Mammalian telomeres end in a large duplex loop. *Cell*, 97(4), 503–514. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10338214
- Gruber, J. J., Chen, J., Geller, B., Jäger, N., Lipchik, A. M., Wang, G., Kurian, A. W., Ford, J. M., & Snyder, M. P. (2019). Chromatin Remodeling in Response to BRCA2-Crisis. *Cell Reports*, 28(8), 2182-2193.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.07.057
- Gudbjartsson, D. F., Helgason, H., Gudjonsson, S. A., Zink, F., Oddson, A., Gylfason, A., Besenbacher, S., Magnusson, G., Halldorsson, B. V., Hjartarson, E., Sigurdsson, G. T., Stacey, S. N., Frigge, M. L., Holm, H., Saemundsdottir, J., Helgadottir, H. T., Johannsdottir, H., Sigfusson, G., Thorgeirsson, G., Sverrisson, J. T., Gretarsdottir, S., Walters, G. B., Rafnar, T., Thjodleifsson, B., Bjornsson, E. S., Olafsson, S., Thorarinsdottir, H., Steingrimsdottir, T., Gudmundsdottir, T. S., Theodors, A., Jonasson, J. G., Sigurdsson, A., Bjornsdottir, G., Jonsson, J. J., Thorarensen, O., Ludvigsson, P., Gudbjartsson, H., Eyjolfsson, G. I., Sigurdardottir, O., Olafsson, I., Arnar, D. O., Magnusson, O. T., Kong, A., Masson, G., Thorsteinsdottir, U., Helgason, A., Sulem, P., & Stefansson, K. (2015). Large-scale wholegenome sequencing of the Icelandic population. *Nature Genetics*, 47(5), 435–444. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3247
- Gudjonsson, T., Villadsen, R., Nielsen, H. L., Rønnov-Jessen, L., Bissell, M. J., & Petersen, O. W. (2002). Isolation, immortalization, and characterization of a human breast epithelial cell line with stem cell properties. *Genes & Development*, 16(6), 693–706. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.952602
- Gudmundsdottir, K., & Ashworth, A. (2006). The roles of BRCA1 and BRCA2 and associated proteins in the maintenance of genomic stability. *Oncogene*, *25*(43), 5864–5874. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1209874
- Gudmundsdottir, K., Thorlacius, S., Jonasson, J. G., Sigfusson, B. F., Tryggvadottir, L., & Eyfjord, J. E. (2003). CYP17 promoter polymorphism and breast cancer risk in males and females in relation to BRCA2 status. *British Journal of Cancer, 88*(6), 933–936. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6600839
- Gudmundsson, J., Johannesdottir, G., Bergthorsson, J. T., Arason, A., Ingvarsson, S., Egilsson, V., & Barkardottir, R. B. (1995). Different Tumor Types from BRCA2 Carriers Show Wild-Type Chromosome

Deletions on 13q12-q13. Cancer Research, 55(21), 4830-4832.

- Hall, J. M., Lee, M. K., Newman, B., Morrow, J. E., Anderson, L. A., Huey, B., & King, M. C. (1990). Linkage of early-onset familial breast cancer to chromosome 17q21. *Science*, 250(4988), 1684–1689. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2270482
- Hanada, K., Budzowska, M., Modesti, M., Maas, A., Wyman, C., Essers, J., & Kanaar, R. (2006). The structure-specific endonuclease Mus81–Eme1 promotes conversion of interstrand DNA crosslinks into double-strands breaks. *The EMBO Journal*, 25(20), 4921–4932. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601344
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The Hallmarks of Cancer. *Cell*, *100*(1), 57–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81683-9
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell*, *144*(5), 646–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Haraldsdottir, S., Rafnar, T., Frankel, W. L., Einarsdottir, S., Sigurdsson, A., Hampel, H., Snaebjornsson, P., Masson, G., Weng, D., Arngrimsson, R., Kehr, B., Yilmaz, A., Haraldsson, S., Sulem, P., Stefansson, T., Shields, P. G., Sigurdsson, F., Bekaii-Saab, T., Moller, P. H., Steinarsdottir, M., Alexiusdottir, K., Hitchins, M., Pritchard, C. C., de la Chapelle, A., Jonasson, J. G., Goldberg, R. M., & Stefansson, K. (2017). Comprehensive population-wide analysis of Lynch syndrome in Iceland reveals founder mutations in MSH6 and PMS2. *Nature Communications*, *8*, 14755. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14755
- Harbeck, N., Penault-Llorca, F., Cortes, J., Gnant, M., Houssami, N., Poortmans, P., Ruddy, K., Tsang, J., & Cardoso, F. (2019). Breast cancer. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 5(1), 66. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-019-0111-2
- Heaphy, C. M., Bisoffi, M., Fordyce, C. A., Haaland, C. M., Hines, W. C., Joste, N. E., & Griffith, J. K. (2006). Telomere DNA content and allelic imbalance demonstrate field cancerization in histologically normal tissue adjacent to breast tumors. *International Journal of Cancer*, *119*(1), 108– 116. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.21815
- Heaphy, C. M., Subhawong, A. P., Gross, A. L., Konishi, Y., Kouprina, N., Argani, P., Visvanathan, K., & Meeker, A. K. (2011). Shorter telomeres in luminal B, HER-2 and triple-negative breast cancer subtypes. *Modern Pathology: An Official Journal of the United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology, Inc, 24*(2), 194–200. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2010.198
- Hebner, C. M., & Laimins, L. A. (2006). Human papillomaviruses: Basic mechanisms of pathogenesis and oncogenicity. *Reviews in Medical Virology*, 16(2), 83–97. https://doi.org/10.1002/rmv.488

- Hecht, S. S. (2011). Tobacco smoke carcinogens and lung cancer. *Current Cancer Research*, *6*(14), 53–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-61737-995-6_3
- Hemann, M. T., Strong, M. a, Hao, L. Y., & Greider, C. W. (2001). The shortest telomere, not average telomere length, is critical for cell viability and chromosome stability. *Cell*, *107*(1), 67–77. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11595186
- Hjortkjær, M., Malik Aagaard Jørgensen, M., Waldstrøm, M., Ørnskov, D., Søgaard-Andersen, E., Jakobsen, A., & Dahl-Steffensen, K. (2019). The clinical importance of BRCAness in a population-based cohort of Danish epithelial ovarian cancer. *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer : Official Journal of the International Gynecological Cancer Society*, 29(1), 166–173. https://doi.org/10.1136/ijgc-2018-000017
- Holohan, B., Wright, W. E., & Shay, J. W. (2014). Telomeropathies: An emerging spectrum disorder. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 205(3), 289– 299. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201401012
- Howlett, N. G., Taniguchi, T., Olson, S., Cox, B., Waisfisz, Q., De Die-Smulders, C., Persky, N., Grompe, M., Joenje, H., Pals, G., Ikeda, H., Fox, E. A., & D'Andrea, A. D. (2002). Biallelic inactivation of BRCA2 in Fanconi anemia. *Science*, 297(5581), 606–609. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1073834
- Huang, Y., & Li, L. (2013). DNA crosslinking damage and cancer a tale of friend and foe. *Translational Cancer Research*, *2*(3), 144–154. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2013.03.01
- Ibrahim, M., Yadav, S., Ogunleye, F., & Zakalik, D. (2018). Male BRCA mutation carriers: Clinical characteristics and cancer spectrum. *BMC Cancer*, 18(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-018-4098-y
- Icelandic Cancer Registry. (2019). Tölfræði krabbameina á Íslandi. Retrieved September 25, 2019, from https://www.krabb.is/krabbameinsskra/upplysingar-umkrabbamein/krabbamein-a-o/
- Jackson, S. P., & Bartek, J. (2009). The DNA-damage response in human biology and disease. *Nature*, *461*(7267), 1071–1078. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08467
- Jasin, M., & Rothstein, R. (2013). Repair of strand breaks by homologous recombination. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a012740
- Jensen, R. B., Carreira, A., & Kowalczykowski, S. C. (2010). Purified human BRCA2 stimulates RAD51-mediated recombination. *Nature*, *467*(7316), 678–683. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09399

Johannesdottir, G., Gudmundsson, J., Bergthorsson, J. T., Arason, A.,

Agnarsson, B. a, Eiriksdottir, G., Johannsson, O. T., Borg, A., Ingvarsson, S., Easton, D. F., Egilsson, V., & Barkardottir, R. B. (1996). High prevalence of the 999del5 mutation in icelandic breast and ovarian cancer patients. *Cancer Research*, *56*(16), 3663–3665. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8706004

- Johansson, I., Ringnér, M., & Hedenfalk, I. (2013). The Landscape of Candidate Driver Genes Differs between Male and Female Breast Cancer. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(10), 0–12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0078299
- Jonasson, J. G., Agnarsson, B. A., Thorlacius, S., Eyfjord, J. E., & Tulinius, H. (1996). Male breast cancer in Iceland. *International Journal of Cancer*, 65(4), 446–449. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19960208)65:4<446::AID-IJC9>3.0.CO;2-X
- Jonasson, J. G., Stefansson, O. A., Johannsson, O. T., Sigurdsson, H., Agnarsson, B. A., Olafsdottir, G. H., Alexiusdottir, K. K., Stefansdottir, H., Munoz Mitev, R., Olafsdottir, K., Olafsdottir, K., Arason, A., Stefansdottir, V., Olafsdottir, E. J., Barkardottir, R. B., Eyfjord, J. E., Narod, S. A., & Tryggvadóttir, L. (2016). Oestrogen receptor status, treatment and breast cancer prognosis in Icelandic BRCA2 mutation carriers. *British Journal of Cancer*, *115*(7), 776–783. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2016.249
- Jonsdottir, A. B., Vreeswijk, M. P. G., Wolterbeek, R., Devilee, P., Tanke, H. J., Eyfjörd, J. E., & Szuhai, K. (2009). BRCA2 heterozygosity delays cytokinesis in primary human fibroblasts. *Cellular Oncology*, *31*(3), 191– 201. https://doi.org/10.3233/CLO-2009-0465
- Jonsson, P., Bandlamudi, C., Cheng, M. L., Srinivasan, P., Chavan, S. S., Friedman, N. D., Rosen, E. Y., Richards, A. L., Bouvier, N., Selcuklu, S. D., Bielski, C. M., Abida, W., Mandelker, D., Birsoy, O., Zhang, L., Zehir, A., Donoghue, M. T. A., Baselga, J., Offit, K., Scher, H. I., O'Reilly, E. M., Stadler, Z. K., Schultz, N., Socci, N. D., Viale, A., Ladanyi, M., Robson, M. E., Hyman, D. M., Berger, M. F., Solit, D. B., & Taylor, B. S. (2019). Tumour lineage shapes BRCA-mediated phenotypes. *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1382-1
- Joung, J. K., & Sander, J. D. (2013). TALENs: a widely applicable technology for targeted genome editing. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, *14*(1), 49–55. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3486
- Kais, Z., Rondinelli, B., Holmes, A., O'Leary, C., Kozono, D., D'Andrea, A. D., & Ceccaldi, R. (2016). FANCD2 Maintains Fork Stability in BRCA1/2-Deficient Tumors and Promotes Alternative End-Joining DNA Repair. *Cell Reports*, *15*(11), 2488–2499. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2016.05.031

Kanchi, K. L., Johnson, K. J., Lu, C., McLellan, M. D., Leiserson, M. D. M.,
Wendl, M. C., Zhang, Q., Koboldt, D. C., Xie, M., Kandoth, C., McMichael, J. F., Wyczalkowski, M. A., Larson, D. E., Schmidt, H. K., Miller, C. A., Fulton, R. S., Spellman, P. T., Mardis, E. R., Druley, T. E., Graubert, T. A., Goodfellow, P. J., Raphael, B. J., Wilson, R. K., & Ding, L. (2014). Integrated analysis of germline and somatic variants in ovarian cancer. *Nature Communications*, *5*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4156

- Kannan, N., Huda, N., Tu, L., Droumeva, R., Aubert, G., Chavez, E., Brinkman, R. R., Lansdorp, P., Emerman, J., Abe, S., Eaves, C., & Gilley, D. (2013). The luminal progenitor compartment of the normal human mammary gland constitutes a unique site of telomere dysfunction. *Stem Cell Reports*, 1(1), 28–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2013.04.003
- Karanam, K., Kafri, R., Loewer, A., & Lahav, G. (2012). Quantitative Live Cell Imaging Reveals a Gradual Shift between DNA Repair Mechanisms and a Maximal Use of HR in Mid S Phase. *Molecular Cell*, *47*(2), 320–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2012.05.052
- Kass, E. M., Moynahan, M. E., & Jasin, M. (2016). When Genome Maintenance Goes Badly Awry. *Molecular Cell*, 62(5), 777–787. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2016.05.021
- Kaufman, B., Shapira-Frommer, R., Schmutzler, R. K., Audeh, M. W., Friedlander, M., Balma??a, J., Mitchell, G., Fried, G., Stemmer, S. M., Hubert, A., Rosengarten, O., Steiner, M., Loman, N., Bowen, K., Fielding, A., & Domchek, S. M. (2015). Olaparib monotherapy in patients with advanced cancer and a germline BRCA1/2 mutation. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 33(3), 244–250. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2014.56.2728
- Killick, E., Tymrakiewicz, M., Cieza-Borrella, C., Smith, P., Thompson, D. J., Pooley, K. a, Easton, D. F., Bancroft, E., Page, E., Leongamornlert, D., Kote-Jarai, Z., & Eeles, R. a. (2014). Telomere length shows no association with BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation status. *PloS One*, *9*(1), e86659. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0086659
- Kim, M.-K., Zitzmann, S., Westermann, F., Arnold, K., Brouwers, S., Schwab, M., & Savelyeva, L. (2004). Increased rates of spontaneous sister chromatid exchange in lymphocytes of BRCA2+/– carriers of familial breast cancer clusters. *Cancer Letters*, 210(1), 85–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2004.01.014
- King, T. A., Li, W., Brogi, E., Yee, C. J., Gemignani, M. L., Olvera, N., Levine, D. A., Norton, L., Robson, M. E., Offit, K., Borgen, P. I., & Boyd, J. (2007). Heterogenic Loss of the Wild-Type BRCA Allele in Human Breast Tumorigenesis. *Annals of Surgical Oncology*, *14*(9), 2510–2518. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-007-9372-1

- Knudson, A. G. (2001). Two genetic hits (more or less) to cancer. *Nature Reviews. Cancer*, *1*(2), 157–162. https://doi.org/10.1038/35101031
- Konishi, H., Mohseni, M., Tamaki, A., Garay, J. P., Croessmann, S., Karnan, S., Ota, A., Wong, H. Y., Konishi, Y., Karakas, B., Tahir, K., Abukhdeir, A. M., Gustin, J. P., Cidado, J., Wang, G. M., Cosgrove, D., Cochran, R., Jelovac, D., Higgins, M. J., Arena, S., Hawkins, L., Lauring, J., Gross, A. L., Heaphy, C. M., Hosokawa, Y., Gabrielson, E., Meeker, A. K., Visvanathan, K., Argani, P., Bachman, K. E., & Park, B. H. (2011). Mutation of a single allele of the cancer susceptibility gene BRCA1 leads to genomic instability in human breast epithelial cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *108*(43), 17773–17778. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1110969108
- Kornegoor, R., Verschuur-Maes, A. H. J., Buerger, H., Hogenes, M. C. H., de Bruin, P. C., Oudejans, J. J., van der Groep, P., Hinrichs, B., & van Diest, P. J. (2012). Molecular subtyping of male breast cancer by immunohistochemistry. *Modern Pathology*, 25(3), 398–404. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2011.174
- Kuchenbaecker, K. B., Hopper, J. L., Barnes, D. R., Phillips, K.-A., Mooij, T. M., Roos-Blom, M.-J., Jervis, S., van Leeuwen, F. E., Milne, R. L., Andrieu, N., Goldgar, D. E., Terry, M. B., Rookus, M. A., Easton, D. F., Antoniou, A. C., McGuffog, L., Evans, D. G., Barrowdale, D., Frost, D., Adlard, J., Ong, K., Izatt, L., Tischkowitz, M., Eeles, R., Davidson, R., Hodgson, S., Ellis, S., Nogues, C., Lasset, C., Stoppa-Lyonnet, D., Fricker, J.-P., Faivre, L., Berthet, P., Hooning, M. J., van der Kolk, L. E., Kets, C. M., Adank, M. A., John, E. M., Chung, W. K., Andrulis, I. L., Southey, M., Daly, M. B., Buys, S. S., Osorio, A., Engel, C., Kast, K., Schmutzler, R. K., Caldes, T., Jakubowska, A., Simard, J., Friedlander, M. L., McLachlan, S.-A., Machackova, E., Foretova, L., Tan, Y. Y., Singer, C. F., Olah, E., Gerdes, A.-M., Arver, B., & Olsson, H. (2017). Risks of Breast, Ovarian, and Contralateral Breast Cancer for BRCA1 BRCA2 JAMA. and Mutation Carriers. 317(23), 2402. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.7112
- Kurabayashi, R., Takubo, K., Aida, J., Honma, N., Poon, S. S. S., Kammori, M., Izumiyama-Shimomura, N., Nakamura, K., Tsuji, E., Matsuura, M., Ogawa, T., & Kaminishi, M. (2008). Luminal and cancer cells in the breast show more rapid telomere shortening than myoepithelial cells and fibroblasts. *Human Pathology*, *39*(11), 1647–1655. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0046817708001615
- Kurman, R. J., & Shih, I.-M. (2010). The Origin and Pathogenesis of Epithelial Ovarian Cancer: A Proposed Unifying Theory. *The American Journal of Surgical Pathology*, 34(3), 433–443. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS.0b013e3181cf3d79

Kuznetsov, S. G., Liu, P., & Sharan, S. K. (2008). Mouse embryonic stem

cell-based functional assay to evaluate mutations in BRCA2. *Nature Medicine*, *14*(8), 875–881. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.1719

- Kwa, M. J., & Adams, S. (2018, May 15). Checkpoint inhibitors in triplenegative breast cancer (TNBC): Where to go from here. *Cancer*, Vol. 124, pp. 2086–2103. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.31272
- Kwiatkowska, E., Teresiak, M., Breborowicz, D., & Mackiewicz, A. (2002). Somatic mutations in theBRCA2 gene and high frequency of allelic loss ofBRCA2 in sporadic male breast cancer. *International Journal of Cancer*, 98(6), 943–945. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.10289
- Lakhani, S. R. (2012). *WHO Classification of Tumours of the Breast* (Fourth Edi). Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer.
- Lamarche, B. J., Orazio, N. I., & Weitzman, M. D. (2010). The MRN complex in double-strand break repair and telomere maintenance. *FEBS Letters*, 584(17), 3682–3695. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2010.07.029
- Lavie, O., Narod, S., Lejbkowicz, F., Dishon, S., Goldberg, Y., Gemer, O., & Rennert, G. (2011). Double heterozygosity in the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes in the Jewish population. *Annals of Oncology*, *22*(4), 964–966. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdq460
- Ledermann, J. A. (2017). Front-line therapy of advanced ovarian cancer: New approaches. *Annals of Oncology*, *28*(Supplement 8), viii46–viii50. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdx452
- Levran, O., Attwooll, C., Henry, R. T., Milton, K. L., Neveling, K., Rio, P., Batish, S. D., Kalb, R., Velleuer, E., Barral, S., Ott, J., Petrini, J., Schindler, D., Hanenberg, H., & Auerbach, A. D. (2005). The BRCA1interacting helicase BRIP1 is deficient in Fanconi anemia. *Nature Genetics*, 37(9), 931–933. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1624
- Levy-Lahad, E., & Friedman, E. (2007). Cancer risks among BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. *British Journal of Cancer*, *96*(1), 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603535
- Levy, M. Z., Allsopp, R. C., Futcher, A. B., Greider, C. W., & Harley, C. B. (1992). Telomere end-replication problem and cell aging. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 225(4), 951–960. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2836(92)90096-3
- Lieber, M. R., Ma, Y., Pannicke, U., & Schwarz, K. (2003). Mechanism and regulation of human non-homologous DNA end-joining. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 4(9), 712–720. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1202
- Lin, S., Staahl, B. T., Alla, R. K., & Doudna, J. A. (2014). Enhanced homology-directed human genome engineering by controlled timing of CRISPR/Cas9 delivery. *ELife*, 3, e04766. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.04766

- Lindahl, T., & Barnes, D. E. (2000). Repair of endogenous DNA damage. *Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology*, *65*, 127–133. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12760027
- Liu, J., Doty, T., Gibson, B., & Heyer, W.-D. (2010). Human BRCA2 protein promotes RAD51 filament formation on RPA-covered single-stranded DNA. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, *17*(10), 1260–1262. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.1904
- Lok, B. H., Carley, A. C., Tchang, B., & Powell, S. N. (2013). RAD52 inactivation is synthetically lethal with deficiencies in BRCA1 and PALB2 in addition to BRCA2 through RAD51-mediated homologous recombination. *Oncogene*, 32(30), 3552–3558. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2012.391
- Lok, B. H., & Powell, S. N. (2012). Molecular Pathways: Understanding the Role of Rad52 in Homologous Recombination for Therapeutic Advancement. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *18*(23), 6400–6406. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-3150
- Lomonosov, M., Anand, S., Sangrithi, M., Davies, R., & Venkitaraman, A. R. (2003). Stabilization of stalled DNA replication forks by the BRCA2 breast cancer susceptibility protein. *Genes and Development*, *17*(24), 3017–3022. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.279003
- López-Otín, C., Blasco, M. A., Partridge, L., Serrano, M., & Kroemer, G. (2013). The hallmarks of aging. *Cell*, *153*(6), 1194–1217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.05.039
- Lord, C. J., & Ashworth, A. (2016). BRCAness revisited. *Nature Reviews Cancer, 16*(2), 110–120. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2015.21
- Lord, C. J., & Ashworth, A. (2017). PARP inhibitors: Synthetic lethality in the clinic. *Science*, *355*(6330), 1152–1158. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aam7344
- Lord, C. J., Tutt, A. N. J., & Ashworth, A. (2015). Synthetic Lethality and Cancer Therapy: Lessons Learned from the Development of PARP Inhibitors. *Annual Review of Medicine*, *66*(1), 455–470. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-050913-022545
- Losi, L., Fonda, S., Saponaro, S., Chelbi, S. T., Lancellotti, C., Gozzi, G., Alberti, L., Fabbiani, L., Botticelli, L., & Benhattar, J. (2018). Distinct DNA methylation profiles in ovarian tumors: Opportunities for novel biomarkers. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19061559
- Maciejowski, J., & de Lange, T. (2017). Telomeres in cancer: tumour suppression and genome instability. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, *18*(3), 175–186. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2016.171

Maeda, T., Nakamura, K., Atsumi, K., Hirakawa, M., Ueda, Y., & Makino, N.

(2013). Radiation-associated changes in the length of telomeres in peripheral leukocytes from inpatients with cancer. *International Journal of Radiation Biology*, *89*(2), 106–109. https://doi.org/10.3109/09553002.2013.734945

- Mali, P., Yang, L., Esvelt, K. M., Aach, J., Guell, M., DiCarlo, J. E., Norville, J. E., & Church, G. M. (2013). RNA-Guided Human Genome Engineering via Cas9. *Science*, *339*(6121), 823–826. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1232033
- Mansour, W. Y., Rhein, T., & Dahm-Daphi, J. (2010). The alternative endjoining pathway for repair of DNA double-strand breaks requires PARP1 but is not dependent upon microhomologies. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 38(18), 6065–6077. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq387
- Martin Jinek, Krzysztof Chylinski, Ines Fonfara, Michael Hauer, Jennifer A. Doudna, & Emmanuelle Charpentier. (2012). A Programmable Dual-RNA–Guided DNA Endonuclease in Adaptive Bacterial Immunity. *Science*, 337(6096), 816–821. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1138140
- Martincorena, I., Raine, K. M., Gerstung, M., Dawson, K. J., Haase, K., Van Loo, P., Davies, H., Stratton, M. R., & Campbell, P. J. (2017). Universal Patterns of Selection in Cancer and Somatic Tissues. *Cell*, *171*(5), 1029-1041.e21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.042
- Martinez-Delgado, B., Gallardo, M., Tanic, M., Yanowsky, K., Inglada-Perez, L., Barroso, A., Rodriguez-Pinilla, M., Cañamero, M., Blasco, M. a, & Benitez, J. (2013). Short telomeres are frequent in hereditary breast tumors and are associated with high tumor grade. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 141(2), 231–242. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-013-2696-6
- Martinez-Delgado, B., Yanowsky, K., Inglada-Perez, L., Domingo, S., Urioste, M., Osorio, A., & Benitez, J. (2011). Genetic anticipation is associated with telomere shortening in hereditary breast cancer. *PLoS Genetics*, 7(7), e1002182. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1002182
- Maruyama, T., Dougan, S. K., Truttmann, M. C., Bilate, A. M., Ingram, J. R., & Ploegh, H. L. (2015). Increasing the efficiency of precise genome editing with CRISPR-Cas9 by inhibition of nonhomologous end joining. *Nature Biotechnology*. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.3190
- Mateos-Gomez, P. A., Gong, F., Nair, N., Miller, K. M., Lazzerini-Denchi, E., & Sfeir, A. (2015). Mammalian polymerase θ promotes alternative NHEJ and suppresses recombination. *Nature*, *518*(7538), 254–257. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14157
- Maxwell, K. N., Wubbenhorst, B., Wenz, B. M., De Sloover, D., Pluta, J., Emery, L., Barrett, A., Kraya, A. A., Anastopoulos, I. N., Yu, S., Jiang, Y., Chen, H., Zhang, N. R., Hackman, N., D'Andrea, K., Daber, R., Morrissette, J. J. D., Mitra, N., Feldman, M., Domchek, S. M., &

Nathanson, K. L. (2017). BRCA locus-specific loss of heterozygosity in germline BRCA1 and BRCA2 carriers. *Nature Communications*, *8*(1), 319. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-00388-9

- Mazoyer, S., Dunning, A. M., Serova, O., Dearden, J., Puget, N., Healey, C. S., Gayther, S. A., Mangion, J., Stratton, M. R., Lynch, H. T., Goldgar, D. E., Ponder, B. A. J., & Lenoir, G. M. (1996). A polymorphic stop codon in BRCA2. *Nature Genetics*, 14(3), 253–254. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1196-253
- McCann, K. E., & Hurvitz, S. A. (2018). Advances in the use of PARP inhibitor therapy for breast cancer. *Drugs in Context*, 7, 212540. https://doi.org/10.7573/dic.212540
- McCluggage, W. G. (2011). Morphological subtypes of ovarian carcinoma: a review with emphasis on new developments and pathogenesis. *Pathology*, *43*(5), 420–432. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAT.0b013e328348a6e7
- Mcvey, M., Lee, S. E., Avenue, H., & Antonio, S. (2017). MMEJ repair of double-strand breaks: deleted sequences and alternative endings. *Trends Genet.*, 24(11), 529–538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2008.08.007.MMEJ
- Meeker, A. K., Hicks, J. L., Gabrielson, E., Strauss, W. M., De Marzo, A. M., & Argani, P. (2004a). Telomere shortening occurs in subsets of normal breast epithelium as well as in situ and invasive carcinoma. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *164*(3), 925–935. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63180-X
- Meeker, A. K., Hicks, J. L., Iacobuzio-Donahue, C. A., Montgomery, E. A., Westra, W. H., Chan, T. Y., Ronnett, B. M., & De Marzo, A. M. (2004b). Telomere length abnormalities occur early in the initiation of epithelial carcinogenesis. *Clinical Cancer Research: An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research*, 10(10), 3317–3326. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-0984-03
- Menzel, T., Näsignhse-Kumpf, V., Kousholt, A. N., Klein, D. K., Lund-Andersen, C., Lees, M., Johansen, J. V., Syljuåsen, R. G., & Sørensen, C. S. (2011). A genetic screen identifies BRCA2 and PALB2 as key regulators of G2 checkpoint maintenance. *EMBO Reports*, 12(7), 705– 712. https://doi.org/10.1038/embor.2011.99
- Meyer, S., Tischkowitz, M., Chandler, K., Gillespie, A., Birch, J. M., & Evans, D. G. (2014). Fanconi anaemia, BRCA2 mutations and childhood cancer: a developmental perspective from clinical and epidemiological observations with implications for genetic counselling. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, *51*(2), 71–75. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmedgenet-2013-101642

Mikaelsdottir, E. K., Valgeirsdottir, S., Eyfjord, J. E., & Rafnar, T. (2004). The

Icelandic founder mutation BRCA2 999del5: analysis of expression. Breast Cancer Research: BCR, 6(4), R284-90. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr785

- Miki, Y., Swensen, J., Shattuck-Eidens, D., Futreal, P., Harshman, K., Tavtigian, S., Liu, Q., Cochran, C., Bennett, L., Ding, W., & et, al. (1994). A strong candidate for the breast and ovarian cancer susceptibility gene BRCA1. *Science*, 266(5182), 66–71. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7545954
- Min, J., Choi, E. S., Hwang, K., Kim, J., Sampath, S., Venkitaraman, A. R., & Lee, H. (2012). The breast cancer susceptibility gene BRCA2 is required for the maintenance of telomere homeostasis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(7), 5091–5101. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.278994
- Mondal, G., Rowley, M., Guidugli, L., Wu, J., Pankratz, V. S., & Couch, F. J. (2012). BRCA2 localization to the midbody by filamin A regulates cep55 signaling and completion of cytokinesis. *Developmental Cell*, *23*(1), 137–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2012.05.008
- Motycka, T. A., Bessho, T., Post, S. M., Sung, P., & Tomkinson, A. E. (2004). Physical and Functional Interaction between the XPF/ERCC1 Endonuclease and hRad52. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *279*(14), 13634–13639. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M313779200
- Moynahan, M. E. (2002). The cancer connection: BRCA1 and BRCA2 tumor suppression in mice and humans. *Oncogene*, *21*(58), 8994–9007. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1206177
- Moynahan, M. E., Pierce, A. J., & Jasin, M. (2001). BRCA2 is required for homology-directed repair of chromosomal breaks. *Molecular Cell*, 7(2), 263–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(01)00174-5
- Moyzis, R. K., Buckingham, J. M., Cram, L. S., Dani, M., Deaven, L. L., Jones, M. D., Meyne, J., Ratliff, R. L., & Wu, J. R. (1988). A highly conserved repetitive DNA sequence, (TTAGGG)n, present at the telomeres of human chromosomes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *85*(18), 6622–6626. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3413114
- Murai, J., Huang, S. Y. N., Das, B. B., Renaud, A., Zhang, Y., Doroshow, J. H., Ji, J., Takeda, S., & Pommier, Y. (2012). Trapping of PARP1 and PARP2 by clinical PARP inhibitors. *Cancer Research*, 72(21), 5588– 5599. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2753
- Murnane, J. P. (2010). Telomere Loss as a Mechanism for Chromosome Instability in Human Cancer. *Cancer Res*, 70(11), 4255–4259. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4357

Murphy, C. E., Carder, P. J., Lansdown, M. R. J., & Speirs, V. (2006). Steroid

hormone receptor expression in male breast cancer. *European Journal* of Surgical Oncology (EJSO), 32(1), 44–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2005.09.013

- Murphy, M. A., & Wentzensen, N. (2011). Frequency of mismatch repair deficiency in ovarian cancer: a systematic review. *International Journal* of Cancer, 129(8), 1914–1922. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.25835
- Mylavarapu, S., Das, A., & Roy, M. (2018). Role of BRCA Mutations in the Modulation of Response to Platinum Therapy. *Frontiers in Oncology*, *8*(February), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2018.00016
- Nakamura, T. M., Morin, G. B., Chapman, K. B., Weinrich, S. L., Andrews, W. H., Lingner, J., Harley, C. B., & Cech, T. R. (1997). Telomerase Catalytic Subunit Homologs from Fission Yeast and Human. *Science*, 277(5328), 955–959. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.277.5328.955
- Nik-Zainal, S., Davies, H., Staaf, J., Ramakrishna, M., Glodzik, D., Zou, X., Martincorena, I., Alexandrov, L. B., Martin, S., Wedge, D. C., Van Loo, P., Ju, Y. S., Smid, M., Brinkman, A. B., Morganella, S., Aure, M. R., Lingjærde, O. C., Langerød, A., Ringnér, M., Ahn, S.-M., Boyault, S., Brock, J. E., Broeks, A., Butler, A., Desmedt, C., Dirix, L., Dronov, S., Fatima, A., Foekens, J. A., Gerstung, M., Hooijer, G. K. J., Jang, S. J., Jones, D. R., Kim, H.-Y., King, T. A., Krishnamurthy, S., Lee, H. J., Lee, J.-Y., Li, Y., McLaren, S., Menzies, A., Mustonen, V., O'Meara, S., Pauporté, I., Pivot, X., Purdie, C. A., Raine, K., Ramakrishnan, K., Rodríguez-González, F. G., Romieu, G., Sieuwerts, A. M., Simpson, P. T., Shepherd, R., Stebbings, L., Stefansson, O. A., Teague, J., Tommasi, S., Treilleux, I., Van den Eynden, G. G., Vermeulen, P., Vincent-Salomon, A., Yates, L., Caldas, C., Veer, L. van't, Tutt, A., Knappskog, S., Tan, B. K. T., Jonkers, J., Borg, Å., Ueno, N. T., Sotiriou, C., Viari, A., Futreal, P. A., Campbell, P. J., Span, P. N., Van Laere, S., Lakhani, S. R., Eyfjord, J. E., Thompson, A. M., Birney, E., Stunnenberg, H. G., van de Vijver, M. J., Martens, J. W. M., Børresen-Dale, A.-L., Richardson, A. L., Kong, G., Thomas, G., & Stratton, M. R. (2016). Landscape of somatic mutations in 560 breast cancer wholesequences. 534(7605), 47-54. aenome Nature, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature17676
- Nik-Zainal, S., & Morganella, S. (2017). Mutational signatures in breast cancer: The problem at the DNA level. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 23(11), 2617–2629. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-2810
- Nik-Zainal, S., Van Loo, P., Wedge, D. C., Alexandrov, L. B., Greenman, C. D., Lau, K. W., Raine, K., Jones, D., Marshall, J., Ramakrishna, M., Shlien, A., Cooke, S. L., Hinton, J., Menzies, A., Stebbings, L. A., Leroy, C., Jia, M., Rance, R., Mudie, L. J., Gamble, S. J., Stephens, P. J., McLaren, S., Tarpey, P. S., Papaemmanuil, E., Davies, H. R., Varela, I., McBride, D. J., Bignell, G. R., Leung, K., Butler, A. P., Teague, J. W.,

Martin, S., Jönsson, G., Mariani, O., Boyault, S., Miron, P., Fatima, A., Langerod, A., Aparicio, S. A. J. R., Tutt, A., Sieuwerts, A. M., Borg, Å., Thomas, G., Salomon, A. V., Richardson, A. L., Borresen-Dale, A. L., Futreal, P. A., Stratton, M. R., & Campbell, P. J. (2012). The life history of 21 breast cancers. *Cell*, *149*(5), 994–1007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.04.023

- Nimonkar, A., Genschel, J., & Kinoshita, E. (2011). BLM–DNA2–RPA–MRN and EXO1–BLM–RPA–MRN constitute two DNA end resection machineries for human DNA break repair. *Genes* &, 2, 350–362. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.2003811.earliest
- Niraj, J., Färkkilä, A., & D'Andrea, A. D. (2019). The Fanconi Anemia Pathway in Cancer. *Annual Review of Cancer Biology*, *3*(1), 457–478. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cancerbio-030617-050422
- Osorio, A., De La Hoya, M., Rodríguez-López, R., Martínez-Ramírez, A., Cazorla, A., Granizo, J. J., Esteller, M., Rivas, C., Caldés, T., & Benítez, J. (2002). Loss of heterozygosity analysis at the BRCA loci in tumor samples from patients with familial breast cancer. *International Journal* of Cancer, 99(2), 305–309. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.10337
- Ottini, L., Masala, G., D'Amico, C., Mancini, B., Saieva, C., Aceto, G., Gestri, D., Vezzosi, V., Falchetti, M., De Marco, M., Paglierani, M., Cama, A., Bianchi, S., Mariani-Costantini, R., & Palli, D. (2003). BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation status and tumor characteristics in male breast cancer: A population-based study in Italy. *Cancer Research*, 63(2), 342–347.
- Ottini, L., Silvestri, V., Rizzolo, P., Falchetti, M., Zanna, I., Saieva, C., Masala, G., Bianchi, S., Manoukian, S., Barile, M., Peterlongo, P., Varesco, L., Tommasi, S., Russo, A., Giannini, G., Cortesi, L., Viel, A., Montagna, M., Radice, P., & Palli, D. (2012). Clinical and pathologic characteristics of BRCA-positive and BRCA-negative male breast cancer patients: Results from a collaborative multicenter study in Italy. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 134(1), 411–418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-012-2062-0
- Panier, S., & Boulton, S. J. (2013). Double-strand break repair: 53BP1 comes into focus. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, *15*(1), 7–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3719
- Papazian, M., Kalantzis, I., Galanopoulos, G., Mani, I., Tzaida, O., Iacovidou, I., & Ziras, N. (2016). Malignant myoepithelioma of the breast: A case report and review of the literature. *Molecular and Clinical Oncology*, 4(5), 723–727. https://doi.org/10.3892/mco.2016.808
- Paquet, D., Kwart, D., Chen, A., Sproul, A., Jacob, S., Teo, S., Olsen, K. M., Gregg, A., Noggle, S., & Tessier-Lavigne, M. (2016). Efficient introduction of specific homozygous and heterozygous mutations using

CRISPR/Cas9. *Nature*, 533(7601), 125–129. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature17664

- Park, J. Y., Virts, E. L., Jankowska, A., Wiek, C., Othman, M., Chakraborty, S. C., Vance, G. H., Alkuraya, F. S., Hanenberg, H., & Andreassen, P. R. (2016). Complementation of hypersensitivity to DNA interstrand crosslinking agents demonstrates that XRCC2 is a Fanconi anaemia gene. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, *53*(10), 672–680. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmedgenet-2016-103847
- Pathania, S., Bade, S., Le Guillou, M., Burke, K., Reed, R., Bowman-Colin, C., Su, Y., Ting, D. T., Polyak, K., Richardson, A. L., Feunteun, J., Garber, J. E., & Livingston, D. M. (2014). BRCA1 haploinsufficiency for replication stress suppression in primary cells. *Nature Communications*, 5, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6496
- Pathania, S., & Garber, J. E. (2018). Mixing Mutation Location With Carcinogen Exposure: A Recipe for Tissue Specificity in BRCA2-Associated Cancers? *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *110*(May), 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djy047
- Pavanello, S., Varesco, L., Gismondi, V., Bruzzi, P., & Bolognesi, C. (2018). Leucocytes telomere length and breast cancer risk/ susceptibility: A case-control study. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(5), e0197522. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0197522
- Perou, C. M., Sørlie, T., Eisen, M. B., van de Rijn, M., Jeffrey, S. S., Rees, C. A., Pollack, J. R., Ross, D. T., Johnsen, H., Akslen, L. A., Fluge, Ø., Pergamenschikov, A., Williams, C., Zhu, S. X., Lønning, P. E., Børresen-Dale, A.-L., Brown, P. O., & Botstein, D. (2000). Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature*, 406(6797), 747–752. https://doi.org/10.1038/35021093
- Petersen, O. W., & Polyak, K. (2010). Stem Cells in the Human Breast. *Perspectives on Mammary Gland Biology*, 2(5), 15. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a003160
- Petrini, J. H. J., & Stracker, T. H. (2003). The cellular response to DNA double-strand breaks: defining the sensors and mediators. *Trends in Cell Biology*, *13*(9), 458–462. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12946624
- Piscuoglio, S., Ng, C. K. Y., Murray, M. P., Guerini-Rocco, E., Martelotto, L. G., Geyer, F. C., Bidard, F.-C., Berman, S., Fusco, N., Sakr, R. A., Eberle, C. A., De Mattos-Arruda, L., Macedo, G. S., Akram, M., Baslan, T., Hicks, J. B., King, T. A., Brogi, E., Norton, L., Weigelt, B., Hudis, C. A., & Reis-Filho, J. S. (2016). The Genomic Landscape of Male Breast Cancers. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 22(16), 4045–4056. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2840

Polak, P., Kim, J., Braunstein, L. Z., Karlic, R., Haradhavala, N. J., Tiao, G.,

Rosebrock, D., Livitz, D., Kübler, K., Mouw, K. W., Kamburov, A., Maruvka, Y. E., Leshchiner, I., Lander, E. S., Golub, T. R., Zick, A., Orthwein, A., Lawrence, M. S., Batra, R. N., Caldas, C., Haber, D. A., Laird, P. W., Shen, H., Ellisen, L. W., D'Andrea, A. D., Chanock, S. J., Foulkes, W. D., & Getz, G. (2017). A mutational signature reveals alterations underlying deficient homologous recombination repair in breast cancer. *Nature Genetics*, *49*(10), 1476–1486. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3934

- Pommier, Y., O'Connor, M. J., & de Bono, J. (2016). Laying a trap to kill cancer cells: PARP inhibitors and their mechanisms of action. *Science Translational Medicine*, 8(362), 362ps17. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf9246
- Pooley, K. A., McGuffog, L., Barrowdale, D., Frost, D., Ellis, S. D., Fineberg, E., Platte, R., Izatt, L., Adlard, J., Bardwell, J., Brewer, C., Cole, T., Cook, J., Davidson, R., Donaldson, A., Dorkins, H., Douglas, F., Eason, J., Houghton, C., Kennedy, M. J., McCann, E., Miedzybrodzka, Z., Murray, A., Porteous, M. E., Rogers, M. T., Side, L. E., Tischkowitz, M., Walker, L., Hodgson, S., Eccles, D. M., Morrison, P. J., Evans, D. G., Eeles, R. A., Antoniou, A. C., Easton, D. F., & Dunning, A. M. (2014). Lymphocyte Telomere Length Is Long in BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutation Carriers Regardless of Cancer-Affected Status. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers* & *Prevention*, 23(6), 1018–1024. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-0635-T
- Pooley, K. a, Sandhu, M. S., Tyrer, J., Shah, M., Driver, K. E., Luben, R. N., Bingham, S. a, Ponder, B. a J., Pharoah, P. D. P., Khaw, K.-T., Easton, D. F., & Dunning, A. M. (2010). Telomere length in prospective and retrospective cancer case-control studies. *Cancer Research*, 70(8), 3170–3176. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4595
- Prat, A., Pineda, E., Adamo, B., Galván, P., Fernández, A., Gaba, L., Díez, M., Viladot, M., Arance, A., & Muñoz, M. (2015). Clinical implications of the intrinsic molecular subtypes of breast cancer. *Breast*, 24, S26–S35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2015.07.008
- Prechtel, D., Werenskiold, A. K., Prechtel, K., Keller, G., & Höfler, H. (1998). Frequent loss of heterozygosity at chromosome 13q12-13 with BRCA2 markers in sporadic male breast cancer. *Diagnostic Molecular Pathology : The American Journal of Surgical Pathology, Part B, 7*(1), 57–62. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9646036
- Pritzlaff, M., Summerour, P., McFarland, R., Li, S., Reineke, P., Dolinsky, J. S., Goldgar, D. E., Shimelis, H., Couch, F. J., Chao, E. C., & LaDuca, H. (2017). Male breast cancer in a multi-gene panel testing cohort: insights and unexpected results. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 161(3), 575–586. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-016-4085-4

Qu, Y., Han, B., Yu, Y., Yao, W., Bose, S., Karlan, B. Y., Giuliano, A. E., &

Cui, X. (2015). Evaluation of MCF10A as a reliable model for normal human mammary epithelial cells. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(7), e0131285. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0131285

- Rafnar, T., Benediktsdottir, K. R., Eldon, B. J., Gestsson, T., Saemundsson, H., Olafsson, K., Salvarsdottir, A., Steingrimsson, E., & Thorlacius, S. (2004). BRCA2, but not BRCA1, mutations account for familial ovarian cancer in Iceland: A population-based study. *European Journal of Cancer*, 40(18), 2788–2793. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2004.09.008
- Rafnar, T., Gudbjartsson, D. F., Sulem, P., Jonasdottir, A., Sigurdsson, A., Jonasdottir, A., Besenbacher, S., Lundin, P., Stacey, S. N., Gudmundsson, J., Magnusson, O. T., Le Roux, L., Orlygsdottir, G., Helgadottir, H. T., Johannsdottir, H., Gylfason, A., Tryggvadottir, L., Jonasson, J. G., De Juan, A., Ortega, E., Ramon-Cajal, J. M., García-Prats, M. D., Mayordomo, C., Panadero, A., Rivera, F., Aben, K. K. H., Van Altena, A. M., Massuger, L. F. A. G., Aavikko, M., Kujala, P. M., Staff, S., Aaltonen, L. A., Olafsdottir, K., Bjornsson, J., Kong, A., Salvarsdottir, A., Saemundsson, H., Olafsson, K., Benediktsdottir, K. R., Gulcher, J., Masson, G., Kiemeney, L. A., Mayordomo, J. I., Thorsteinsdottir, U., & Stefansson, K. (2011). Mutations in BRIP1 confer high risk of ovarian cancer. *Nature Genetics*, *43*(11), 1104–1107. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.955
- Rafnar, T., Sigurjonsdottir, G. R., Stacey, S. N., Halldorsson, G., Sulem, P., Pardo, L. M., Helgason, H., Sigurdsson, S. T., Gudjonsson, T., Tryggvadottir, L., Olafsdottir, G. H., Jonasson, J. G., Alexiusdottir, K., Sigurdsson, A., Gudmundsson, J., Saemundsdottir, J., Sigurdsson, J. K., Johannsdottir, H., Uitterlinden, A., Vermeulen, S. H., Galesloot, T. E., Allain, D. C., Lacko, M., Sigurgeirsson, B., Thorisdottir, K., Johannsson, O. T., Sigurdsson, F., Ragnarsson, G. B., Isaksson, H., Hardardottir, H., Gudbjartsson, T., Gudbjartsson, D. F., Masson, G., Kiemeney, L. A. M. L., Ewart Toland, A., Nijsten, T., Peters, W. H. M., Olafsson, J. H., Jonsson, S., Thorsteinsdottir, U., Thorleifsson, G., & Stefansson, K. (2018). Association of BRCA2 K3326* With Small Cell Lung Cancer and Squamous Cell Cancer of the Skin. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 110(May), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djy002
- Rahden-Staroń, I., Szumiło, M., Grosicka, E., Der Zwet, M. K. Van, & Zdzienicka, M. Z. (2003). Defective Brca2 influences topoisomerase I activity in mammalian cells. *Acta Biochimica Polonica*, *50*(1), 139–144.
- Ramus, S. J., & Gayther, S. A. (2009). The Contribution of BRCA1 and BRCA2 to Ovarian Cancer. *Molecular Oncology*, *3*(2), 138–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molonc.2009.02.001
- Ramus, S. J., Song, H., Dicks, E., Tyrer, J. P., Rosenthal, A. N., Intermaggio, M. P., Fraser, L., Gentry-Maharaj, A., Hayward, J., Philpott, S.,

Anderson, C., Edlund, C. K., Conti, D., Harrington, P., Barrowdale, D., Bowtell, D. D., Alsop, K., Mitchell, G., Cicek, M. S., Cunningham, J. M., Fridley, B. L., Alsop, J., Jimenez-Linan, M., Poblete, S., Lele, S., Sucheston-Campbell, L., Moysich, K. B., Sieh, W., McGuire, V., Lester, J., Bogdanova, N., Dürst, M., Hillemanns, P., Odunsi, K., Whittemore, A. S., Karlan, B. Y., Dörk, T., Goode, E. L., Menon, U., Jacobs, I. J., Antoniou, A. C., Pharoah, P. D. P., & Gayther, S. A. (2015). Germline mutations in the BRIP1, BARD1, PALB2, and NBN genes in women with ovarian cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *107*(11), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djv214

- Ray Chaudhuri, A., & Nussenzweig, A. (2017, July 5). The multifaceted roles of PARP1 in DNA repair and chromatin remodelling. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, Vol. 18, pp. 610–621. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.53
- Raynaud, C. M., Hernandez, J., Llorca, F. P., Nuciforo, P., Mathieu, M.-C., Commo, F., Delaloge, S., Sabatier, L., André, F., & Soria, J.-C. (2010).
 DNA Damage Repair and Telomere Length in Normal Breast, Preneoplastic Lesions, and Invasive Cancer. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 33(4), 341–345. https://doi.org/10.1097/COC.0b013e3181b0c4c2
- Rebbeck, T. R., Friebel, T. M., Friedman, E., Hamann, U., Huo, D., Kwong, A., Olah, E., Olopade, O. I., Solano, A. R., Teo, S. H., Thomassen, M., Weitzel, J. N., Chan, T. L., Couch, F. J., Goldgar, D. E., Kruse, T. A., Palmero, E. I., Park, S. K., Torres, D., van Rensburg, E. J., McGuffog, L., Parsons, M. T., Leslie, G., Aalfs, C. M., Abugattas, J., Adlard, J., Agata, S., Aittomäki, K., Andrews, L., Andrulis, I. L., Arason, A., Arnold, N., Arun, B. K., Asservanis, E., Auerbach, L., Azzollini, J., Balmaña, J., Barile, M., Barkardottir, R. B., Barrowdale, D., Benitez, J., Berger, A., Berger, R., Blanco, A. M., Blazer, K. R., Blok, M. J., Bonadona, V., Bonanni, B., Bradbury, A. R., Brewer, C., Buecher, B., Buys, S. S., Caldes, T., Caliebe, A., Caligo, M. A., Campbell, I., Caputo, S. M., Chiquette, J., Chung, W. K., Claes, K. B. M., Collée, J. M., Cook, J., Davidson, R., de la Hoya, M., De Leeneer, K., de Pauw, A., Delnatte, C., Diez, O., Ding, Y. C., Ditsch, N., Domchek, S. M., Dorfling, C. M., Velazquez, C., Dworniczak, B., Eason, J., Easton, D. F., Eeles, R., Ehrencrona, H., Ejlertsen, B., Engel, C., Engert, S., Evans, D. G., Faivre, L., Feliubadaló, L., Ferrer, S. F., Foretova, L., Fowler, J., Frost, D., Galvão, H. C. R., Ganz, P. A., Garber, J., Gauthier-Villars, M., Gehrig, A., Gerdes, A. M., Gesta, P., Giannini, G., Giraud, S., Glendon, G., Godwin, A. K., Greene, M. H., Gronwald, J., Gutierrez-Barrera, A., Hahnen, E., Hauke, J., Henderson, A., Hentschel, J., Hogervorst, F. B. L., Honisch, E., Imyanitov, E. N., Isaacs, C., Izatt, L., Izquierdo, A., Jakubowska, A., James, P., Janavicius, R., Jensen, U. B., John, E. M., Vijai, J., Kaczmarek, K., Karlan, B. Y., Kast, K., Investigators, Kc. F., Kim. S. W., Konstantopoulou, I., Korach, J., Laitman, Y., Lasa, A.,

Lasset, C., Lázaro, C., Lee, A., Lee, M. H., Lester, J., Lesueur, F., Liljegren, A., Lindor, N. M., Longy, M., Loud, J. T., Lu, K. H., Lubinski, J., Machackova, E., Manoukian, S., Mari, V., Martínez-Bouzas, C., Matrai, Z., Mebirouk, N., Meijers-Heijboer, H. E. J., Meindl, A., Mensenkamp, A. R., Mickys, U., Miller, A., Montagna, M., Moysich, K. B., Mulligan, A. M., Musinsky, J., Neuhausen, S. L., Nevanlinna, H., Ngeow, J., Nguyen, H. P., Niederacher, D., Nielsen, H. R., Nielsen, F. C., Nussbaum, R. L., Offit, K., Öfverholm, A., Ong, K. R., Osorio, A., Papi, L., Papp, J., Pasini, B., Pedersen, I. S., Peixoto, A., Peruga, N., Peterlongo, P., Pohl, E., Pradhan, N., Praizendanc, K., Prieur, F., Pujol, P., Radice, P., Ramus, S. J., Rantala, J., Rashid, M. U., Rhiem, K., Robson, M., Rodriguez, G. C., Rogers, M. T., Rudaitis, V., Schmidt, A. Y., Schmutzler, R. K., Senter, L., Shah, P. D., Sharma, P., Side, L. E., Simard, J., Singer, C. F., Skytte, A. B., Slavin, T. P., Snape, K., Sobol, H., Southey, M., Steele, L., Steinemann, D., Sukiennicki, G., Sutter, C., Szabo, C. I., Tan, Y. Y., Teixeira, M. R., Terry, M. B., Teulé, A., Thomas, A., Thull, D. L., Tischkowitz, M., Tognazzo, S., Toland, A. E., Topka, S., Trainer, A. H., Tung, N., van Asperen, C. J., van der Hout, A. H., van der Kolk, L. E., van der Luijt, R. B., Van Heetvelde, M., Varesco, L., Varon-Mateeva, R., Vega, A., Villarreal-Garza, C., von Wachenfeldt, A., Walker, L., Wang-Gohrke, S., Wappenschmidt, B., Weber, B. H. F., Yannoukakos, D., Yoon, S. Y., Zanzottera, C., Zidan, J., Zorn, K. K., Hutten Selkirk, C. G., Hulick, P. J., Chenevix-Trench, G., Spurdle, A. B., Antoniou, A. C., & Nathanson, K. L. (2018). Mutational spectrum in a worldwide study of 29,700 families with BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations. Human Mutation, 39(5), 593-620. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.23406

Rebbeck, T. R., Mitra, N., Wan, F., Sinilnikova, O. M., Healey, S., McGuffog, L., Chenevix-Trench, G., Easton, D. F., Antoniou, A. C., Nathanson, K. L., Laitman, Y., Kushnir, A., Paluch-Shimon, S., Berger, R., Zidan, J., Friedman, E., Ehrencrona, H., Stenmark-Askmalm, M., Einbeigi, Z., Loman, N., Harbst, K., Rantala, J., Melin, B., Huo, D., Olopade, O. I., Seldon, J., Ganz, P. A., Nussbaum, R. L., Chan, S. B., Odunsi, K., Gayther, S. A., Domchek, S. M., Arun, B. K., Lu, K. H., Mitchell, G., Karlan, B. Y., Walsh, C., Lester, J., Godwin, A. K., Pathak, H., Ross, E., Daly, M. B., Whittemore, A. S., John, E. M., Miron, A., Terry, M. B., Chung, W. K., Goldgar, D. E., Buys, S. S., Janavičius, R., Tihomirova, L., Tung, N., Dorfling, C. M., Van Rensburg, E. J., Steele, L., Neuhausen, S. L., Ding, Y. C., Ejlertsen, B., Gerdes, A. M., Hansen, T. V. O., Ramon Y Cajal, T., Osorio, A., Benitez, J., Godino, J., Tejada, M. I., Duran, M., Weitzel, J. N., Bobolis, K. A., Sand, S. R., Fontaine, A., Savarese, A., Pasini, B., Peissel, B., Bonanni, B., Zaffaroni, D., Vignolo-Lutati, F., Scuvera, G., Giannini, G., Bernard, L., Genuardi, M., Radice, P., Dolcetti, R., Manoukian, S., Pensotti, V., Gismondi, V., Yannoukakos, D., Fostira, F., Garber, J., Torres, D., Rashid, M. U., Hamann, U., Peock, S., Frost, D., Platte, R., Evans, D. G., Eeles, R., Davidson, R., Eccles, D., Cole, T., Cook, J., Brewer, C., Hodgson, S.,

Morrison, P. J., Walker, L., Porteous, M. E., Kennedy, M. J., Izatt, L., Adlard, J., Donaldson, A., Ellis, S., Sharma, P., Schmutzler, R. K., Wappenschmidt, B., Becker, A., Rhiem, K., Hahnen, E., Engel, C., Meindl, A., Engert, S., Ditsch, N., Arnold, N., Plendl, H. J., Mundhenke, C., Niederacher, D., Fleisch, M., Sutter, C., Bartram, C. R., Dikow, N., Wang-Gohrke, S., Gadzicki, D., Steinemann, D., Kast, K., Beer, M., Varon-Mateeva, R., Gehrig, A., Weber, B. H., Stoppa-Lyonnet, D., Belotti, M., Gauthier-Villars, M., Damiola, F., Boutry-Kryza, N., Lasset, C., Sobol, H., Peyrat, J. P., Muller, D., Fricker, J. P., Collonge-Rame, M. A., Mortemousque, I., Nogues, C., Rouleau, E., Isaacs, C., De Paepe, A., Poppe, B., Claes, K., De Leeneer, K., Piedmonte, M., Rodriguez, G., Wakely, K., Boggess, J., Blank, S. V. Basil, J., Azodi, M., Phillips, K. A., Caldes, T., De La Hoya, M., Romero, A., Nevanlinna, H., Aittomaki, K., Van Der Hout, A. H., Hogervorst, F. B. L., Verhoef, S., Collee, J. M., Seynaeve, C., Oosterwijk, J. C., Gille, J. J. P., Wijnen, J. T., Gomez Garcia, E. B., Kets, C. M., Ausems, M. G. E. M., Aalfs, C. M., Devilee, P., Mensenkamp, A. R., Kwong, A., Olah, E., Papp, J., Diez, O., Lazaro, C., Darder, E., Blanco, I., Salinas, M., Jakubowska, A., Lubinski, J., Gronwald, J., Jaworska-Bieniek, K., Durda, K., Sukiennicki, G., Huzarski, T., Byrski, T., Cybulski, C., Toloczko-Grabarek, A., Złowocka-Perłowska, E., Menkiszak, J., Arason, A., Barkardottir, R. B., Simard, J., Laframboise, R., Montagna, M., Agata, S., Alducci, E., Peixoto, A., Teixeira, M. R., Spurdle, A. B., Lee, M. H., Park, S. K., Kim, S. W., Friebel, T. M., Couch, F. J., Lindor, N. M., Pankratz, V. S., Guidugli, L., Wang, X., Tischkowitz, M., Foretova, L., Vijai, J., Offit, K., Robson, M., Rau-Murthy, R., Kauff, N., Fink-Retter, A., Singer, C. F., Rappaport, C., Gschwantler-Kaulich, D., Pfeiler, G., Tea, M. K., Berger, A., Greene, M. H., Mai, P. L., Imyanitov, E. N., Toland, A. E., Senter, L., Bojesen, A., Pedersen, I. S., Skytte, A. B., Sunde, L., Thomassen, M., Moeller, S. T., Kruse, T. A., Jensen, U. B., Caligo, M. A., Aretini, P., Teo, S. H., Selkirk, C. G., Hulick, P. J., & Andrulis, I. (2015). Association of type and location of BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations with risk of breast and ovarian cancer. JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association, 313(13), 1347-1361. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2014.5985

- Reiter, J. G., Baretti, M., Gerold, J. M., Makohon-Moore, A. P., Daud, A., Iacobuzio-Donahue, C. A., Azad, N. S., Kinzler, K. W., Nowak, M. A., & Vogelstein, B. (2019). An analysis of genetic heterogeneity in untreated cancers. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, (in press). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-019-0185-x
- Richardson, C. D., Ray, G. J., DeWitt, M. A., Curie, G. L., & Corn, J. E. (2016). Enhancing homology-directed genome editing by catalytically active and inactive CRISPR-Cas9 using asymmetric donor DNA. *Nature Biotechnology*, *34*(3), 339–344. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.3481

Rizzolo, P., Navazio, A. S., Silvestri, V., Valentini, V., Zelli, V., Zanna, I., Masala, G., Bianchi, S., Scarnò, M., Tommasi, S., Palli, D., & Ottini, L. (2016). Somatic alterations of targetable oncogenes are frequently observed in BRCA1/2 mutation negative male breast cancers. *Oncotarget*, 7(45), 74097–74106. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.12272

- Rizzolo, P., Silvestri, V., Tommasi, S., Pinto, R., Danza, K., Falchetti, M., Gulino, M., Frati, P., & Ottini, L. (2013). Male breast cancer: genetics, epigenetics, and ethical aspects. *Annals of Oncology*, *24*(suppl 8), viii75–viii82. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdt316
- Rogakou, E. P., Pilch, D. R., Orr, A. H., Ivanova, V. S., & Bonner, W. M. (1998). DNA Double-stranded Breaks Induce Histone H2AX Phosphorylation on Serine 139. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(10), 5858–5868. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.10.5858
- Rojas, K., & Stuckey, A. (2016). Breast Cancer Epidemiology and Risk Factors. *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *59*(4), 651–672. https://doi.org/10.1097/GRF.00000000000239
- Rosen, E. M. (2013). BRCA1 in the DNA damage response and at telomeres. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *4*, 85. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2013.00085
- Roy, R., Chun, J., & Powell, S. N. (2012). BRCA1 and BRCA2: different roles in a common pathway of genome protection. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 12(1), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3181
- Rubinstein, W. S. (2004). Hereditary breast cancer in Jews. *Familial Cancer*, *3*(3–4), 249–257. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10689-004-9550-2
- Rubner Fridriksdottir, A. J., Gudjonsson, T., Halldorsson, T., Björnsson, J., Steinarsdottir, M., Johannsson, O. T., & Ogmundsdottir, H. M. (2005). Establishment of three human breast epithelial cell lines derived from carriers of the 999del5 BRCA2 Icelandic founder mutation. *In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology. Animal*, 41(10), 337–342. https://doi.org/10.1290/0505033.1
- Ruscito, I., Dimitrova, D., Vasconcelos, I., Gellhaus, K., Schwachula, T., Bellati, F., Zeillinger, R., Benedetti-Panici, P., Vergote, I., Mahner, S., Cacsire-Tong, D., Concin, N., Darb-Esfahani, S., Lambrechts, S., Sehouli, J., Olek, S., & Braicu, E. I. (2014). BRCA1 gene promoter methylation status in high-grade serous ovarian cancer patients - A study of the tumour Bank ovarian cancer (TOC) and ovarian cancer diagnosis consortium (OVCAD). *European Journal of Cancer*, *50*(12), 2090–2098. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2014.05.001
- Samavat, H., Xun, X., Jin, A., Wang, R., Koh, W. P., & Yuan, J. M. (2019). Association between prediagnostic leukocyte telomere length and breast cancer risk: The Singapore Chinese Health Study. *Breast Cancer Research*, 21(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-019-1133-0

Satoh, M. S., & Lindahl, T. (1992). Role of poly(ADP-ribose) formation in

DNA repair. *Nature*, 356(6367), 356–358. https://doi.org/10.1038/356356a0

- Sawyer, S. L., Tian, L., Kähkönen, M., Schwartzentruber, J., Kircher, M., Majewski, J., Dyment, D. A., Innes, A. M., Boycott, K. M., Moreau, L. A., Moilanen, J. S., Greenberg, R. A., Boycott, K., Friedman, J., Michaud, J., Bernier, F., Brudno, M., Fernandez, B., Knoppers, B., Samuels, M., & Scherer, S. (2015). Biallelic mutations in BRCA1 cause a new Fanconi anemia subtype. *Cancer Discovery*, *5*(2), 135–142. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-1156
- Schlacher, K., Christ, N., Siaud, N., Egashira, A., Wu, H., & Jasin, M. (2011). Double-strand break repair-independent role for BRCA2 in blocking stalled replication fork degradation by MRE11. *Cell*, *145*(4), 529–542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.03.041
- Schlacher, K., Wu, H., & Jasin, M. (2012). A distinct replication fork protection pathway connects Fanconi anemia tumor suppressors to RAD51-BRCA1/2. *Cancer Cell*, 22(1), 106–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2012.05.015
- Sedic, M., & Kuperwasser, C. (2016). BRCA1-hapoinsufficiency: Unraveling the molecular and cellular basis for tissue-specific cancer. *Cell Cycle*, *15*(5), 621–627. https://doi.org/10.1080/15384101.2016.1141841
- Sedic, M., Skibinski, A., Brown, N., Gallardo, M., Mulligan, P., Martinez, P., Keller, P. J., Glover, E., Richardson, A. L., Cowan, J., Toland, A. E., Ravichandran, K., Riethman, H., Naber, S. P., Näär, A. M., Blasco, M. a., Hinds, P. W., & Kuperwasser, C. (2015). Haploinsufficiency for BRCA1 leads to cell-type-specific genomic instability and premature senescence. *Nature Communications*, 6(May), 7505. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8505
- Severson, T. M., & Zwart, W. (2017). A review of estrogen receptor/ androgen receptor genomics in male breast cancer. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, 24(3), R27–R34. https://doi.org/10.1530/ERC-16-0225
- Sfeir, A., & Symington, L. S. (2015). Microhomology-Mediated End Joining: A Back-up Survival Mechanism or Dedicated Pathway? *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, *40*(11), 701–714. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2015.08.006
- Sharan, S. K., Morimatsu, M., Albrecht, U., Lim, D.-S., Regel, E., Dinh, C., Sands, A., Eichele, G., Hasty, P., & Bradley, A. (1997). Embryonic lethality and radiation hypersensitivity mediated by Rad51 in mice lacking Brca2. *Nature*, 386(6627), 804–810. https://doi.org/10.1038/386804a0
- Shay, J. W. (2014). Are short telomeres hallmarks of cancer recurrence? *Clinical Cancer Research: An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research, 20*(4), 779–781.

https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-3198

- Shay, J. W., & Bacchetti, S. (1997). A survey of telomerase activity in human cancer. *European Journal of Cancer (Oxford, England: 1990), 33*(5), 787–791. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-8049(97)00062-2
- Shen, J., Gammon, M. D., Terry, M. B., Wang, Q., Bradshaw, P., Teitelbaum, S. L., Neugut, A. I., & Santella, R. M. (2009). Telomere length, oxidative damage, antioxidants and breast cancer risk. *International Journal of Cancer. Journal International Du Cancer*, 124(7), 1637–1643. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.24105
- Shen, J., Terry, M. B., Gurvich, I., Liao, Y., Senie, R. T., & Santella, R. M. (2007). Short telomere length and breast cancer risk: a study in sister sets. *Cancer Research*, 67(11), 5538–5544. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3490
- Shiovitz, S., & Korde, L. A. (2015). Genetics of breast cancer: A topic in evolution. *Annals of Oncology*, 26(7), 1291–1299. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdv022
- Sigurdsson, S., Thorlacius, S., Tomasson, J., Tryggvadottir, L., Benediktsdottir, K., Eyfjörd, J. E., & Jonsson, E. (1997). BRCA2 mutation in Icelandic prostate cancer patients. *Journal of Molecular Medicine (Berlin, Germany)*, *75*(10), 758–761. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9383000
- Silvestri, V., Barrowdale, D., Mulligan, A. M., Neuhausen, S. L., Fox, S., Karlan, B. Y., Mitchell, G., James, P., Thull, D. L., Zorn, K. K., Carter, N. J., Nathanson, K. L., Domchek, S. M., Rebbeck, T. R., Ramus, S. J., Nussbaum, R. L., Olopade, O. I., Rantala, J., Yoon, S.-Y., Caligo, M. A., Spugnesi, L., Bojesen, A., Pedersen, I. S., Thomassen, M., Jensen, U. B., Toland, A. E., Senter, L., Andrulis, I. L., Glendon, G., Hulick, P. J., Imyanitov, E. N., Greene, M. H., Mai, P. L., Singer, C. F., Rappaport-Fuerhauser, C., Kramer, G., Vijai, J., Offit, K., Robson, M., Lincoln, A., Jacobs, L., Machackova, E., Foretova, L., Navratilova, M., Vasickova, P., Couch, F. J., Hallberg, E., Ruddy, K. J., Sharma, P., Kim, S.-W., Teixeira, M. R., Pinto, P., Montagna, M., Matricardi, L., Arason, A., Johannsson, O. T., Barkardottir, R. B., Jakubowska, A., Lubinski, J., Izquierdo, A., Pujana, M. A., Balmaña, J., Diez, O., Ivady, G., Papp, J., Olah, E., Kwong, A., Nevanlinna, H., Aittomäki, K., Perez Segura, P., Caldes, T., Van Maerken, T., Poppe, B., Claes, K. B. M. M., Isaacs, C., Elan, C., Lasset, C., Stoppa-Lyonnet, D., Barjhoux, L., Belotti, M., Meindl, A., Gehrig, A., Sutter, C., Engel, C., Niederacher. D., Steinemann, D., Hahnen, E., Kast, K., Arnold, N., Varon-Mateeva, R., Wand, D., Godwin, A. K., Evans, D. G., Frost, D., Perkins, J., Adlard, J., Izatt, L., Platte, R., Eeles, R., Ellis, S., Hamann, U., Garber, J., Fostira, F., Fountzilas, G., Pasini, B., Giannini, G., Rizzolo, P., Russo, A., Cortesi, L., Papi, L., Varesco, L., Palli, D., Zanna, I., Savarese, A.,

Radice, P., Manoukian, S., Peissel, B., Barile, M., Bonanni, B., Viel, A., Pensotti, V., Tommasi, S., Peterlongo, P., Weitzel, J. N., Osorio, A., Benitez, J., McGuffog, L., Healey, S., Gerdes, A.-M., Ejlertsen, B., Hansen, T. V. O. O., Steele, L., Ding, Y. C., Tung, N., Janavicius, R., Goldgar, D. E., Buys, S. S., Daly, M. B., Bane, A., Terry, M. B., John, E. M., Southey, M., Easton, D. F., Chenevix-Trench, G., Antoniou, A. C., & Ottini, L. (2016). Male breast cancer in BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers: pathology data from the Consortium of Investigators of Modifiers of BRCA1/2. *Breast Cancer Research, 18*(1), 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-016-0671-y

- Silvestri, V., Rizzolo, P., Falchetti, M., Zanna, I., Masala, G., Bianchi, S., Palli, D., & Ottini, L. (2011). Mutation analysis of BRIP1 in male breast cancer cases: A population-based study in Central Italy. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 126(2), 539–543. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-010-1289-x
- Sinha, R. P., & Häder, D. P. (2002). UV-induced DNA damage and repair: a review. Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences: Official Journal of the European Photochemistry Association and the European Society for Photobiology, 1(4), 225–236. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12661961
- Skoulidis, F., Cassidy, L. D., Pisupati, V., Jonasson, J. G., Bjarnason, H., Eyfjord, J. E., Karreth, F. A., Lim, M., Barber, L. M., Clatworthy, S. A., Davies, S. E., Olive, K. P., Tuveson, D. A., & Venkitaraman, A. R. (2010). Germline Brca2 Heterozygosity Promotes KrasG12D -Driven carcinogenesis in a murine model of familial pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Cell*, 18(5), 499–509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2010.10.015
- Smih, F., Rouet, P., Romanienko, P. J., & Jasin, M. (1995). Double-strand breaks at the target locus stimulate gene targeting in embryonic stem cells. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 23(24), 5012–5019. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/23.24.5012
- Sollier, J., Stork, C. T., García-Rubio, M. L., Paulsen, R. D., Aguilera, A., & Cimprich, K. A. (2014). Transcription-Coupled Nucleotide Excision Repair Factors Promote R-Loop-Induced Genome Instability. *Molecular Cell*, 56(6), 777–785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2014.10.020
- Song, H., Dicks, E., Ramus, S. J., Tyrer, J. P., Intermaggio, M. P., Hayward, J., Edlund, C. K., Conti, D., Harrington, P., Fraser, L., Philpott, S., Anderson, C., Rosenthal, A., Gentry-Maharaj, A., Bowtell, D. D., Alsop, K., Cicek, M. S., Cunningham, J. M., Fridley, B. L., Alsop, J., Jimenez-Linan, M., Høgdall, E., Høgdall, C. K., Jensen, A., Kjaer, S. K., Lubiński, J., Huzarski, T., Jakubowska, A., Gronwald, J., Poblete, S., Lele, S., Sucheston-Campbell, L., Moysich, K. B., Odunsi, K., Goode, E. L., Menon, U., Jacobs, I. J., Gayther, S. A., & Pharoah, P. D. P. (2015). Contribution of germline mutations in the RAD51B, RAD51C, and

RAD51D genes to ovarian cancer in the population. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 33(26), 2901–2907. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2015.61.2408

- Sorlie, T., Perou, C. M., Tibshirani, R., Aas, T., Geisler, S., Johnsen, H., Hastie, T., Eisen, M. B., van de Rijn, M., Jeffrey, S. S., Thorsen, T., Quist, H., Matese, J. C., Brown, P. O., Botstein, D., Lonning, P. E., & Borresen-Dale, A.-L. (2001). Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *98*(19), 10869– 10874. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.191367098
- Sorlie, T., Tibshirani, R., Parker, J., Hastie, T., Marron, J. S., Nobel, A., Deng, S., Johnsen, H., Pesich, R., Geisler, S., Demeter, J., Perou, C. M., Lønning, P. E., Brown, P. O., Børresen-Dale, A.-L., & Botstein, D. (2003). Repeated observation of breast tumor subtypes in independent gene expression data sets. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(14), 8418–8423. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0932692100
- Soule, H. D., Maloney, T. M., Wolman, S. R., Brenz, R., Russo, J., Pauley, R. J., Jones, R. F., Brooks, S. C., & McGrath, C. M. (1990). Isolation and Characterization of a Spontaneously Immortalized Human Breast Epithelial Cell Line, MCF-10. *Cancer Research*, *50*(18), 6075–6086.
- Stefansdottir, V., Arngrimsson, R., & Jonsson, J. J. (2013). Iceland Genetic counseling services. *Journal of Genetic Counseling*, 22(6), 907–910. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10897-013-9640-0
- Stefansson, O. A., Jonasson, J. G., Johannsson, O. T., Olafsdottir, K., Steinarsdottir, M., Valgeirsdottir, S., & Eyfjord, J. E. (2009). Genomic profiling of breast tumours in relation to BRCA abnormalities and phenotypes. *Breast Cancer Research : BCR*, 11(4), R47. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr2334
- Stefansson, O. A., Jonasson, J. G., Olafsdottir, K., Bjarnason, H., Th Johannsson, O., Bodvarsdottir, S. K., Valgeirsdottir, S., & Eyfjord, J. E. (2011a). Genomic and phenotypic analysis of BRCA2 mutated breast cancers reveals co-occurring changes linked to progression. *Breast Cancer Research : BCR*, *13*(5), R95. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr3020
- Stefansson, O. A., Jonasson, J. G., Olafsdottir, K., Hilmarsdottir, H., Olafsdottir, G., Esteller, M., Johannsson, O. T., & Eyfjord, J. E. (2011b). CpG island hypermethylation of BRCA1 and loss of pRb as co-occurring events in basal/triple-negative breast cancer. *Epigenetics*, 6(5), 638– 649. https://doi.org/10.4161/epi.6.5.15667
- Stefansson, O. A., Villanueva, A., Vidal, A., Martí, L., & Esteller, M. (2012). BRCA1 epigenetic inactivation predicts sensitivity to platinum-based chemotherapy in breast and ovarian cancer. *Epigenetics: Official*

Journal of the DNA Methylation Society, 7(11), 1225–1229. https://doi.org/10.4161/epi.22561

- Stratton, M. R., Campbell, P. J., & Futreal, P. A. (2009, April 9). The cancer genome. *Nature*, Vol. 458, pp. 719–724. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07943
- Sturzenegger, A., Burdova, K., Kanagaraj, R., Levikova, M., Pinto, C., Cejka, P., & Janscak, P. (2014). DNA2 cooperates with the WRN and BLM RecQ helicases to mediate long-range DNA end resection in human cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 289(39), 27314–27326. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.578823
- Sun, S. X., Bostanci, Z., Kass, R. B., Mancino, A. T., & Rosenbloom, A. L. (2018). Breast Physiology: Normal and Abnormal Development and Function. In *The Breast* (pp. 37-56.e6). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-35955-9.00003-9
- Sy, S. M. H., Huen, M. S. Y., & Chen, J. (2009). PALB2 is an integral component of the BRCA complex required for homologous recombination repair. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(17), 7155–7160. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0811159106
- Syrjäkoski, K., Kuukasjärvi, T., Waltering, K., Haraldsson, K., Auvinen, A., Borg, A., Kainu, T., Kallioniemi, O.-P., & Koivisto, P. A. (2004). BRCA2 mutations in 154 finnish male breast cancer patients. *Neoplasia (New York, N.Y.)*, 6(5), 541–545. https://doi.org/10.1593/neo.04193
- Tacconi, E. M. C., & Tarsounas, M. (2015). How homologous recombination maintains telomere integrity. *Chromosoma*, *124*(2), 119–130. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00412-014-0497-2
- Tai, Y. C., Domchek, S., Parmigiani, G., & Chen, S. (2007). Breast cancer risk among male BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *99*(23), 1811–1814. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djm203
- Takai, H., Smogorzewska, A., & de Lange, T. (2003). DNA damage foci at dysfunctional telomeres. *Curr Biol*, *13*(17), 1549–1556. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12956959
- Takeda, T., Banno, K., Yanokura, M., Anko, M., Kobayashi, A., Sera, A., Takahashi, T., Adachi, M., Kobayashi, Y., Hayashi, S., Nomura, H., Hirasawa, A., Tominaga, E., & Aoki, D. (2018). Synchronous endometrial and ovarian cancer in Lynch syndrome with a MSH2 germline mutation: A case report. *Molecular and Clinical Oncology*, 9(5), 479–484. https://doi.org/10.3892/mco.2018.1723
- Tan, S. L. W., Chadha, S., Liu, Y., Gabasova, E., Perera, D., Ahmed, K., Constantinou, S., Renaudin, X., Lee, M., Aebersold, R., &

Venkitaraman, A. R. (2017). A Class of Environmental and Endogenous Toxins Induces BRCA2 Haploinsufficiency and Genome Instability. *Cell*, *169*(6), 1105-1118.e15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.010

- Tavtigian, S. V., Simard, J., Rommens, J., Couch, F., Shattuck-Eidens, D., Neuhausen, S., Merajver, S., Thorlacius, S., Offit, K., Stoppa-Lyonnet, D., Belanger, C., Bell, R., Berry, S., Bogden, R., Chen, Q., Davis, T., Dumont, M., Frye, C., Hattier, T., Jammulapati, S., Janecki, T., Jiang, P., Kehrer, R., Leblanc, J. F., Mitchell, J. T., McArthur-Morrison, J., Nguyen, K., Peng, Y., Samson, C., Schroeder, M., Snyder, S. C., Steele, L., Stringfellow, M., Stroup, C., Swedlund, B., Swensen, J., Teng, D., Thomas, A., Tran, T., Tran, T., Tranchant, M., Weaver-Feldhaus, J., Wong, A. K. C., Shizuya, H., Eyfjord, J. E., Cannon-Albright, L., Labrie, F., Skolnick, M. H., Weber, B., Kamb, A., & Goldgar, D. E. (1996). The complete BRCA2 gene and mutations in chromosome 13q-linked kindreds. Nature Genetics, 12(3), 333-337. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0396-333
- Telli, M. L., Timms, K. M., Reid, J., Hennessy, B., Mills, G. B., Jensen, K. C., Szallasi, Z., Barry, W. T., Winer, E. P., Tung, N. M., Isakoff, S. J., Ryan, P. D., Greene-Colozzi, A., Gutin, A., Sangale, Z., Iliev, D., Neff, C., Abkevich, V., Jones, J. T., Lanchbury, J. S., Hartman, A.-R., Garber, J. E., Ford, J. M., Silver, D. P., & Richardson, A. L. (2016). Homologous Recombination Deficiency (HRD) Score Predicts Response to Platinum-Containing Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy in Patients with Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 22(15), 3764–3773. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2477
- Ten Broeke, S. W., Brohet, R. M., Tops, C. M., Van Der Klift, H. M., Velthuizen, M. E., Bernstein, I., Munar, G. C., Garcia, E. G., Hoogerbrugge, N., Letteboer, T. G. W., Menko, F. H., Lindblom, A., Mensenkamp, A. R., Moller, P., Van Os, T. A., Rahner, N., Redeker, B. J. W., Sijmons, R. H., Spruijt, L., Suerink, M., Vos, Y. J., Wagner, A., Hes, F. J., Vasen, H. F., Nielsen, M., & Wijnen, J. T. (2015). Lynch syndrome caused by germline PMS2 mutations: Delineating the cancer risk. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 33(4), 319–325. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2014.57.8088
- Thorlacius, S., Olafsdottir, G., Tryggvadottir, L., Neuhausen, S., Jonasson, J. G., Tavtigian, S. V, Tulinius, H., Ogmundsdottir, H. M., Eyfjord, J. E., Ögmundsdottir, H. M., & Eyfjörd, J. E. (1996). A single BRCA2 mutation in male and female breast cancer families from Iceland with varied cancer phenotypes. *Nature Genetics*, 13(1), 117–119. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0596-117
- Thorlacius, S., Sigurdsson, S., Bjarnadottir, H., Olafsdottir, G., Jonasson, J. G., Tryggvadottir, L., Tulinius, H., & Eyfjörd, J. E. (1997). Study of a single BRCA2 mutation with high carrier frequency in a small population. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 60(5), 1079–1084.

Retrieved

from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1712443&too l=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract

- Thorlacius, S., Tryggvadottir, L., Olafsdottir, G. H., Jonasson, J. G., Ogmundsdottir, H. M., Tulinius, H., & Evfjord, J. E. (1995). Linkage to BRCA2 region in hereditary male breast cancer. Lancet, 346(8974), 544-545. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(95)91383-1
- Thorslund, T., McIlwraith, M. J., Compton, S. A., Lekomtsev, S., Petronczki, M., Griffith, J. D., & West, S. C. (2010). The breast cancer tumor suppressor BRCA2 promotes the specific targeting of RAD51 to singlestranded DNA. Nature Structural & Molecular Biology, 17(10), 1263-1265. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.1905
- Tirkkonen, M., Johannsson, O., Agnarsson, B. A., Olsson, H., Ingvarsson, S., Karhu, R., Tanner, M., Isola, J., Barkardottir, R. B., Borg, A., & Kallioniemi, O. P. (1997). Distinct somatic genetic changes associated with tumor progression in carriers of BRCA1 and BRCA2 germ-line mutations. Cancer Research, 57(7), 1222-1227. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9102202
- Truong, L. N., Li, Y., Shi, L. Z., Hwang, P. Y.-H., He, J., Wang, H., Razavian, N., Berns, M. W., & Wu, X. (2013). Microhomology-mediated End Joining and Homologous Recombination share the initial end resection step to repair DNA double-strand breaks in mammalian cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. *110*(19), 7720-7725. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1213431110
- Tryggvadottir, L., Olafsdottir, E. J., Olafsdottir, G. H., Sigurdsson, H., Johannsson, O. T., Bjorgvinsson, E., Alexiusdottir, K., Stefansson, O. a, Agnarsson, B. a, Narod, S. a, Eyfjord, J. E., & Jonasson, J. G. (2013). Tumour diploidy and survival in breast cancer patients with BRCA2 mutations. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 140(2), 375-384. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-013-2637-4
- Tryggvadottir, L., Sigvaldason, H., Olafsdottir, G. H., Jonasson, J. G., Jonsson, T., Tulinius, H., & Eyfjörd, J. E. (2006). Population-Based Study of Changing Breast Cancer Risk in Icelandic BRCA2 Mutation Carriers. 1920-2000. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 98(2), 116–122. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djj012
- Tryggvadóttir, L., Vidarsdóttir, L., Thorgeirsson, T., Jonasson, J. G., Olafsdóttir, E. J., Olafsdóttir, G. H., Rafnar, T., Thorlacius, S., Jonsson, E., Eyfjord, J. E., & Tulinius, H. (2007). Prostate cancer progression and survival in BRCA2 mutation carriers. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 99(12), 929–935. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djm005

Tubbs, A., & Nussenzweig, A. (2017). Endogenous DNA Damage as a

Source of Genomic Instability in Cancer. *Cell*, *168*(4), 644–656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.01.002

- Tulinius, H., Olafsdottir, G. H., Sigvaldason, H., Arason, A., Barkardottir, R. B., Egilsson, V., Ogmundsdottir, H. M., Tryggvadottir, L., Gudlaugsdottir, S., & Eyfjord, J. E. (2002). The effect of a single BRCA2 mutation on cancer in Iceland. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, *39*(7), 457– 462. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmg.39.7.457
- Turashvili, G., & Brogi, E. (2017). Tumor Heterogeneity in Breast Cancer. *Frontiers in Medicine*, 4(December), 121–132. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2017.00227
- Untergasser, A., Nijveen, H., Rao, X., Bisseling, T., Geurts, R., & Leunissen, J. A. M. (2007). Primer3Plus, an enhanced web interface to Primer3. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *35*(SUPPL.2), 71–74. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkm306
- Urnov, F. D., Rebar, E. J., Holmes, M. C., Zhang, H. S., & Gregory, P. D. (2010). Genome editing with engineered zinc finger nucleases. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 11(9), 636–646. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2842
- van 't Veer, L. J., Dai, H., van de Vijver, M. J., He, Y. D., Hart, A. A. M., Mao, M., Peterse, H. L., van der Kooy, K., Marton, M. J., Witteveen, A. T., Schreiber, G. J., Kerkhoven, R. M., Roberts, C., Linsley, P. S., Bernards, R., & Friend, S. H. (2002). Gene expression profiling predicts clinical outcome of breast cancer. *Nature*, *415*(6871), 530–536. https://doi.org/10.1038/415530a
- Van Heetvelde, M., Van Bockstal, M., Poppe, B., Lambein, K., Rosseel, T., Atanesyan, L., Deforce, D., Van Den Berghe, I., De Leeneer, K., Van Dorpe, J., Vral, A., & Claes, K. B. M. (2018). Accurate detection and quantification of epigenetic and genetic second hits in BRCA1 and BRCA2-associated hereditary breast and ovarian cancer reveals multiple co-acting second hits. *Cancer Letters*, *425*, 125–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2018.03.026
- Venkitaraman, A. (2002). Cancer susceptibility and the functions of BRCA1 and BRCA2. *Cell*, *108*, 171–182. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0092867402006153
- Verdun, R. E., & Karlseder, J. (2006). The DNA damage machinery and homologous recombination pathway act consecutively to protect human telomeres. *Cell*, 127(4), 709–720. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.09.034
- Visvader, J. E. (2009). Keeping abreast of the mammary epithelial hierarchy and breast tumorigenesis. *Genes & Development*, 23(22), 2563. https://doi.org/10.1101/GAD.1849509
- Von Wahlde, M. K., Timms, K. M., Chagpar, A., Wali, V. B., Jiang, T.,

Bossuyt, V., Saglam, O., Reid, J., Gutin, A., Neff, C., Lanchbury, J. S., Hatzis, C., Hofstatter, E., & Pusztai, L. (2017). Intratumor heterogeneity of homologous recombination deficiency in primary breast cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 23(5), 1193–1199. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0889

- Weiss JR, Moysich KB, & Swede H. (2005). Epidemiology of male breast cancer. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention*, 14(1), 20–26.
- Weng, N.-P. (2001). Interplay between telomere length and telomerase in human leukocyte differentiation and aging. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 70(6), 861–867. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11739547
- Wentzensen, I. M., Mirabello, L., Pfeiffer, R. M., & Savage, S. A. (2011). The Association of Telomere Length and Cancer: a Meta-analysis. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention*, 20(6), 1238–1250. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-11-0005
- Wiedenheft, B., Sternberg, S. H., & Doudna, J. A. (2012). RNA-guided genetic silencing systems in bacteria and archaea. *Nature*, 482(7385), 331–338. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10886
- Willems, A. J., Dawson, S.-J., Samaratunga, H., De Luca, A., Antill, Y. C., Hopper, J. L., & Thorne, H. J. (2008). Loss of Heterozygosity at the BRCA2 Locus Detected by Multiplex Ligation-Dependent Probe Amplification is Common in Prostate Cancers from Men with a Germline BRCA2 Mutation. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 14(10), 2953–2961. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-07-5237
- Wooster, R., Neuhausen, S. L., Mangion, J., Quirk, Y., Ford, D., Collins, N., Nguyen, K., Seal, S., Tran, T., Averill, D., & et, al. (1994). Localization of a breast cancer susceptibility gene, BRCA2, to chromosome 13q12-13. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *265*(5181), 2088–2090. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8091231
- Wright, W. E., Piatyszek, M. A., Rainey, W. E., Byrd, W., & Shay, J. W. (1996). Telomerase activity in human germline and embryonic tissues and cells. *Dev Genet*, 18(2), 173–179. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1520-6408(1996)18:2<173::AID-DVG10>3.0.CO;2-3
- Wright, W. E., Tesmer, V. M., Huffman, K. E., Levene, S. D., & Shay, J. W. (1997). Normal human chromosomes have long G-rich telomeric overhangs at one end. *Genes and Development*, *11*(21), 2801–2809. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.11.21.2801
- Wu, K., Hinson, S. R., Ohashi, A., Farrugia, D., Wendt, P., Tavtigian, S. V., Deffenbaugh, A., Goldgar, D., & Couch, F. J. (2005). Functional evaluation and cancer risk assessment of BRCA2 unclassified variants. *Cancer Research*, 65(2), 417–426.

- Yang, H., Jeffrey, P. D., Miller, J., Kinnucan, E., Sun, Y., Thoma, N. H., Zheng, N., Chen, P. L., Lee, W. H., & Pavletich, N. P. (2002). BRCA2 function in DNA binding and recombination from a BRCA2-DSS1ssDNA structure. *Science*, 297(5588), 1837–1848. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.297.5588.1837
- Yano, K., Morotomi, K., Saito, H., Kato, M., Matsuo, F., & Miki, Y. (2000). Nuclear Localization Signals of the BRCA2 Protein. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 270(1), 171–175. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.2000.2392
- Yates, L. R., Gerstung, M., Knappskog, S., Desmedt, C., Gundem, G., Van Loo, P., Aas, T., Alexandrov, L. B., Larsimont, D., Davies, H., Li, Y., Ju, Y. S., Ramakrishna, M., Haugland, H. K., Lilleng, P. K., Nik-Zainal, S., McLaren, S., Butler, A., Martin, S., Glodzik, D., Menzies, A., Raine, K., Hinton, J., Jones, D., Mudie, L. J., Jiang, B., Vincent, D., Greene-Colozzi, A., Adnet, P.-Y., Fatima, A., Maetens, M., Ignatiadis, M., Stratton, M. R., Sotiriou, C., Richardson, A. L., Lønning, P. E., Wedge, D. C., & Campbell, P. J. (2015). Subclonal diversification of primary breast cancer revealed by multiregion sequencing. *Nature Medicine*, *21*(7), 751–759. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3886
- Ying, S., Hamdy, F. C., & Helleday, T. (2012). Mre11-Dependent Degradation of Stalled DNA Replication Forks Is Prevented by BRCA2 and PARP1. *Cancer Research*, 72(11), 2814–2821. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3417
- Yuan, S. S. F., Lee, S. Y., Chen, G., Song, M., Tomlinson, G. E., & Lee, E. Y. H. P. (1999). BRCA2 is required for ionizing radiation-induced assembly of Rad51 complex in vivo. *Cancer Research*, *59*(15), 3547–3551. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10446958
- Zámborszky, J., Szikriszt, B., Gervai, J. Z., Pipek, O., Póti, Krzystanek, M., Ribli, D., Szalai-Gindl, J. M., Csabai, I., Szallasi, Z., Swanton, C., Richardson, A. L., & Szüts, D. (2017). Loss of BRCA1 or BRCA2 markedly increases the rate of base substitution mutagenesis and has distinct effects on genomic deletions. *Oncogene*, *36*(6), 746–755. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2016.243
- Zeman, M. K., & Cimprich, K. A. (2014). Causes and consequences of replication stress. *Nature Cell Biology*, *16*(1), 2–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2897
- Zhang, F., Ma, J., Wu, J., Ye, L., Cai, H., Xia, B., Yu, X., Jasin, M., Couch, F., Livingston, D., Mailand, N., Wildenhain, J., Tagliaferro, A., Pelletier, L., Taubenheim, N., Durandy, A., Byrd, P., Stankovic, T., Taylor, A., Durocher, D., Lindeman, G., Buys, S., Andrulis, I., Radice, P., Tondini, C., Manoukian, S., Toland, A., Miron, P., Weitzel, J., Domchek, S., Poppe, B., Claes, K., Yannoukakos, D., Concannon, P., Bernstein, J., James, P., Easton, D., Goldgar, D., Hopper, J., Rahman, N.,

Peterlongo, P., Nevanlinna, H., King, M., Couch, F., Southey, M., Winqvist, R., Foulkes, W., & Tischkowitz, M. (2009). PALB2 links BRCA1 and BRCA2 in the DNA-damage response. *Current Biology*: *CB*, *19*(6), 524–529. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2009.02.018

- Zhou, X., Meeker, A. K., Makambi, K. H., Kosti, O., Kallakury, B. V. S., Sidawy, M. K., Loffredo, C. A., & Zheng, Y.-L. (2012). Telomere length variation in normal epithelial cells adjacent to tumor: potential biomarker for breast cancer local recurrence. *Carcinogenesis*, 33(1), 113–118. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgr248
- Zhu, X., Han, W., Xue, W., Zou, Y., Xie, C., Du, J., & Jin, G. (2016). The association between telomere length and cancer risk in population studies. *Scientific Reports*, *6*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep22243
- Zimmer, J., Tacconi, E. M. C., Folio, C., Badie, S., Porru, M., Klare, K., Tumiati, M., Markkanen, E., Halder, S., Ryan, A., Jackson, S. P., Ramadan, K., Kuznetsov, S. G., Biroccio, A., Sale, J. E., & Tarsounas, M. (2016). Targeting BRCA1 and BRCA2 Deficiencies with G-Quadruplex-Interacting Compounds. *Molecular Cell*, 61(3), 449–460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.12.004
- Zimmermann, M., & de Lange, T. (2014). 53BP1: pro choice in DNA repair. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 24(2), 108–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2013.09.003
- Zong, D., Adam, S., Wang, Y., Sasanuma, H., Callén, E., Murga, M., Day, A., Kruhlak, M. J., Wong, N., Munro, M., Ray Chaudhuri, A., Karim, B., Xia, B., Takeda, S., Johnson, N., Durocher, D., & Nussenzweig, A. (2019).
 BRCA1 Haploinsufficiency Is Masked by RNF168-Mediated Chromatin Ubiquitylation. *Molecular Cell*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2018.12.010
- Zou, Y., Sfeir, A., Gryaznov, S. M., Shay, J. W., & Wright, W. E. (2004). Does a sentinel or a subset of short telomeres determine replicative senescence? *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, *15*(8), 3709–3718. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E04-03-0207

Original publications

Paper I